Washington University in St. Louis

Washington University Open Scholarship

Arts & Sciences Electronic Theses and Dissertations

Arts & Sciences

Winter 12-15-2021

The Effects of Molecular Chaperone Modulation on Protein Folding, Prion Formation, and Prion Propagation in Saccharomyces cerevisiae

Leeran Blythe Dublin Ryan Washington University in St. Louis

Follow this and additional works at: https://openscholarship.wustl.edu/art_sci_etds

Part of the Molecular Biology Commons

Recommended Citation

Dublin Ryan, Leeran Blythe, "The Effects of Molecular Chaperone Modulation on Protein Folding, Prion Formation, and Prion Propagation in Saccharomyces cerevisiae" (2021). *Arts & Sciences Electronic Theses and Dissertations*. 2603.

https://openscholarship.wustl.edu/art_sci_etds/2603

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Arts & Sciences at Washington University Open Scholarship. It has been accepted for inclusion in Arts & Sciences Electronic Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Washington University Open Scholarship. For more information, please contact digital@wumail.wustl.edu.

WASHINGTON UNIVERSITY IN ST. LOUIS

Division of Biology and Biomedical Sciences Developmental, Regenerative, and Stem Cell Biology

> Dissertation Examination Committee: Heather True, Chair Charles Kaufman Gretchen Meyer James Skeath Conrad Weihl Hani Zaher

The Effects of Molecular Chaperone Modulation on Protein Folding, Prion Formation, and Prion Propagation in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* by Leeran Blythe Dublin-Ryan

> A dissertation presented to The Graduate School of Washington University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

> > December 2021 St. Louis, Missouri

© 2021, Leeran Blythe Dublin-Ryan

Table of Contents

List of Figur	ires	v
List of Tables		
List of Abbr	reviations	1
Acknowledg	gments	viii
Abstract		xvii
Chapter 1: E	Background and Significance	1
1.1 Ov	verview	2
1.2 Pro	otein Folding	2
1.2.1	Protein translation	2
1.2.2	Co-translational and post-translational protein folding	3
1.2.3	Chaperonopathies	7
1.3 Pri	ions and Prion Propagation	11
1.3.1	Mammalian prions	11
1.3.2	Yeast prions	11
1.3.3	[<i>PSI</i> ⁺] and [<i>RNQ</i> ⁺]	12
1.3.4	Molecular chaperones required for prion propagation	12
1.3.5	Prion Variants	14
1.3.6	Saccharomyces cerevisiae as a model for Huntington's disease	15
1.4 Th	ne Nascent Polypetide-Associated Complex (NAC)	17
1.4.1	NAC subunits and co-translational protein folding	17
1.4.2	NAC interactions with SRP and the ER	19
1.4.3	NAC interactions with the mitochondria	20
1.4.4	Effects of NAC overexpression	21
1.4.5	Effects of NAC deletion	22
1.5 Lir	mb-Girdle Muscular Dystrophy Type I D	23
1.5.1	Limb-girdle muscular dystrophy	23
1.5.2	J-Proteins	24
1.5.3	DNAJB6 structure and expression	24
1.5.4	DNAJB6 mutations in LGMDD1	25
1.5.5	Intragenic second-site suppressors	26

1.6	Summary and Significance	27
1.7	Figures	29
Chapter	2: Disruption of the Nascent Polypeptide-Associated Complex Leads to Reduced	
Polyglu	tamine Aggregation and Toxicity	34
2.1	Abstract	35
2.2	Introduction	35
2.3	Results	37
2.3	1 NAC modulation affects on yeast expressing human misfolding proteins	37
2.3	2 NAC disruptions delays and reduces polyglutamine aggregation	38
2.3	3 NAC disruption changes polyglutamine aggregate distribution	39
2.3	4 NAC disruption-induced reduction of polyglutamine aggregation is not caused by reduced polyglutamine expression	40
2.3	5 NAC disruption alters [<i>PSI</i> ⁺] variant induction	40
2.4	Discussion	42
2.5	Materials and Methods	43
2.5	1 Yeast strains, plasmids, cultures, and transformations	43
2.5	2 Antibodies	44
2.5	3 Prion manipulation	44
2.5	4 Fluorescent Microscopy	44
2.5	5 Yeast phenotypic and growth assays	45
2.5	6 Protein analysis	45
2.5	7 Filter trap assay	45
2.6	Acknowledgements	46
2.7	Figures	47
Chapter	3: Evaluating Second-Site Suppressors of LGMDD1 Mutations	52
3.1	Abstract	53
3.2	Introduction	53
3.3	Results	55
3.3	1 Identification of second-site suppressors of DNAJB1-F90I	55
3.3	2 Two second-site suppressors are located near a conserved Hsp40 motif	56
3.3	3 Second-site suppressors K24W and K28G have varied effects on [<i>PSI</i> ⁺] propagation defect resulting from F89I mutation	57

3.3.4	K24W and K28G rescue [<i>PSI</i> ⁺] propagation defect caused by another LGMDD1- associated mutation
3.4	Discussion
3.5	Materials and methods
3.5.1	Yeast cultures, transformations, and plasmid shuffling61
3.5.2	Plasmid construction
3.5.3	Yeast spotting assay
3.5.4	[<i>PSI</i> ⁺] propagation frequency
3.6	Acknowledgements
3.5	Figures
Chapter 4	4: Conclusions and Future Directions
4.1	Summary
4.2	Future Directions
4.2.1	Elucidating the mechanism by which NAC disruption affects polyglutamine aggregation and toxicity
4.2.2	Determining the mechanism by which second-site suppressors K24W and K28G rescue prion propagation defect induced by LGMDD1-associated mutations
4.3	Conclusion
Referenc	es
Curriculu	1 Witae

List of Figures

Chapter 1:

Figure 1.1: Molecular chaperones effects on protein folding	29
Figure 1.2: [<i>PSI</i> ⁺] colorimetric phenotypes	30
Figure 1.3: NAC deletion effects on [PSI ⁺] formation, chaperone localization, and protein	
folding environment	31
Figure 1.4: Disease-associated mutations in DNAJB6 cause client processing disruptions	
in yeast	33

Chapter 2:

Figure 2.1: NAC modulation effects on amyloid-induced cytotoxicity4	17
Figure 2.2: $egd1 \Delta btt1 \Delta$ strain reduces and delays polyQ aggregate formation and alters	
aggregate distribution	48
Figure 2.3: $egd1\Delta btt1\Delta$ strain reduction of polyQ aggregation is not due to reduced	
polyQ expression4	19
Supporting Figure S1: Ponceau staining shows similar protein concentrations loaded in	
filter trap assay	51

Chapter 3:

Figure 3.1: Schematic representation of homologous human and yeast J proteins with
LGMDD1 mutations and second-site suppressors

Figure 3.2: Second-site suppressors K24W and K28G do not affect viability and	
rescue prion propagation disrupted by F89I mutation	.65

Figure 3.3: Second-site suppressor mutation K28G rescues [<i>PSI</i> ⁺] propagation defect resulting	
from F89I mutation6	55
Figure 3.4: Sis1-F115I does not affect viability and induces prion loss, which second-site	
suppressors K24W and K28G partially rescue6	6
Figure 3.5: Sis1-F115I induces prion loss, which is significantly rescued by introduction	
of second-site suppressors K24W and K28G6	7

List of Tables

Table 2.1:	[<i>PSI</i> ⁺] distribution is altered in NAC deletion strains	50
Table 2.2:	Plasmids used in this study	51
Table 2.3:	Yeast strains used in this study	11
Table 3.1:	Plasmids used in this study	68
Table 3.2:	Yeast strains used in this study	69

Acknowledgments

First, I would like to thank the vast community of people who have supported me over the past seven years and throughout the rest of my life. As everyone knows, I am an open book, over-sharer, and an affirmation champion, which means I inadvertently pull a lot of people into my orbit. I appreciate the kind words and support I have received from every one of you. Every time we met for coffee or lunch or caught up in a hallway or talked on the phone I was buoyed by the support and encouraging words we shared. Thank you all so much for supporting me and for letting me support you.

Next, I'd like to thank you, Heather, for your mentorship and friendship. When I was looking for a lab I didn't expect that my PI would care about my whole being. I expected that a PI would just care about my productivity and scientific development. I have been really lucky to have a PI that cares about my mental and physical health and development as well as who I am becoming in a professional sense. You have been extremely supportive in my changing career goals, allowing and supporting me in exploring many different career avenues throughout my time in the lab. Within lab, you have taught me so much about the importance of thinking critically and not just asking the interesting questions, but finding the right ways to answer those questions. I will certainly take the lessons I have learned from you about research, mentoring, and how to treat others with me throughout the rest of my life.

I also would like to thank my thesis committee. All of you have been so encouraging of my work and supportive of me. I appreciate the thoughtful questions you have asked in order to help me think deeper about my projects. Hani, thank you for your guidance as my chair, helping me to become a better scientist, and supporting me through the rough patches. Chris, thank you for asking difficult questions and being such a helpful collaborator. Chuck and Gretchen, thank you for joining my committee later in my grad career, getting caught up so quickly, and giving such thoughtful feedback. Jim, thank you for always caring about my well-being, giving me opportunities to explore different careers, allowing me to give back to the St. Louis community through your outreach projects, and letting me intern in your lab back in 2012. You've taught me that science isn't just about research; it's also about caring about the people who do the research and giving everyone opportunities to explore science.

I could not have gotten to this point in my graduate career without Sally Vogt and the other coordinators in DBBS. Thank you so much, Sally, for reminding me to turn in documents over and over again, for not getting angry at me when I kept forgetting, and for always treating me with such genuine warmth and understanding. I have so appreciated you shepherding me, a very unruly and annoying student, through this program with so much grace and care.

To my lab, thank you for being a place where I can be my whole, entire, loud, clumsy self every single day. Through every bit of broken glassware and loudly belted broadway tune you have...tolerated me, and that is truly a gift! You have all made me a better friend and scientist, and, as George Gershwin would say, "who could ask for anything more?" To Ankan, thank you for supporting me through this last season of my grad work. Going to lab would have been so much harder without our daily conversations and catch-ups. I've appreciated all the help and understanding you have given me throughout my graduate career, but especially over the last year and a half. Your insights in science and life have helped make me a better person, thank you. To Melanie, thank you for being the very best work-spouse a person could ask for. Getting to have lunch with you and hear about your life and share about mine was truly the highlight of my days. After you graduated it was definitely harder to go in every day and your presence has

ix

been sorely missed. Thank you for being a true friend to me and for really understanding my experience. I've been so lucky to have such a kind, caring, and talented friend and scientist to go through grad school with, thank you.

I would not be here without my parents. Dad, you have taught me the value of hard work and dedication, as well as valued my goals throughout my life. I know it makes you so proud to tell people that I am a scientist at WashU, but I know you would be just as proud of me no matter what I was doing. Your love and support of me have allowed me to love and support myself and for that I am forever grateful. Mom, you have held so many titles throughout my life. Mom, friend, confidante, cheerleader, counselor, driver, I could go on forever. Thank you for being a constant in my life. You have shown me how to go through life with humor and grace, even when circumstances were making it really hard to have much of either. Thank you both for loving me for exactly who I am. Thank you for showing me the world so that I could find my place in it. Along the way you both have taught me the most important lesson of all, how to hold myself to high standards while still allowing myself to have a lot of fun. Thank you for only letting me bring one textbook on our spring break trip when I was in fifth grade. Thank you for racing me through the Louvre so that I could see the Mona Lisa, but also making sure we had enough time to ditch our tour group and go to the Hard Rock Café. Thank you for telling me bedtime stories completely in spoonerisms. Thank you for helping me write silly songs about science. Thank you for riding go-carts with me, taking me to virtually every arcade in Gulf Shores, and continuing to go mini-golfing with me when I visit. Thank you for always asking me how the movie ended when I tell you I watched Titanic. These may seem like small things, but they are big parts of what made me who I am and I wouldn't be who I am without you two. Thank you.

Х

I would be remiss if I did not take some time (and a few pages) to thank all my friends. First, thank you Joanna for being my best friend. You have been around since the very beginning. I remember when you found out I was a biology major in college and would come by my room to complain about your biology lab TA. You would talk about how you had "made a scientific discovery" when really you probably just messed up the experiment (sorry!) and that your TA had not thought you were funny at all. Every one of those conversations were so funny and will be etched in my mind forever. Every time you visited me at WashU you would beg me to find a lab that could find out your blood type and no matter how many times I told you that isn't how it worked you never let up. Thank you for always making me laugh and keeping me on my toes. Past all that, you have been so supportive and loving to me throughout my time at WashU. You have never failed to check in on me or call me to cheer me up when I was spending long hours in lab. You have supported me through every twist and turn of my grad career, from leaving one lab to rotate again, to saying I was going to quit over and over, you have helped me think through every situation with calmness and clarity. You are one of those friends who doesn't just watch a person experience things, but jumps in after them to experience it with them. Thank you for doing that for me over and over again.

I'd also like to thank Lindsey, Lindsey, and Rebecca. I don't know what I can say that can adequately describe what you have done for me. Thank you for making me go out to events with you after a bad break-up. Thank you for commiserating with me over failed experiments. Thank you for talking with me about everything that's been wrong about the world in thoughtprovoking and challenging ways. By creating a comfortable space and challenging me you have helped and allowed me to develop my thoughts further in a safe environment. I can truthfully say that your friendship was one of the reasons I decided to stay at WashU when I really thought

xi

about leaving during my second year. Thank you for helping me remember and discover what was and is important to me.

I'd also like to thank Colin and Patrick for their steadfast friendship. I never would have thought that y'all watching Rainer and I through my constantly open windows (because Rainer tore down the blinds) would have led to such an amazing friendship. You have been the people that just keep showing up for me, both literally and figuratively. From showing up at my apartment to see if I really was in my PJs by 6pm (I was) to supporting me through my transition, you have always been there. You are the people I call when things are going well, but you are even more the people I call when things aren't. Thank you for talking through so many tough times with me and being so understanding. Thank you for making me have fun when I was working too much and for always making the best yeast jokes. Thank you for being part of my family.

To Kate Lipovsky-Durkee, I don't even know where to begin. You are someone who gives everything you do 110% and that has been true throughout our friendship. You have been SO supportive of me over the years. From riding in the party car where you told me you were SURE I'd get into WashU, to my first year when I got a C in a class and you told me it would all be fine, to celebrating successful experiments and me passing the class when I took it again with a disco ball, you have believed in and celebrated me when I found it very difficult to do those things myself. Thank you so much for caring so much and having so much faith. I know it can't be easy and I want you to know that it is SO appreciated.

To Ashley and Emily, thank you for welcoming me into your lives and giving me an outlet to relieve stress. I have so appreciated going to your house for parties, talking about anything other than science, singing, playing games, and now playing with baby Evan. Thank

xii

you for integrating me into your community of friends. Emily, I have so appreciated your ability to seamlessly welcome new people into your orbit and I am glad to count myself as one of the people you did this to.

Next I would like to thank the communities I have been lucky enough to be a part of during my time at WashU. First, thank you to the WashU Med School Musical community. You have made my time at WashU so much fun. I have loved spending every weekend from September to April singing, dancing, and acting with you all. My mind has been broadened by every interaction with you all and I am forever grateful for the time we had together. To Lindsey B., thank you for pushing me to be a better vocal coach, forcing me to hone my conducting skills when you dipped out on rehearsals (she actually gave me a lot of notice when she had to leave me hanging), and making being duo music directors so laidback and fun. I'd also like to thank the WashU Connections community. From being a member to being part of the leadership, I have loved every moment I spent with all of you. Learning and growing would not have been the same without all the conversations and fellowship we enjoyed together. I will take the things I learned at all our meetings with me throughout the rest of my life.

I also want to take a little space to thank my wonderful companions, Rainer and Canyon. Rainer, I could not have imagined the adventures we would have together when I got you when I was 17. You went with me to Charlottesville, Bowling Green, and St. Louis and kept me on my toes at every turn. You were always a source of happiness and stress relief for me. Coming home was always the best part of my day because I got to see your wagging tail and tippy-tapping feet on the other side of the door. I loved taking you on meandering walks and hearing you howl at firetrucks and ambulances. I was so lucky to have such a wonderful reason for maintaining worklife balance. Thank you for loving me so steadfastly every single day. Thank you for forgiving me for long experiments. Thank you for reminding me about the simple things in life, like the healing powers of feeling the breeze on my face and eating an ice cream cone. By stealing sweet potatoes and giving them to your smaller doggy companions you taught me that helping others is as rewarding as helping myself. By getting Halloween candy down and spraying nerds all over the apartment you taught me that sometimes you just need to throw yourself a party. By stealing a peanut butter and jelly sandwich from Rachel's backpack you taught me that sometimes it is easier to ask forgiveness than permission. You were truly a one in a million dog. I can't imagine ever encountering a better good boy than you. Thank you for being my first and best dog. I will love you forever. Canyon, oh man, dude. You are truly the worst and the best all rolled into one. You have stayed by my side throughout so much of this writing process and demanded many petting breaks. Through your steadfast focus on the squirrels and opossums you have taught me so much about dedication and hard work. Through your constant crying at me for pets and attention you have taught me to advocate for myself. By alerting us when Rainer was sick so that we could rush him to the hospital you taught me about the importance of advocating for others. Thank you for finally calming down a little. I love you so much.

Last and certainly, certainly, certainly not least I have to thank my amazing wife, Rachel Ryan. You have been so patient throughout this process. Every time I came home late, every time we had to get fast food for dinner because I was coming home at 1 am, every time my experiments made us late for events or parties or dinner with friends, you have been so kind and understanding. You have always taken the time to listen to how I am feeling and to support me when experiments didn't work or gave me results I didn't appreciate. You have gone to lab with me both when I was finding it difficult to go on my own and when we were going somewhere and I just needed to "run in real quick" (which always took at least 45 minutes) and you only

xiv

sometimes complained. You have reminded me of my worth when it was almost impossible for me to see it on my own. You have made life so fun and meaningful for me. The good has been great because of you and the bad has stung less because of you. Thank you for supporting me throughout this sometimes ugly process of becoming and for seeing the very best in me when I couldn't. I can't believe that after watching this happen you still want to get a Ph.D., but I will steadfastly support you every step of the way.

Clearly, graduate school has been less about experiments for me and more about growing into a person who thinks critically, not just about science, but about the world, too. Thank you to everyone who has had a hand in my growth, both in lab and outside of it.

Leeran Blythe Dublin-Ryan

Washington University in St. Louis December 2021 Dedicated to Rainer.

I couldn't have done this without you; I will love and miss you forever.

ABSTRACT OF THE DISSERTATION

The Effects of Molecular Chaperone Modulation on Protein Folding, Prion Formation, and Prion

Propagation in Saccharomyces cerevisiae

by

Leeran Blythe Dublin Ryan

Doctor of Philosophy in Biology and Biomedical Sciences Developmental, Regenerative, and Stem Cell Biology Washington University in St. Louis, 2021

Professor Heather True, Chair

Proper and efficient protein folding is vital for cell survival. Many factors affect protein folding fidelity and prion formation, including molecular chaperone availability and activity. Research has shown that modulating chaperone availability and function can affect protein misfolding and aggregation, as well as *de novo* prion formation and propagation. However, the factors involved and underlying mechanisms influencing prion formation and protein folding are largely unknown. The following work aims to elucidate these areas.

The Nascent Polypeptide-Associated Complex (NAC) is the first point of chaperone contact for nascent polypeptides. Previous work has shown that disruption of the NAC leads to improved viability in cells experiencing protein misfolding stress. This counterintuitive result led us to investigate the ability of NAC deletion to improve survivability of cells expressing misfolding human proteins. This work resulted in the identification of multiple NAC deletion strains that improve viability in cells expressing disease-causing alpha-synuclein and expanded polyglutamine proteins. Also, this work identified changes in *de novo* induction of a yeast prion and morphological changes in expanded polyglutamine aggregates as a result of NAC disruption.

Overall, this work reveals the potential of NAC disruption as a therapeutic target for neurodegenerative diseases and sets the stage for investigating the mechanism by which NAC disruption improves viability in cells expressing disease-causing, aggregating proteins.

Mutations in another chaperone, DNAJB6, have been shown to cause Limb-Girdle Muscular Dystrophy Type 1D (LGMDD1). While we know that these mutations are associated with LGMDD1, the mechanism by which they induce disease remains unknown. Because substrates of DNAJB6 have not been identified, we have turned to a homologous protein in yeast, Sis1, with known client proteins to better understand the effect of these mutations. We have also developed a Sis1-DNAJB6 chimeric protein (SDSS) to evaluate these mutations. This chimeric protein includes the J, G/M, and C-terminal domains of Sis1, and the G/F domain, in which many LGMDD1-associated mutations are found, of DNAJB6. Previous work has shown that when LGMDD1-associated mutations are introduced in Sis1 or SDSS there is disruption of client processing by Sis1. This body of work identifies multiple second-site suppressors that, when introduced in combination with LGMDD1-associated mutations, are capable of recovering client processing by Sis1 and SDSS. Overall, this work shows that second-site suppressors may be capable of recovering DNAJB6 activity when introduced in combination with LGMDD1associated mutations. Moreover, it provides an experimental model for the continued investigation of these second-site suppressors and identification of similar therapeutic avenues for potentially treating patients with other LGMDD1-associated mutations in the future.

Chapter 1: Background and Significance

1.1 Overview

Proteins must achieve particular folds in order to participate in normal cellular functions. This process is integral to maintaining life. Molecular chaperones facilitate proper protein folding both co- and post-translationally. Modulation of expression and activity of these molecular chaperones can alter the protein folding environment. This can lead to protein misfolding and aggregation in a subset of diseases called chaperonopathies. Protein misfolding and aggregation often induces diseases such as Huntington's Disease, certain forms of muscular dystrophy, Alzheimer's Disease, and many others. Significant questions remain on how proper protein folding is achieved, what causes *de novo* protein misfolding and aggregation, what changes in molecular chaperones can be tolerated or beneficial to cells, and how diseases caused by molecular chaperone perturbations can be successfully treated. This dissertation seeks to better understand how molecular chaperone modulation can change the protein folding landscape and identify potential strategies for restoring molecular chaperone activity in disease-causing mutants.

1.2 Protein Folding

1.2.1 Protein Translation

Proper protein folding is vital for virtually all cellular processes and, thus, for cell survival. *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* has provided a robust and tractable model system for studying protein translation and folding. Therefore, the processing of proteins will herein be described within this model organism unless otherwise stated. Every protein is created through translation of messenger RNA (mRNA) by the ribosome. The ribosome reads each triplet of nucleic acid code, fits a tRNA to that unique code, and a corresponding amino acid is added to a chain of previously decoded amino acids, known as a polypeptide. This process creates long

chains of amino acids that must then be folded to create a functional protein. As shown in Figure 1.1A, proteins sample many different fold conformations and adopt folds that reduce free energy. Molecular chaperones facilitate this sampling and promote protein folding to the native and functional state.

1.2.2 Co-translational and post-translational protein folding

As the ribosome decodes mRNA and amino acids are added, the polypeptide elongates through the ribosome exit tunnel and has been shown to adopt various folds within the ribosome itself (Woolhead et al., 2004; Lu & Deutsch, 2005; Kosolapov & Deutsch, 2009; Wruck et al., 2021). As the protein emerges from the ribosome there are multiple factors poised to interact with the nascent polypeptide (Figure 1.1B). First, the nascent polypeptide associate complex (NAC) binds to the amino acid chain to prevent errant binding or folding of the polypeptide in the crowded cytosolic landscape. In fact, research has shown that the NAC extends into the ribosome exit tunnel and binds to polypeptides as short as two amino acids to begin this process even before the polypeptide exits the ribosome (Gamerdinger et al., 2019). Furthermore, the NAC is involved in targeting proteins to the mitochondria, as the NAC has been shown to interact with mitochondrial translocation complexes TOM and SAM (Ponce-Rojas et al., 2017). Second, other factors bound to the ribosome come into contact with the nascent polypeptide. The signal recognizing particle (SRP) is one such factor. Polypeptides containing a signal sequence are bound and recognized by SRP, which then initiates the transport of the ribosome-nascent chain complex (RNC) to the endoplasmic reticulum (ER). There, SRP binds to the signal recognition particle receptor (SR) and recruits Sec61p, which will coordinate translocation of the protein into the ER. Other protein folding chaperones, such as SSB, interact with the emerging polypeptide as well. SSB is an Hsp70 protein that associates with the ribosome and interacts with

nascent polypeptides to assist with co-translational folding (Willmund et al., 2013). SSB association with the ribosome and binding to nascent polypeptides is greatly enhanced by the presence of the ribosome-associated complex (RAC) which is composed of an Hsp40, Zuo1, and an Hsp70, Ssz (Gumiero et al., 2016). The RAC interacts with SSB and stimulates ATP hydrolysis by SSB. The RAC binds directly to the ribosome near the ribosome exit tunnel, suggesting the RAC and SSB are important for co-translational protein folding. Recent research has shown that some protein complexes assemble during translation, revealing a role for protein complex binding partners in co-translational protein folding (Shiber et al., 2018). Simultaneous deletion of multiple co-translational components (namely the NAC and SSB) results in drastic growth defects, showing that the roles of these factors overlap and further cementing the importance of co-translational protein folding in proteostasis (Koplin et al., 2010).

As proteins are continuously sampling various folding conformations there is not a clear demarcation between co- and post-translational folding. Instead there is a spectrum of molecular chaperone interactions that are at one end almost exclusively involved in early co-translational folding, at the other almost exclusively involved in post-translational folding, and in the middle participating in both stages of protein folding. Hsp70s and Hsp40s are molecular chaperone proteins that work together to bind and fold a variety of polypeptides, both associated with the ribosome and downstream of translational machinery. Hsp70s directly bind folding intermediates, while Hsp40s are cochaperones that regulate the protein binding activity of Hsp70s. Hsp40s are also known as J-proteins, as they all have a J-domain that is responsible for interacting directly with the Hsp70 nucleotide binding domain (NBD) (Craig & Marszalek et al., 2014). This interaction stimulates hydrolysis of an Hsp70 bound ATP to ADP, which triggers the Hsp70 to stably bind the folding intermediate substrate in its closed state. After this, a nucleotide

exchange factor (NEF), another cochaperone, binds to the Hsp70 and catalyzes exchange of the bound ADP for an ATP, which triggers the release of the substrate. This sudden release of the protein allows spontaneous folding to occur. Proteins that require additional folding after interactions with the Hsp70-Hsp40 system are recruited to cylindrical chaperonin complexes by an ATP-independent chaperone known as prefoldin (Kim et al., 2013). Chaperonin complexes are ATP-dependent, large, hollow, double-ring structures that encapsulate nascent proteins, allowing them to fold in a controlled environment away from the crowded and somewhat chaotic protein folding environment within the cytosol (Kim et al., 2013). Chaperonins are composed of several subunits per ring (seven to nine) and there are two groups chaperonins are classified as, separated by their requirement for a lid-shaped cochaperone and differences in the composition of their ring structures (Frydman, 2001, Kim at al., 2013). Group I chaperonins require lidshaped co-chaperones and include the bacterial chaperonin GroEL, the mitochondrial chaperonin Hsp60, and the chloroplast chaperonin Cpn60 (Tilly et al., 1981; Kim et al., 2013). The lidshaped co-chaperones that interact with these Group I chaperonins are GroES, Hsp10, and Cpn10/Cpn20, respectively (Kim et al., 2013). Group II includes the archaea chaperonin thermosome and the eukaryotic TRiC/CCT (TCP-1 ring complex/chaperonin-containing TCP-1) chaperonin, both of which have lid domains. The TRiC/CCT chaperonin is known to participate in co- and post-translational folding of many cytosolic proteins, including actin and tubulin, which require the TRiC/CCT complex for folding (Llorca et al., 2000; Frydman, 2001). Prefoldin, which has a heterohexameric structure in eukaryotes, binds to unfolded actin and alpha and beta tubulin during translation and releases them when they have been delivered to TRiC/CCT (Hansen et al., 1999). Interestingly, TRiC/CCT is known to interact with the Nterminus of mutant huntingtin, which includes the expanded polyglutamine sequence, in yeast and human cell culture and induces non-toxic aggregation of the protein (Behrends et al., 2006; Tam et al., 2009). This interaction has been shown to reduce cytotoxicity of the protein (Kitamura, et al., 2006; Tam et al., 2006).

Hsp90 (homologous to Hsp82 in Saccharomyces cerevisiae) is a posttranslational molecular chaperone that interacts with nascent proteins as a homodimer. In eukaryotes, Hsp90 has three domains: a N-terminal domain, which has an essential ATP-binding site, a middle domain that is required for substrate interaction and regulation of ATP hydrolysis, and a Cterminal domain that houses the interaction site that allows dimerization of the chaperone (Kim et al., 2013). There are multiple co-chaperones that regulate Hsp90 activity. Hsp90 organizing protein (HOP, homologous to Sti1 in yeast) has one domain each for interacting with Hsp70 and Hsp90, which allows it to coordinate client protein transfer to the Hsp90 homodimer from the Hsp70-Hsp40 system (Kim et al., 2013). HOP, as well as another co-chaperone, Cdc37, inhibits the ATPase activity of the Hsp90 homodimer, which serves to stabilize the open conformation of the complex (Prodromou et al., 1999; Siligardi et al., 2002, Roe et al., 2004). To balance this system there are two co-chaperones, Hsp90 ATPase (Aha1), which binds first to one middle domain, then to one N-terminal domain within the dimer, stimulating ATP hydrolysis and transition to the closed state, and p23 (Sba1 in yeast), which binds to the N domains of the dimer and stabilizes the closed ATP-bound state of the system (Retzlaff et al., 2010; Schopf et al., 2017).

Finally, yeast have a AAA+ (ATPase Associated with diverse cellular Activities) protein known as Hsp104 that acts as a disaggregase (Parsell et al., 1994). Hsp104 is a protein with two nucleotide binding domains (NBD1 and NBD2) separated by a middle domain (MD) and bookended by an amino-terminal domain (NTD) and a short carboxy-terminal domain

(CTD) (Schirmer et al., 1996). Each of the NBD domains contain Walker motifs (Walker A and Walker B) and an arginine finger residue, all of which are important for ATP binding and hydrolysis (Sweeny and Shorter, 2016). The NBD domains also contain pore loops rich in tyrosine residues that engage folding substrates (Sweeny and Shorter, 2016). The proximity of these regions to one another couples ATP hydrolysis and the structural changes that occur as a result with substrate refolding (Sweeny and Shorter, 2016). While some aspects of Hsp104 assembly and function are understood, much remains unknown. ADP or ATP binding by NBD2 is crucial for the hexameric complex to form, but NBD1 nucleotide binding is not required (Parsell et al., 1994). Furthermore, it is known that Hsp104 disassembles both amorphous and organized aggregate structures, though by different mechanisms. Amorphous aggregates can be disassembled through non-cooperative activity of the hexamer subunits, however more structured aggregates require cooperative activity of the hexamer subunits and substrates are pulled partially or completely through the pore made by the hexamer structure (Lum et al. 2004, 2008; Haslberger et al. 2008; Tessarz et al. 2008; DeSantis et al, 2012; Sweeny et al. 2015; Gates et al. 2017). Hsp104 is required for yeast [PSI⁺] prion propagation (along with propagation of other yeast prions), as the hexameric complex formed by Hsp104 is thought to break large $[PSI^+]$ aggregate structures into smaller oligomers or prion seeds that can be passed through the budding neck to daughter cells (Romanova and Chernoff, 2010).

1.2.3 Chaperonopathies

Chaperonopathies are conditions caused by pathology of molecular chaperones, either through inherited or acquired genetic mutation or post translational modifications (Macario and Conway de Macario, 2019). These chaperone mutants can lead to overexpression, underexpression, destabilization, or other changes that perturb the normal function of the chaperone, causing disease. Many different types of diseases can have pathological molecular chaperone hallmarks, including congenital conditions (like EVEN-PLUS syndrome), many neurodegenerative diseases (such as Parkinson's disease with Lewy bodies), myopathies (like Limb-Girdle Muscular Dystrophy type 1D), autoimmune disorders caused by chaperones stimulating the immune system, and certain cancers (Macario and Conway de Macario, 2019).

EVEN-PLUS syndrome is a rare congenital condition characterized by multiple facial and skeletal malformations (Royer-Bertrand et al., 2015). Currently five cases of this condition have been studied and all five probands have mutations in *HSPA9*, a gene that encodes the mitochondrial Hsp70 mHSP70/mortalin (Royer, Bertrand et al., 2015; Younger & Vetrini, et al., 2020). In vitro studies of two of the mHSP70 mutations, R126W and Y128C, have revealed that the mutations lead to decreased thermal stability, decreased ATP hydrolysis activity, and increased aggregation propensity of mHSP70 (Moseng et al., 2020). This work shows that dysfunction of a molecular chaperone can contribute to disease through multiple mechanisms.

It has been shown that many Hsps, including Hsp27, Hsp40, Hsp60, Hsp70, and Hsp90, localize to Lewy bodies, indicating that molecular chaperones may be involved in Parkinson's disease progression (McLean et al., 2002; Uryu et al., 2006; Leverenz et al., 2007). Further research in human cell line models, yeast, mice, and *Drosophila melanogaster* have shown that overexpression of Hsp70 leads to improved outcomes, including reduction of oligomeric alpha-synuclein and rescue of alpha-synuclein-induced cytotoxicity (Auluck et al., 2002; Klucken et al., 2004; McLean et al., 2004; Flower et al., 2005; Luk et al., 2008; Outeiro et al., 2008). Furthermore, induction of a dominant negative Hsp70 in *drosophila melanogaster* accelerated alpha-synuclein toxicity (Auluck et al., 2002). These data show that, when overexpressed, molecular chaperones can have a protective role in neurodegenerative conditions and that

downregulation of some molecular chaperones may be involved in acceleration of Parkinson's disease.

Limb-Girdle Muscular Dystrophy type 1D (LGMDD1) is a dominantly inherited degenerative muscular disease characterized by progressive weakness and wasting of the proximal muscles surrounding the hips and shoulders (Straub et al., 2018; Zima et al., 2019). A wide variety of mutations across multiple domains of an Hsp40 protein, DNAJB6, have been notably associated with LGMDD1 (Harms et al., 2012; Sarparanta et al., 2012; Sato et al., 2013; Couthouis et al., 2014; Suarez-Cedeno et al., 2014; Yabe et al., 2014; Nam et al., 2015; Palmio et al., 2015; Ruggieri et al., 2015; Bohlega et al., 2018; Kim et al., 2018; Zima et al., 2019; Palmio et al., 2020). Initially, mutations within the glycine/phenylalanine-rich (G/F) domain were reported in multiple cases of LGMDD1, spanning many families and locations, including Asia, Europe, North America, and Saudi Arabia. Several of these mutations have been introduced into a homologous yeast protein, Sis1, and a Sis1-DNAJB6 construct, SDSS, and subsequently shown to disrupt client processing in yeast (Figure 1.4B, C, and D) (Stein et al., 2014). These experiments will be discussed more extensively later in this chapter and in chapter 3. More recently, mutations associated with LGMDD1 were found in the J-domain of DNAJB6, specifically in a section of the J-domain that shows close proximity to the G/F domain (Palmio et al., 2020). In vitro cell culture experiments show that when two of these mutants, DNAJB6-A50V and DNAJB6-E54A, are individually expressed the cells show impaired anti-aggregation activity in the presence of either expanded polyglutamine Huntingtin protein or TDP-43 (Palmio, 2020). Studies conducted using the yeast homolog Sis1 show that expression of the A50V mutation (Sis1-A49V in yeast) leads to impaired substrate refolding and alters client processing by Sis1 (Pullen et al., 2020). Together, these results, show that G/F and J domain mutations can alter and disrupt client processing and indicate that alterations of protein domain interactions can be detrimental to chaperone function and contribute to disease.

One example of a chaperone stimulating the immune response and causing an autoimmune disorder is anti-Hsp60 activity in patients with atherosclerosis. Hsp60 is a mitochondrial chaperonin that has a bacterial homolog, GroEL. Atherosclerosis is thought to be initiated by T cells that recognize Hsp60 on endothelial cells, identifying Hsp60 as the autoantigen for atherosclerosis (Jakic et al., 2019). Because Hsp60 has high homology with GroEL it is thought that this autoimmunity can arise from high infection of bacteria. Indeed, high infection rates have been correlated with incidences of atherosclerosis (Campbell and Rosenfeld, 2015). After infection with *Chlamydia trachomatis*, for example, Hsp60 antibodies were found at high levels in patient sera, likely because the immune systems of these patients developed antibodies against GroEL (Sanchez-Campillo et al., 1999). Because Hsp60 is present on the plasma membrane of vascular endothelial cells to signal stress, T-cells immunized against Hsp60 recognize and attack these cells, leading to endothelial dysfunction and contributing to atherosclerosis (Campbell and Rosenfeld, 2015). This example shows that chaperonopathies can be acquired as a result of environmental stressors and complex extracellular processes.

Finally, evidence has been shown that members of the Hsp70 family are upregulated in many types of cancer cells including prostate, breast, leukemia, lung, colon, and gastric cancers (Kumar et al., 2016). It is known that Hsp70 expression is induced by cellular stress and that overexpression of Hsp70 reduces apoptosis, so it is not surprising that overexpression of Hsp70s could be beneficial to cancers. In fact, knockdown of Hsp70 has been shown to sensitize cancer cells and reduce tumor size in animal models (Schmitt et al., 2006). The mechanisms by which Hsp70s assist cancer growth and drug resistance are currently unclear; however current research

suggests that certain cancers can be considered acquired chaperonapathies, as the overexpression of Hsp70s heavily contribute to the growth and treatment-resistance of some cancer cells (Macario and Conway de Macario, 2019).

1.3 Prions and Prion Propagation

1.3.1 Mammalian prions

Prions are proteins that misfold, self-template, and aggregate (Atkinson et al., 2016). While functional prions exist, there are many prions that cause cellular dysfunction in neurons, and neuronal cell death (Atkinson et al., 2016). Prion proteins have a natively-folded, soluble state, but when misfolded, typically in a beta-sheet rich conformation, they template other soluble prion protein molecules to misfold and form highly organized aggregate structures, called amyloids. The mammalian prion protein (PrP) misfolds to cause the human diseases Creutzfeldt-Jakob Disease (CJD), Gerstmann-Straussler-Scheinker disease (GSS), Familial Fatal Insomnia (FFI), kuru, and variant CJD (vCJD) (Venneti, 2010). PrP aggregates also cause a wide range of diseases in non-human mammals, including Scrapie in sheep and goats, Transmissible Mink Encephalopathy, Chronic Wasting Disease in deer, and Bovine Spongiform Encephalopathy in cattle (Marin-Moreno et al., 2017). The pathogenic form of PrP is known as PrP^{Sc}, so named for Scrapie in sheep and goats (Prusiner, 1998). The soluble form of PrP is known as PrP^C and acts as a cell-surface glycoprotein (Sarnataro et al., 2017).

1.3.2 Yeast prions

A variety of prions also exist in yeast and fungi, in which they confer epigenetic inheritance of certain traits to progeny (Shorter and Lindquist, 2005). Presently, nine amyloid-based prions have been discovered in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* (Chernoff et al., 2020). This variety represents a number of proteins with diverse cellular processes, different levels of

expression in wild yeast and laboratory strains, and positive and negative biological effects as a result of amyloid formation (Chernoff et al., 2020).

1.3.3 [*PSI*⁺] and [*RNQ*⁺]

 $[PSI^+]$ is a yeast prion that has been shown to impart transient beneficial characteristics, such as enhanced growth in adverse environments, that can be adopted as permanent traits independent of $[PSI^+]$ status (True et al., 2004). Furthermore, it is known that environmental stressors can induce $[PSI^+]$ formation (Tyedmers et al., 2008; Westergard and True, 2014). Together these studies indicate that yeast prions can be induced by adverse events and utilized to increase current and future survivability. $[PSI^+]$ is the prion form of the protein Sup35. Sup35 is the yeast homolog of human eRF3 and, along with Sup45 (human eRF1), is involved in stop codon recognition during translation termination. Because of this unique role in protein translation, yeast have been genetically manipulated to develop a unique $[PSI^+]$ -dependent colorimetric assay that will be discussed later in this chapter.

 $[RNQ^+]$, another yeast prion, is known to be important for $[PSI^+]$ propagation (Derkatch et al., 2004). Rnq1 protein, the role of which is unknown, misfolds and aggregates to form $[RNQ^+]$. $[RNQ^+]$ has been shown to template $[PSI^+]$ and greatly enhances $[PSI^+]$ formation (Keefer et al., 2016). Furthermore, aggregation of ectopic huntingtin exon1 with an expanded polyglutamine region is dependent on the presence $[RNQ^+]$ (Meriin et al., 2002).

1.3.4 Molecular chaperones required for prion propagation

Interestingly, the Hsp40 Sis1 is important for maintenance of both the $[PSI^+]$ and $[RNQ^+]$ prions, though studies have shown that $[RNQ^+]$ is more drastically affected by reduction of Sis1 (Higurashi et al., 2008). It has been shown that Sis1 binds to Rnq1 in $[RNQ^+]$ cells and is required for propagation of $[RNQ^+]$, making $[RNQ^+]$ propagation a potential readout for Sis1

function (Higurashi et al., 2008). In *sis1* Δ cells, DNAJB1, the human homolog of Sis1 and potent molecular chaperone, can compensate for Sis1 loss, further establishing the potential for [*RNQ*⁺] propagation as an experimental model for studying Hsp40 activity (Lopez et al., 2003). While the [*PSI*⁺] prion is not "cured" as quickly by Sis1 deletion or repression as [*RNQ*⁺], [*PSI*⁺] propagation is greatly hindered by repression of Sis1 (Higurashi et al., 2008). In fact, upon Sis1 repression, [*RNQ*⁺] propagation ceases after 20 generations and [*PSI*⁺] propagation ceases only after 80 generations (Higurashi et al., 2008).

Both $[RNQ^+]$ and $[PSI^+]$ require the activity of molecular chaperone Hsp104. Deletion of HSP104 eliminates both $[PSI^+]$ and $[RNQ^+]$, however overexpression of HSP104 also eliminates $[PSI^+]$, but does not affect $[RNQ^+]$ (Liebman and Chernoff, 2012). As described previously, Hsp104 interacts with Hsp40 and Hsp70 to promote disaggregation of aggregate proteins. It is thought that this disaggregase activity is required for virtually all yeast prion propagation because it breaks large aggregates into smaller aggregates that can be passed on to daughter cells without diluting prion units (Liebman and Chernoff, 2012). Less is known about the mechanism by which Hsp104 overexpression eliminates $[PSI^+]$. Microscopic assays with fluorescentlylabeled Sup35 show that upon Hsp104 overexpression reveal $[PSI^+]$ aggregates that are visible in some cells and become unresolvable in other cells (Greene et al., 2020). Upon starvation stress however, these aggregates reappear. It is unknown if this phenotype is due to Hsp104 completely dismantling Sup35 aggregates into monomeric protein, or to Hsp104-mediated oligomerization of aggregates such that they cannot be visualized through fluorescent microscopy. An aggregate "trimming" role of Hsp104 has been proposed to explain this observation, in addition to its already established severing activity (Shorter and Lindquist, 2004; Shorter and Lindquist, 2006), however more evidence and investigation is needed to support this (Greene et al., 2020).

1.3.5 Prion variants

Both $[RNQ^+]$ and $[PSI^+]$ prions can form different variants that have many distinct phenotypes and are thought to result from discrete protein conformations (Huang et al., 2013; Dergalev et al., 2019; Huang and King, 2020). These variants can be distinguished using methods such as thermostability assays (Huang et al., 2013), semi-denaturing agarose gel electrophoresis (SDD-AGE) (Huang et al., 2013; Huang and King, 2020), colorimetric assays (Huang et al. 2013; Huang and King, 2020), structural analysis (Dergalev et al., 2019), fluorescent microscopy (Huang et al., 2013; Huang and King, 2020) and, in the case of $[RNQ^+]$, the ability to induce other prion formation (Huang et al. 2013). Known $[RNQ^+]$ variants are single or multi-dot low, medium, high, and very high, so named for their appearance as one or several puncta when evaluated by fluorescent microscopy (single or multi-dot) and their ability to induce $[PSI^+]$ formation (low, medium, high, or very high) (Bradley et al., 2002; Sharma & Liebman, 2013).

Known [*PSI*⁺] variants can be observed by a colorimetric assay that takes advantage of the stop codon recognition property of Sup35 and is shown in Figure 1.2. In this assay, red yeast colonies are populated by monomeric, or soluble, Sup35 and are [*psi*⁻] and white, light pink, and dark pink colonies are populated by both monomeric and aggregated Sup35 and are [*PSI*⁺] (Liebman and Chernoff, 2012). This change in color occurs because a premature stop codon has been introduced in a gene (*ADE1*) in the adenine biosynthesis pathway. When Sup35 exists as a monomer it participates in the recognition of this premature stop codon in the *Ade1* gene (known specifically as *ade1-14*), Ade1 is not produced, and the adenine biosynthesis pathway is disrupted, which causes a red byproduct to accumulate in the cell (Liebman and Chernoff, 2012). This is why [*psi*⁻] colonies appear red in color. Furthermore, because the adenine biosynthesis

pathway is disrupted these cells cannot grow on media lacking adenine (Liebman and Chernoff, 2012). When Sup35 is aggregated in $[PSI^+]$ cells, the protein is titrated away from its role in recognizing stop codons and there is readthrough of the premature stop codon in the *ade1-14* allele, Ade1 is made, and the adenine biosynthesis pathway is restored (Liebman and Chernoff, 2012). These cells do not accumulate a red byproduct, so they appear white (or pink) and can grow on media lacking adenine (Liebman and Chernoff, 2012). [*PSI*⁺] strains are separated primarily by color from very weak to strong [*PSI*⁺]. Very weak [*PSI*⁺] corresponds to dark pink colonies, weak [*PSI*⁺] are medium pink, medium [*PSI*⁺] are lighter pink, and strong [*PSI*⁺] are pale pink or white in color.

[*PSI*⁺] variants can also be distinguished by mitotic stability, measured by the frequency of [*PSI*⁺] loss, levels of monomeric Sup35, and the level of nonsense codon suppression (Derkatch et al., 1996; Dergalev et al., 2019; Huang and King, 2020). It is known that monomeric Sup35 and faithful translation termination rates are higher in weak [*PSI*⁺] and that strong [*PSI*⁺] is more mitotically stable than weak [*PSI*⁺] (Derkatch et al., 1996; Uptain et al., 2001). Furthermore, in vitro studies have shown that when prion formation is seeded by strong [*PSI*⁺], prion fibers form more efficiently than when seeded by weak [*PSI*⁺] (Uptain et al., 2001).

1.3.6 Saccharomyces cerevisiae as a model for Huntington's disease

Not only is $[RNQ^+]$ required for other yeast prion formation, it is required for the formation of mutant Huntingin protein aggregation in yeast (Meriin et al, 2002). Yeast present a compelling model for studying amyloid diseases. As yeast prions are not cytotoxic when expressed at homeostatic levels, they can be utilized to better understand the effects of chaperone alteration on aggregate formation and propagation. Because yeast present a tractable genetic

model, chaperone expression is easily altered and studied. Furthermore, the ability to preferentially select yeast that have taken up a plasmid allows for the integration and study of human aggregating proteins within wild type (WT) yeast cells, as well as strains that have been genetically altered to variably express molecular chaperones.

A variety of neurodegenerative and amyloidogenic proteins have been introduced and studied in yeast. These studies have identified new potential therapeutic targets and revealed mechanisms by which human proteins cause toxicity (Di Gregorio and Duennwald, 2018). Huntington's Disease has been modeled in Saccharomyces cerevisiae with great success. Huntington's Disease is an autosomal dominant neurodegenerative disease that is caused by expanded CAG repeats (>39) in the HTT gene (McColgan and Tabrizi, 2018). These repeats result in an abnormally long stretch of glutamines in the huntingtin protein, which makes the protein less stable, and, over time, more prone to aggregation. A common Huntington's Disease model in yeast is generated by the introduction of constructs expressing part of WT Huntingtin (htt) exonI with 25 CAG repeats, resulting in 25 glutamines (25Q) or mutant Huntingtin (mhtt) 103 CAG repeats, resulting in 103 glutamines (103Q). Each construct is denoted as htt25Q (or 25Q htt exon I) and htt103Q (or 103Q htt exon I), respectively. Flanking regions of this core protein have a profound effect on aggregation and toxicity and it has been shown that Nterminal-FLAG-tagged and C-terminal CFP-tagged htt103Q under the control of a Gal1 promoter is cytotoxic and forms aggregates when induced (Duennwald et al., 2006). This construct and its non-cytotoxic 25Q counterpart are utilized in Chapter 2 of this dissertation. Studies using these and similar constructs have revealed mechanistic insights into htt103Q aggregation and toxicity. Cells expressing htt103Q were found to be defective in respiration, which is caused by impairment in mitochondrial respiratory chain complex II and III activities,
which are integral to ATP production (Solans et al., 2006). The same group of researchers found that overexpression of Hap4, which participates in mitochondrial gene expression regulation, suppresses PolyQ toxicity, likely through enhancing couple mitochondrial respiration (Ruetenik et al., 2016). Moreover, it was shown that mutant huntingtin toxicity is achieved through different mechanisms in various yeast strains, leading to the hypothesis that htt103Q could cause toxicity through distinct mechanisms in neurons of varying brain compartments or cells in other tissues (Serpionov et al., 2017). Duennwald and Lindquist used a yeast model to show that htt103Q fragments entrap the proteins Np14, Ufd1, and p97, which causes a profound defect in endoplasmic reticulum-associated degradation (ERAD) (2008). They also show that after only eight hours of htt103Q induction both the profound defect in ERAD and upregulation of ER stress proteins BiP, PDI, and CHOP can be detected (Duennwald and Lindquist, 2008). Lastly, they show that the heat-shock response (HSR), which is normally activated by unfolded proteins in the cytosol is unaffected by htt103Q aggregation (Duennwald and Lindquist, 2008). Interestingly, molecular chaperones, such as Sis1 and TriC, have been implicated in prevention of and the cellular response to expanded polyglutamine aggregation (Tam, et al., 2009; Klaips, et al. 2020). Altogether, these studies show the rich potential of Saccharomyces cerevisiae as a model for examining the mechanisms by with expanded polyglutamine aggregates and discovering potential avenues for ameliorating the toxic effects of this aggregation.

1.4 The Nascent Polypeptide-Associated Complex

1.4.1 NAC subunits and co-translational protein folding

The Nascent Polypeptide-Associated Complex (NAC) is the first point of contact for newly synthesized proteins as they exit the ribosome. The NAC is a heterodimeric complex and its deletion causes embryonic lethality in multicellular eukaryotes (Deng and Behringer, 1995; Bloss et al., 2003). The heterodimeric structure is formed by the binding of an alpha subunit and a beta subunit, known as NACA and BTF3 respectively in humans and Icd-2 and Icd-1 in C. elegans (Arsenovic et al., 2012). These subunits form a beta-barrel structure through a conserved NAC binding domain in each subunit consisting of 6 antiparallel beta-strands (Kogan et al, 2014). In Saccharomyces cerevisiae there is one alpha subunit, Egd2, and two beta subunits, Egd1 and Btt1. Btt1 and Egd1 have 64.3% homology with stark differences in their C-terminal regions and Btt1 arose from a yeast-specific genome duplication event (Ott et al, 2015). Egd1 is present at 100x the concentration of Btt1 in the cell (Reimann et al., 1999). Both the beta and alpha subunits reversibly bind the NAC to the ribosome in a one to one ratio, however it is currently known that the beta subunit binds with multiple ribosomal proteins (Rpl31, Rpl25/35), while the alpha subunit interacts with the ribosomal protein Rpl17 only (Pech et al., 2010). Both the alpha and beta subunits bind nascent polypeptides as they exit the ribosome and it is currently theorized that the NAC does this to prevent off pathway folding or interactions with other proteins in the cytoplasm. All three NAC subunits in yeast have been shown to form homodimers that associate with translating ribosomes, thus complicating and diversifying the system (Wang et al., 2010; Del Alamo et al., 2011).

Analysis of NAC subunit specificity has shown that the Egd1-Egd2 NAC, Btt1-Egd2 NAC, and homodimers of each subunit have differing preferences for nascent polypeptides, the diversity of which stretches to encompass almost every nascent polypeptide in the cell (del Alamo et al, 2011). Microarray data of mRNA recovered from RNCs isolated by their association with specific TAP-tagged chaperones shows that Btt1 preferentially binds to RNCs translating shorter, more intrinsically disordered, less hydrophobic proteins with higher translation rates (del Alamo et al, 2011). Conversely, Egd1 binds to RNCs translating longer, less

intrinsically disordered, more hydrophobic proteins with slower translation rates (del Alamo et al., 2011). Egd2 alone was associated with RNCs enriched with secretory pathway proteins, notably proteins targeted to the ER (del Alamo et al, 2011). This further suggests that Egd2 can function as a homodimer.

1.4.2 NAC interactions with SRP and the ER

The NAC is also involved in ribosome shuttling to the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) and mitochondria (Gamerdinger et al., 2015; Zhang et al., 2012; Ponce-Rojas et al., 2017). In Saccharomyces cerevisiae, evidence suggests that the NAC modulates activity of the signal recognition particle (SRP) and ribosomal ER-targeting in a variety of ways. The SRP is a ribonucleoprotein that recognizes and binds to signal sequences of nascent proteins and targets those proteins and the ribosome translating them to the ER. The NAC is required for SRP recruitment to ribosomes translating proteins with signal sequences while the signal sequence is still in the ribosome exit tunnel (Zhang et al., 2012). The NAC is able to bind to these signal sequences as well, and both the NAC and SRP are able to bind to the ribosome and nascent polypeptides simultaneously (Zhang et al., 2012). Lastly, this work showed that even when the ribosome has docked to the ER membrane the NAC stays bound to the ribosome (Zhang et al, 2012). It is hypothesized that this allows the NAC to bind to nascent polypeptides and protect the exposed sequence from inappropriate or off-pathway interactions during recruitment to the ER membrane and during translocation of the protein into the ER. In C. elegans, beta-nac depletion has been shown to increase ribosome localization to the ER membrane, suggesting NAC is a negative regulator of ribosomal binding to the ER (Gamerdinger et al, 2015). Further work has shown that NAC regulates SRP-independent binding of the ribosome to the ER and induces ribosome release from the ER after translation termination (Gamerdinger et al, 2015).

Furthermore, NAC overexpression reduces SRP-dependent binding to the ER (Gamerdinger et al, 2015). Altogether, this research shows that NAC is a potent regulator of ribosome targeting and binding to the ER, and that the activity of the complex heavily modulates SRP-dependent ribosome targeting to the ER (Gamerdinger et al, 2015). More recently, detailed in vitro examination of the NAC and SRP interaction demonstrated that even at small concentrations the NAC is capable of reducing SRP interaction with SRP receptor in the presence of a non-functional signal sequence, while the NAC has no effect on SRP interaction with SRP receptor in the presence of a functional signal sequence (Hsieh et al, 2020). This work confirms that NAC and SRP co-bind to ribosomes and, through single molecule FRET and TIRF microscopy, that the NAC induces conformational changes in SRP, which regulates SRP and SRP receptor interaction (Hsieh et al, 2020). Moreover, the NAC was shown to greatly reduce SRP association with the ribosome until the nascent polypeptide chain has grown long enough to exit the ribosome, thus delaying targeting of the ribosome to the ER until the signal sequence can be recognized by SRP (Hsieh et al, 2020).

1.4.3 NAC interactions with the mitochondria

Egd2 (NAC α subunit) has been implicated in yeast ribosome targeting to the mitochondria for over twenty years (George et al, 1998). Continued research implicated NAC in ribosomal association with the mitochondrial surface (as deletion of the NAC resulted in fewer ribosomes present on mitochondria) and as a stimulator of protein import into the mitochondria (George et al, 2002; Funfschilling and Rospert, 1999). More recent work in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* has shown that the NAC, specifically the Egd2 and Btt1 heterodimer, physically interacts with Sam37 and they work together to navigate the early stages of mitochondrial protein import. (Ponce-Rojas et al, 2017). Sam37 is a subunit of the sorting and assembly

machinery (SAM) complex in the mitochondria. Sam37 contributes to the stability of the complex as well as the physical interaction between the translocase of the outer membrane (TOM) and SAM complexes. Furthermore, it has been shown that the NAC interacts with the mitochondrial receptor OM14 (Lesnik et al, 2014). These findings indicate that the NAC is heavily involved in many steps required for co-translational mitochondrial protein targeting and import. Based on this conclusion it is unsurprising that, upon analysis of mRNAs present in the ER lumen of *C. elegans* depleted of beta-NAC, it was found that mitochondrial proteins were strongly mistargeted to the ER, along with cytosolic and nuclear proteins (Gamerdinger et al, 2015).

1.4.4 Effects of NAC overexpression

Work in *C. elegans* has shown that overexpression of the NAC over a particular threshold is lethal and that moderate (2- to 3-fold) overexpression of the complex results in developmental delays (Gamerdinger et al, 2015). Somewhat surprisingly, the same body of work reported that alpha and beta *nac* depletion separately and in combination reduces lifespan and that combinatorial *nac* depletion induces endoplasmic reticulum and mitochondrial stress in wild type animals (Gamerdinger et al, 2015). Beta-*nac* suppression specifically leads to high levels of ER stress reporter induction (Gamerdinger et al, 2015). Potentially conflicting data collected in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* indicates that *nac* deletion did not result in transcriptional activation of the unfolded protein response (UPR) (del Alamo et al, 2011). These data suggest the NAC is vital for development and global homeostasis, however its importance in specific cell-type or organ system homeostasis and the potential benefits from overexpressing or suppressing the NAC remain unknown. Overexpression of the N-terminus of the beta-NAC subunit has been shown to reduce poly-glutamine aggregation in *C. elegans* (Shen et al., 2019). The work by Shen at al. shows that the positively charged N-terminus of beta-NAC delays poly-glutamine aggregation independently of its previously defined ribosome-associated roles.

1.4.5 Effects of NAC deletion

While NAC deletion in higher order eukaryotes has been shown to cause embryonic lethality, deletion of the NAC and NAC subunits has little to no effect on growth in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. In fact, NAC deletion and disruption is beneficial to in S. cerevisiae in the presence of aggregating prion protein. Previously, a screen in the True lab was conducted to find cellular modifications that rescued $[PSI^+]$ -induced cytotoxicity. $[PSI^+]$ formation does not normally induce cytotoxicity, however when the aggregating protein (Sup35) is grossly overexpressed in $[PSI^+]$ cells, cell death occurs. This screen sought to identify gene disruptions that abolished cytotoxicity without curing the prion status of the cells, thereby discovering potential therapeutic targets to treat a wider variety of protein misfolding conditions. One gene disruption discovered in this screen was that of egd1 (Figure 1.3A). This result was highly surprising, as Egd1 is an essential protein-folding chaperone involved in multiple cellular processes. Further work showed that two NAC deletion strains in particular, $egd1 \Delta egd2 \Delta$ and $egd1\Delta btt1\Delta$, robustly rescued cell viability in [PSI⁺] cells overexpressing SUP35 (Figure 1.3A) (Keefer & True, 2016). While deletion of the NAC subunits did not cure the [PSI⁺] prion, aggregate formation and distribution in the $egd1 \Delta egd2 \Delta$ strain was altered as compared to WT and other NAC deletion strains (Figure 1.3B) (Keefer & True, 2016). It was hypothesized that deletion of the NAC subunits in the $egdl \Delta egd2\Delta$ and $egdl \Delta bttl\Delta$ strains delayed the joining of newly synthesized Sup35 to preexisting prion aggregates, based on data showing delayed

detection of *de novo* expressed Sup35 in the pelleted fraction of $[PSI^+]$ cell lysates of the $egdl \Delta egd2\Delta$ and $egdl \Delta btt l\Delta$ strains (Figure 1.3C) (Keefer & True, 2016). It was determined that this change in the $egdl \Delta egd2\Delta$ strain could be due to changes in chaperone balance in the strain. Analysis of Ssb localization showed that Ssb was heavily localized to polysomes and nearly absent from Sup35 aggregates in $[PSI^+]$ cells, as compared to a more moderate distribution of Ssb to both polysomes and Sup35 aggregates in WT cells (Figure 1.3D) (Keefer &True, 2016). Importantly, while the $egdl \Delta btt l\Delta$ strain did not induce changes in Ssb localization to polysomes compared to WT, the strain did have a marked decrease in Ssb localization to Sup35 aggregates in $[PSI^+]$ cells, similar to the $egdl \Delta egd2\Delta$ strain (Keefer & True, 2016). Lastly, this work showed robust resistance to general protein misfolding cytoxicity induced by canavanine treatment in a variety of NAC deletion strains (Figure 1.3E) (Keefer & True, 2016). Overall, this work revealed the NAC as a potential target for disruption in the treatment of protein misfolding diseases.

1.5 Limb-Girdle Muscular Dystrophy Type 1D (LGMDD1)

1.5.1 Limb-Girdle Muscular Dystrophies

As stated previously in this chapter, Limb-Girdle Muscular Dystrophy (LGMD) is a group of muscular weakness and wasting disorders that are characterized by shoulder and pelvic girdle onset (Liewluck and Milone, 2018). LGMDs are separated into two categories, LGMD Type 1 (LGMD1) and LGMD Type 2 (LGMD2). Within these types are subtypes 1A-1H and 2A-2Z, respectively (Liewluck and Milone, 2018). LGMD1 and LGMD2 differ in a number of features, including that LGMD1 is an autosomal dominant condition while LGMD2 is autosomal recessive and the LGMD subtypes are separated by known causative genes.

1.5.2 J-Proteins

LGMD type 1D (LGMDD1) is caused by mutations in the DNAJB6 gene. DNAJB6 is an Hsp40, or J-protein, involved in protein folding in conjunction with Hsp70s. Mutations in DNAJB6 associated with LGMDD1 have been found in the G/F and J domains of the protein (Harms et al., 2012; Sarparanta et al., 2012; Sato et al., 2013; Couthouis et al., 2014; Suarez-Cedeno et al., 2014; Yabe et al., 2014; Nam et al., 2015; Palmio et al., 2015; Ruggieri et al., 2015; Bohlega et al., 2018; Kim et al., 2018; Zima et al., 2019; Palmio et al., 2020). Hsp40s/DNAJs/J-proteins are an expansive group of proteins that share a characteristic Jdomain. This domain is located at the N-terminus, 70 amino acids in length, and, most importantly, stimulates the Hsp70 ATPase activity. There is a conserved HPD-motif (histidine, proline, aspartic acid) within the J-domain that is crucial for stimulating the ATPase activity of Hsp70 (Tsai and Douglas, 1996). This motif is at position 31-33 in the amino acid sequence of DNAJB6. There are three DNAJ protein subtypes, I or A, II or B, and III or C. All three subtypes contain the conserved J-domain, though the J-domain is not necessarily located at the N-terminus in subtype III (or C) (Kampinga and Craig, 2010). Both subtypes I (or A) and II (or B) contain a conserved glycine/phenylalanine (G/F)-rich domain, the function of which is unclear, and a Cterminal region that identify and bind to client proteins (Liewluck and Milone, 2018). Lastly, subtype I (or A) contains a cysteine-rich reason bordered by the G/F-rich domain and the Cterminal substrate binding region.

1.5.3 DNAJB6 structure and expression

DNAJB6 is a Type II (or B) protein and therefore contains a J-domain with the conserved HPD motif, G/F domain, and a C terminal domain. DNAJB6 exists within the cell in two isoforms, DNAJB6a and DNAJB6b, created by alternative splicing. The main difference between these two isoforms is the length of the C-terminal domain. DNAJB6a is the longer isoform and has a nuclear localization signal, while DNAJB6b is shorter and has been shown to have cytosolic and nuclear localization (Bengoechea et al., 2015). DNAJB6 is expressed in most human tissues; interestingly, however, DNAJB6 expression is relatively low in mouse and human skeletal muscle (Ding et al., 2016).

1.5.4 DNAJB6 mutations in LGMDD1

Mutations in the G/F and J domains of DNAJB6 have been found in patients with LGMDD1. Discovery of new mutations is ongoing, as are studies to uncover the mechanisms by which these mutations modulate DNAJB6 activity. Many of these mutations have been shown to reduce the anti-aggregation activity of DNAJB6 (Sarparanta et al., 2012; Palmio et al., 2018; Bengoechea et al., 2015; Sarparanta et al., 2020; Stein et al., 2014, Pullen et al., 2020). Unfortunately, there is no known client of DNAJB6 in humans, making it difficult to directly study the functional changes caused by these mutations. Sis1 is a Type II HSP40 in yeast that interacts with the HSP70 Ssa1 and has known client proteins, which include Rnq1 and Sup35. As stated previously, Sis1 is required for propagation of both $[RNQ^+]$ and $[PSI^+]$ prions. Because Sis1 has homology with DNAJB6 and another human J-protein, DNAJB1, this system has been exploited repeatedly to better understand the effect of LGMDD1 mutations. These studies have shown that multiple G/F and J domain mutations alter prion and non-prion client processing (Stein et al., 2014; Pullen et al., 2020; Bengoechea et al., 2020). Because DNAJB1 is more closely homologous to DNAJB6 and can compensate for the cytotoxic loss of Sis1, Stein et al. introduced the disease related DNAJB6 mutations F89I, F93L, and P96R into DNAJB1 (2014). They then introduced these constructs into a yeast $sis1\Delta$ [RNQ⁺] model. They found that WT Sis1 and WT DNAJB1 were able to maintain the propagation of the $[RNQ^+]$ prion, but that cells expressing the DNAJB1 proteins containing the F93L and P96R mutations displayed a significant reduction in $[RNQ^+]$ propagation (Stein et al., 2014). Expression of the DNAJB1 protein with the F89I mutation (DNAJB1-F90I) proved cytotoxic, so they were unable to access $[RNQ^+]$ in these cells (Figure 1.4A) (Stein et al., 2014). While unfortunate for continued experimentation, this result allowed for a unique opportunity to probe for intragenic second-site suppressors of this strong phenotype.

Because the DNAJB6-F89I mutation showed the strongest phenotype, Stein et al. wanted to further investigate its effect on $[RNQ^+]$ and $[PSI^+]$ propagation. To do this they created a chimeric protein that contained the G/F domain of DNAJB6 and the J, G/M, and CTD of Sis1 (Figure 1.4B) (Stein et al., 2014). This protein was named SDSS, which denotes the origin of each domain. It was reasoned that SDSS would combine the disease relevant domain of DNAJB6 and the prion propagation and viability roles of Sis1. Indeed, $sis1\Delta$ cells expressing SDSS-F89I were viable, and while WT SDSS, SDSS-F93L, and SDSS-P96R were able to maintain prion propagation of single dot medium $[RNQ^+]$, weak $[PSI^+]$, and a lab-created $[PSI^+]$ strain known as Sc37, SDSS-F89I expressing cells were cured of prions (Figure 1.4C and D) (Stein et al. 2014). Interestingly, this loss of prion propagation was not seen in cells expressing the SDSS mutants and containing multi-dot high $[RNQ^+]$, strong $[PSI^+]$, or a lab-created $[PSI^+]$ strain known as Sc4 (Figure 1.4C and D) (Stein et al. 2014). This result shows that these mutant chaperones may be able to interact with and influence some protein conformers but not others. The clear viability phenotype in DNAJB1 with the F89I mutation combined with the clear propagation of particular prion strains defect phenotype in SDSS-F89I present an intriguing system for study, which will be discussed in Chapter 3.

1.5.5 Intragenic second-site suppressors

Intragenic second-site suppressors are secondary mutations that partially or completely revert a mutant protein back to WT function. Discovery of second-site suppressors often leads to new insights in protein function, domain interactions, and potential therapeutic avenues. As the role of the G/F domain remains unclear, second-site suppressors of G/F domain mutants could advance our understanding of G/F domain function and its potential interaction with other DNAJB6 domains. Investigation into the effects of second site suppressors of the DNAJB6 F89I mutation will be further discussed in Chapter 3 of this work.

1.6 Summary and Significance

Protein folding is critical for cell survival and as such the cell has developed many ways to improve and enhance the protein folding environment. Molecular chaperones that engage in co- and post-translational protein folding are factors that often improve protein folding and promote homeostasis and proteostasis. Even with this network of molecular chaperones there are proteins that misfold and aggregate, often harming the cellular environment and causing irreversible damage to the organism. Outstanding questions in this field include identifying how modulation of molecular chaperones can affect the protein folding environment and how perturbations in molecular chaperone activity can be addressed. This dissertation attempts to address these questions.

Chapter two of this document investigates the NAC and how deletion of particular NAC subunits delays and alters protein aggregation and cytotoxicity of human disease-causing proteins. It also reveals changes in yeast prion aggregation and induction as a result of NAC subunit deletion. This work illuminates chaperone complex modulation as a potential suppressor of neurodegenerative disease or other protein conformational disorders. Chapter three identifies

and evaluates second-site suppressors of DNAJB6 mutations. These studies were conducted in the DNAJB6 and Sis1 chimeric protein SDSS and the yeast Hsp40 Sis1. Two second site suppressors are shown to rescue the client-associated activity of SDSS and Sis1 that are disrupted by disease associated mutations. These data show the potential of second-site suppressors as potent therapies for rescuing protein activity and open new avenues of research into the mechanism by which they rescue SDSS and Sis1 activity. Overall, this work addresses important areas of molecular chaperone modulation and activity and may serve to inform further research into reduction and prevention of protein misfolding-induced cellular toxicity.

1.7 Figures



Figure 1.1 Molecular chaperones effects on protein folding. Illustrations adapted (Hartl et al., 2011; Preissler and Deuerling, 2012); (A) Proteins can adopt innumerable folding conformations characterized by various levels of free energy and intra- or inter-molecular contacts. Proteins sample various folds as they attempt to fold in the lower free energy, native state. Conversely, proteins may, through intermolecular interactions, form amorphous aggregates, oligomers, or amyloid fibrils. Molecular chaperones are involved in promoting native state folding conformations and disrupting and reducing amorphous aggregate, oligomer, and amyloid fibril conformations. (B) Molecular chaperones exist as a network of co- and post-translational protein interactors. Bound to the ribosome and the first point of nascent protein contact is the NAC (nascent polypeptide-associated complex). The RAC (ribosome associated complex) consists of Zuo, which binds to the ribosome, Ssz, and Ssb, which interacts with nascent polypeptides. Prefoldin, Ssa, and Ydj or Sis1 interact with and assist in folding proteins either after they exit the ribosome, as they exist in the cytosol as folding intermediates, or before or after interactions with TRiC/CCT. Each of these interactions promotes folding of the protein to its native state.



Figure 1.2 [*PSI*⁺] colorimetric phenotypes. Illustration adapted (True, 2003; Keefer, 2017). In the absence of prion Sup35 participates in stop codon recognition of the premature stop codon in *ade1-14*. There is faithful termination of translation, Ade1 is not made, a red byproduct builds up in the cell, and the cells cannot grow on media lacking adenine. When prions are present Sup35 is titrated away from stop codon recognition, there is nonsense suppression of the premature stop codon, Ade1 is made, there is no build-up of red byproduct, and the cells can grow on media lacking adenine. Different prion variants are associated with various levels of nonsense suppression, leading to variations on color. The weak [*PSI*⁺] prion variant leads to lower levels of nonsense suppression, some buildup of red byproduct, making colonies appear pink in color. The strong [*PSI*⁺] variant causes higher levels of nonsense suppression and very little red byproduct, resulting in a white colony phenotype.



Figure 1.3 NAC deletion effects on [*PSI*⁺] formation, chaperone localization, and protein folding environment. Figure adapted from Keefer and True, 2016. (A) NAC subunits were deleted in [*PSI*⁺] cells and *SUP35* overexpression was induced by spotting on selective media containing CuSO₄. The original screen Egd1 disruption is represented as $egd1\Delta^t$. (B) WT and NAC deletion strains were transformed with a copper-inducible plasmid expressing GFP-tagged *SUP35*, grown overnight in selective media, induced by CuSO₄, and imaged. (C) [*PSI*⁺] WT and NAC deletion strains were grown overnight in selective media and expression of GFP-tagged *SUP35* was induced by CuSO₄. GFP-tagged Sup35 was detected by western blot. (D) Ssb levels in WT and NAC deletion strains were detected in monosome and polysome fractions by western blot and are represented as ratios of Ssb expression in polysome relative to monosome. (E) WT and NAC deletion strains were spotted on canavanine containing media to measure viability during global protein misfolding stress.



Figure 1.4 Disease-associated mutations in *DNAJB6* cause client processing disruptions in yeast. Figure adapted from Stein et al., 2014. (A) Homologous mutations to DNAJB6-F89I, DNAJB6-F93L, and DNAJB6-P96R were introduced in DNAJB1. Yeast expressing these mutant proteins and DNAJB1-WT were spotted to measure viability in the presence and absence of Sis1. (B) Diagram showing the construction of Sis1-DNAJB6 chimeric protein SDSS. (C) WT SDSS and SDSS mutants SDSS-F89I, SDSS-F93L, and SDSS-P96R were expressed in *sis1* Δ [*rnq*⁻], single dot medium [*RNQ*⁺], and multidot high [*RNQ*⁺] strains. Each strain expressed a copper-inducible Rnq1-GFP as well and prion aggregation was evaluated via fluorescent microscopy. (D) WT SDSS and SDSS mutants SDSS-F89I, SDSS-F89I, SDSS-F93L, and SDSS-P96R were expressed in *sis1* Δ [*psi*⁻], Sc37, Sc4, weak [*PSI*⁺], and strong [*PSI*⁺] strains. Strains were spotted on rich media and evaluated for prion propagation by color.

<u>Chapter 2: Disruption of the Nascent</u> <u>Polypeptide-Associated Complex Leads to</u> <u>Reduced Polyglutamine Aggregation and</u> <u>Toxicity</u>

Leeran B. Dublin and Heather L. True

This chapter is in preparation for submission to a peer-reviewed journal.

2.1 Abstract

The nascent polypeptide-associate complex (NAC) is a heterodimeric chaperone complex that binds near the ribosome exit tunnel and is the first point of chaperone contact for newly synthesized proteins. Deletion of the NAC induces embryonic lethality in many multi-cellular organisms. Previous work has shown deletion of the NAC rescues cells from prion-induced cytotoxicity. This counterintuitive result led us to hypothesize that NAC disruption would improve viability in cells expressing human misfolding proteins. Here, we show that NAC disruption not only improves viability in cells expressing alpha-synuclein and expanded polyglutamine, but also leads to delayed and reduced aggregation of expanded polyglutamine and changes in polyglutamine aggregate morphology. Moreover, we show that NAC disruption leads to changes in *de novo* yeast prion induction. These results indicate that the NAC plays a critical role in aggregate organization and has potential as a therapeutic target in neurodegenerative disorders.

2.2 Introduction

Protein folding is vital for cell survival and maintaining cellular homeostasis. Some proteins have amyloidogenic amino acid regions, which make them prone to misfolding and aggregation, causing disease (Dobson, 2017). For example, Huntington's Disease is caused by elongated repeats of glutamine (polyQ) in the Huntingtin protein that lead to misfolding and aggregation of the protein (Huang et al., 1998). The accumulation of these Huntingtin aggregates in neurons entangles cellular resources and alters cellular processes, causing stress and eventual cell death (Ravikumar et al., 2004, Koga et al., 2011, Ashkenazi et al., 2017, Vidal et al., 2012, Lajoie and Snapp, 2012, Duennwald and Lindquist, 2008). Currently there are no therapies

available for Huntington's Disease and the process by which Huntingtin protein aggregates and causes disease is not fully understood. Many studies on the effects of the expanded polyQ region of Huntingtin protein (htt103Q) have been conducted in yeast models, showing that polyglutamine toxicity disrupts ER stress responses, such as ER-associated degradation (ERAD) (Duennwald and Lindquist, 2008).

Molecular chaperones operate as a vast and complex network, assisting in co- and posttranslational protein folding. Furthermore, molecular chaperones are known to assist in ribosome shuttling to the endoplasmic reticulum and mitochondria by recognizing signal sequences on nascent polypeptides (Zhang et al., 2012; Gamerdinger et al., 2015; Ponce-Rojas et al., 2017). Many molecular chaperones are required for cellular growth and deleting these chaperones results in cytotoxicity (Deng and Behringer, 1995; Barrott and Haystead, 2013; Helary et al., 2019).

Surprisingly, past research has shown that deleting portions of a co-translational molecular chaperone complex, the nascent polypeptide-associated complex (NAC), rescues yeast prion induced cytotoxicity by altering the balance and localization of other molecular chaperones (Keefer and True, 2016). The NAC is highly conserved and deletion of the complex is embryonically lethal in many multicellular organisms (Deng and Behringer, 1995; Bloss et al., 2003). The NAC is comprised of two classes of subunits known as alpha (α) and beta (β). Egd2 is the α subunit, while in yeast there are two β subunits, Egd1 and Btt1. Btt1 arose in yeast after a genome duplication event, is known as the β ' subunit, and is 100 fold less concentrated in the cell than Egd1. The NAC is most prominently present in the cell as a heterodimer of one α subunit and one β subunit (Reimann et al., 1999; Del Alamo, et al., 2011). The β subunit reversibly binds the complex to the ribosome in a one to one ratio near the ribosomal exit tunnel

(Pech et al., 2010). Both the α and β subunits are the first point of contact for nascent polypeptides within the exit tunnel and as they emerge from the ribosome (Gamerdinger et al., 2019). The NAC also assists in the recognition of peptide signals and shuttling the ribosome to the ER and mitochondria (Zhang et al., 2012; Gamerdinger et al., 2015; Ponce-Rojas et al., 2017). Our group previously showed that partial deletion of the NAC rescued cytotoxicity in a yeast prion model (Keefer and True, 2016). Work from other groups has shown that overexpression of the NAC prevents aggregation by other misfolding proteins in yeast and other organisms (Gamerdinger et al., 2015; Shen et al., 2019). Because of this work we wanted to evaluate NAC modulation effects on human misfolding protein-induced cytotoxicity in yeast cells.

Herein, we report that partial deletion of the NAC improves cellular growth in yeast expressing a toxic expanded polyQ protein and reduces aggregation of polyglutamine. We also show that partial deletion of the NAC reduces induction of certain yeast prion strains. These results identify the NAC as a potential therapeutic target to reduce amyloidogenic protein aggregation and further elucidate the mechanism by which NAC disruption improves the cellular environment in the face of protein misfolding stress.

2.3 Results

2.3.1 NAC modulation effects on yeast expressing human misfolding proteins

We set out to investigate the ability of NAC modulation to improve viability in yeast cells expressing human misfolding proteins. Previously, we have shown that NAC deletion rescued prion-induced cytotoxicity, while others have shown that NAC overexpression delayed protein aggregation (Keefer and True, 2016, Shen et al., 2019). Based on this work, we hypothesized that modulating NAC subunit expression would rescue toxicity induced by human

misfolding proteins. To test this hypothesis, we expressed multiple disease-causing human misfolding proteins in the NAC deletion strains as well as WT yeast strains overexpressing NAC subunits. We expressed two galactose-inducible partial huntingtin proteins, htt exon1 103Q and htt exon1 25Q, as well as multiple galactose-inducible alpha-synuclein proteins, including wild type and two disease-causing mutants (A30P and A53T) in a complete set of NAC deletion strains and a WT strain. We spotted the $egdl \Delta bttl \Delta$, $egdl \Delta egd2 \Delta$, $nac\Delta$, and WT transformants on selective media containing glucose or galactose to evaluate toxicity induced by these alphasynuclein proteins (Figure 2.1A) and expanded polyglutamine (Figure 2.1B). We also transformed a WT 74-D694 yeast strain with plasmids expressing NAC β-subunit Egd1 or NAC α -subunit Egd2. We then transformed these strains with a plasmid expressing htt exon1 103Q or an empty vector and spotted them to evaluate toxicity (Figure 2.1C). We were surprised to see partial rescue of htt exon 1103Q toxicity in the $egd1\Delta btt1\Delta$ and $egd1\Delta egd2\Delta$ strains but not in strains overexpressing Egd1 or Egd2. Other work has shown that overexpression of the NAC α and β subunits suppressed expanded polyglutamine aggregation in *C. elegans* (Shen et al., 2019). Interestingly, we also saw improved viability in the $egdl\Delta egd2\Delta$ and $nac\Delta$ strains expressing alpha-synuclein WT and disease-causing mutant constructs when compared to WT expressing the same constructs (Figure 2.1A).

2.3.2 NAC disruption delays and reduces polyglutamine aggregation

Intrigued by these results, we investigated aggregation of htt exon1 103Q. While the exact mechanism by which polyQ-expanded htt exonI causes toxicity is unknown, we know the aggregation of polyQ is a contributing factor and marker of toxicity (McColgan and Tabrizi, 2018). To visualize htt exon1 103Q aggregation in $egd1\Delta btt1\Delta$ and $egd1\Delta egd2\Delta$ we induced expression of the protein for 6 and 20 hours using a galactose inducible promoter. We then

conducted microscopy and visualized the CFP-tagged htt exon1 103Q protein. We saw significantly reduced aggregation in the $egd1\Delta btt1\Delta$ strain as compared to WT and $egd1\Delta egd2\Delta$ at both 6 and 20 hours of induction (Figure 2.2A). WT cells expressing htt exon1 103Q for 6 hours showed that an average of 37% cells contained aggregates while only 4.5% of the $egd1\Delta btt1\Delta$ cells contained aggregates (Figure 2.2B). Even after inducing expression of htt exon1 103Q for 20 hours, 41% WT cells contained aggregates while 13% of the $egd1\Delta btt1\Delta$ cells contained aggregates (Figure 2.2C).

2.3.3 NAC disruption changes polyglutamine aggregate distribution

Interestingly, we saw morphological differences between the htt exon1 103Q aggregates present in the mutant strains as compared to the aggregates in wild type cells. To quantify aggregate phenotype, we evaluated each cell expressing htt exon1 103Q and ranked them as 0-3 depending on the number of aggregates present in the cell (Figure 2.2D). These analyses were of keen interest, as many groups have hypothesized and shown that soluble polyglutamine oligomers are cytotoxic, while large insoluble, polyglutamine aggregate structures may pose less risk to cellular homeostasis (Takahashi et al., 2008, Lajoie and Snapp, 2010, Lajoie and Snapp, 2013, Leitman et al., 2013). At 6 hours htt exon1 103Q induction, the aggregate populations in WT and $egdl\Delta bttl\Delta$ aggregate populations were similar, as cells containing one aggregate comprise about half of the aggregate population in both strains (Figure 2.2E). However, cells containing three or more aggregates appear in 49% of cells with aggregates in the $egd1 \Delta egd2 \Delta$ strain at the 6 hour induction timepoint (Figure 2.2E). At 20 hours htt exon1 103Q induction, aggregate populations observed in WT and $egdl \Delta egd2\Delta$ are similar (cells with one aggregate: 42% and 40%, two aggregates: 18% and 23%, and three or more aggregates: 39% and 37%) (Figure 2.2E). Conversely, the most abundant aggregate population in the $egdl\Delta bttl\Delta$ strain after 20 hours induction is one aggregate, which make up 60% of the aggregate population in $egd1\Delta btt1\Delta$ cells (Figure 2.2E).

2.3.4 NAC disruption-induced reduction of polyglutamine aggregation is not caused by reduced polyglutamine expression

We considered the possibility that the reduction of htt exon1 103Q aggregation in $egd1\Delta btt1\Delta$ cells could be caused by reduced expression of htt exon1 103Q, as reduced polyglutamine expression has been shown to reduce and reverse polyglutamine aggregate formation (Yamamoto et al., 2000, Becanovic et al., 2015, Yang et al., 2016). To determine htt exon1 103Q expression we performed western blots for the FLAG-tag attached to the Nterminus of the htt exon1 25Q and htt exon1 103Q proteins induced in the NAC deletion strains for 6 hours. We saw no significant difference between htt exon1 103Q expression in WT and the $egd1\Delta btt1\Delta$ strain at 6 hours induction (Figure 2.3A). We also detected htt exon1 103Q aggregates after 6 and 20 hour induction in WT, $egd1\Delta btt1\Delta$, $egd1\Delta egd2\Delta$, and $nac\Delta$ strains by filter trap assay. Filter trap assays allow for the visualization and semi-quantification of large protein aggregates, as these aggregates, unlike monomeric proteins, are unable to pass through cellulose acetate membranes (Duennwald, 2013). We expected to see a reduction of aggregated htt exon 1 103Q by filter trap assay in the $egdl\Delta btt l\Delta$ strain compared to WT at both 6 and 20 hours of induction. We saw this result at the 6-hour time point (Figure 2.3B), but did not at the 20-hour time point (data not shown). Quantification of aggregated htt exon1 103Q signal intensity showed a 53% percent reduction in the $egdl\Delta bttl\Delta$ strain compared to WT after 6 hours induction (Figure 2.3C).

2.3.5 NAC disruption alters [*PSI*⁺] variant induction

We wanted to delve deeper into the change in aggregate morphology we saw with microscopy. We utilized the well-characterized [*PSI*⁺] prion model in yeast, as *de novo* [*PSI*⁺] strain induction can be used to better evaluate aggregate morphological differences as a result of chaperone deletion. Furthermore, we wanted to investigate whether NAC disruption would change aggregation morphology of another protein (Sup35) compared to WT. *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* harbor a wide array of prions, which are normally non-cytotoxic. Non-cytotoxic prions have potential as reporters for cellular protein folding environmental conditions. One prion, [*PSI*⁺], has been used to develop a colorimetric assay that allows for the evaluation of prion induction and prion strain determination.

Like polyglutamine, proteins that misfold to form prions can fold and aggregate in different conformations, creating different prion strains. These strains can be differentiated by a myriad of assays and, in the yeast [*PSI*⁺] prion system, by colony color. Sup35 is a protein involved in stop codon recognition with Sup45. Sup35 misfolds and aggregates to form the yeast prion [*PSI*⁺]. The 74-D694 yeast strain contains the *ade1-14* allele. *ADE1* encodes a protein that is involved in the adenine biogenesis pathway, and *ade1-14* contains a premature stop codon. When Sup35 is natively folded the premature stop codon in *ade1-14* is recognized and adenine biosynthesis is interrupted. This results in the accumulation of a red byproduct in cells and results in their inability to grow on media lacking adenine. When Sup35 misfolds and aggregates there is readthrough of the premature stop codon in *ade1-14*, resulting in completion of the adenine biogenesis pathway, no accumulation of red pigment in yeast cells, and colony growth on media lacking adenine. [*PSI*⁺] prion strains include very weak, weak, medium, and strong

 $[PSI^+]$ and each strain can be recognized by the accumulation of pigment in yeast colonies, ranging from $[psi^-]$ cells appearing red and strong $[PSI^+]$ cells appearing very light or pale pink.

Given the observed changes in htt exon1 103Q aggregate morphology, we hypothesized that loss of the NAC would cause changes in the distribution of *de novo* [*PSI*⁺] prion strains when compared to *de novo* [*PSI*⁺] prion strains induced in WT yeast. In order to induce prion formation we expressed a Sup35 plasmid in WT and the NAC deletion strains (*nacA*, *egd1Aegd2A*, and *egd1Abtt1A*) and grew the resulting transformants overnight in 1M KCl selective media. 1M KCl was selected because it has been shown to cause osmotic stress (Slaninova, et al., 2000) and induce [*PSI*⁺] (Tyedmers, et al., 2008). We then plated the transformants and determined the [*PSI*⁺] strain induced for a minimum of 100 colonies per yeast strain. The WT and *nacA* strains showed similar [*PSI*⁺] strain distributions (Table 2.1), however both the *egd1Aegd2A* and *egd1Abtt1A* strains had notable increases in very weak and weak [*PSI*⁺], and decreases in medium and strong [*PSI*⁺] when compared to WT (Table 2.1). While not perfectly correlative, this shift reflects the polyglutamine morphological differences we detected in *egd1Abtt1A*, indicating partial NAC deletion leads to potentially widespread changes in protein folding.

2.4 Discussion

Our work shows that disruption of the NAC can be beneficial to cell survival in the face of protein misfolding and aggregation stress. We have provided evidence that deletion of NAC subunits leads to improved viability in cells overexpressing alpha-synuclein and htt exon1 103Q. Furthermore, we have shown that htt exon1 103Q aggregation is delayed in $egd1\Delta btt1\Delta$ when compared to htt exon1 103Q aggregation in WT, though expression of htt exon1 103Q is unchanged. Filter trap assays show that less htt exon1 103Q protein is aggregated after 6 hours induction in $egd1\Delta btt1\Delta$ cells when compared to htt exon1 103Q aggregated protein in WT cells. Interestingly, NAC disruption leads to changes in htt exon1 103Q aggregate morphology as well. Lastly, we show that NAC disruption changes [*PSI*⁺] strain distributions when compared to WT. This suggests that the NAC is an important factor in aggregate organization and that NAC disruption may be capable of inducing widespread alterations in aggregate morphology.

Clearly, these counterintuitive results warrant further investigation. Beyond the main results showing deletion of *EGD1* and *BTT1* leads to delayed and decreased aggregation of htt exon1 103Q, we noticed that complete NAC deletion and deletion of *EGD1* and *EGD2* do not result in robust rescue of cellular viability when htt exon1 103Q is expressed (Figure 2.1B). This indicates that individual NAC subunits may have cellular roles that are important in protein aggregation and maintaining cellular viability. Previous work showing variable rescue of canavanine toxicity suggested this as well (Figure 1.3E) (Keefer and True, 2016).

Overall, this work shows that disruption of a chaperone complex has potential as a therapeutic target in protein misfolding and aggregation conditions. Further investigation is needed to understand how deletion of *EGD1* and *BTT1* leads to delayed and reduced htt exon1 103Q aggregation, htt exon1 103Q aggregate morphology changes, and *de novo* [*PSI*⁺] strain induction. Potential avenues to address this will be proposed in Chapter 4.

2.5 Materials and methods

2.5.1 Yeast strains, plasmids, cultures, and transformations

All yeast strains are derivatives of 74-D694 (*ade1-14 his3-A200 leu2-3,112 trp1-289 ura3-52*). Single and combinatorial genetic deletions of *EGD1*, *EGD2*, *and BTT1* were made as previously described (Keefer & True, 2016). Plasmids expressing huntingtin exon I fusions

controlled by the inducible *GAL1* promoter (p416Gal1-FLAG-htt25QΔPro-CFP and p416Gal1-FLAG-htt103QΔPro-CFP) were kindly gifted by S. Lindquist and were made as previously described (Duennwald et al, 2006). Plasmids expressing alpha-synuclein constructs controlled by the inducible *GAL1* promoter (pRS426-Gal1-SNCA^{WT}-GFP, pRS426-Gal1-SNCA^{A30P}-GFP, pRS426-Gal1-SNCA^{A53T}-GFP) were kindly gifted by M. Jackrel. Egd1 and Egd2 overexpression plasmids are under control of their endogenous promoters (p413-Egd1, p413-Egd2) and were made using standard molecular biology techniques and confirmed by sequencing.

2.5.2 Antibodies

A monoclonal anti-FLAG antibody was obtained from Sigma-Aldrich. A monoclonal anti-PGK1 antibody was obtained from ThermoFisher Scientific. A rabbit anti-mouse secondary antibody was obtained from ThermoFisher Scientific.

2.5.3 Prion manipulation

WT and NAC deletion yeast strains transformed with p426-Sup35 plasmid were grown at 30° C for 16hrs with rotation in 1M KCl SD-ura media to induce *de novo* prion formation. OD600 of each culture was determined and they were then plated on 150mm ¹/₄ YPD solid media plates at dilutions that would render 200-500 colonies. These plates were then incubated at 30° C for 6 days and subsequently incubated at 4° C overnight for further color development. Each colony was evaluated for color and scored [*psi*⁻] if red and [*PSI*⁺] if pink, white, or sectored. At least 100 [*PSI*⁺] colonies were picked and pinned on ¹/₄ YPD, SD-ade, and 5mM GdnHCl and grown for 5 days at 30° C in order to evaluate [*PSI*⁺] strength and color change due to [*PSI*⁺] induction. Each experiment was repeated at least 3 times.

2.5.4 Fluorescent microscopy

Cells expressing p416Gal1-FLAG-htt25QΔPro-CFP, p416Gal1-FLAG-htt103QΔPro-CFP, or p414Gal1-EV were grown overnight in SD-ura. Cells were washed in S-ura, then grown for indicated incubation time in S-ura, 2% galactose to induce expression of htt exon1 25Q or htt exon1 103Q. Cells were imaged after 6 and 20 hours of induction using a x63 objective and cyan filter on Zeiss LSM 880 airyscan two-photon confocal microscope. Images were blinded to researcher and aggregation of htt exon1 103Q was assessed phenotypically. Collected data were graphed and analyzed using GraphPad Prism version 8.1.1 for Windows, GraphPad Software, La Jolla, California USA. Results represent a compilation of data collected during 3 separate experiments.

2.5.5 Yeast phenotypic and growth assays

WT and all combinatorial deletions of NAC subunits harboring p416Gal1-FLAG-htt25Q∆Pro-

CFP, p416Gal1-FLAG-htt103QΔPro-CFP, pRS426-Gal1-SNCA^{WT}-GFP, pRS426-Gal1-SNCA^{A30P}-GFP, pRS426-Gal1-SNCA^{A53T}-GFP, or p416Gal1-EV were grown overnight in SDura. Cultures were normalized to 0.1 OD600 and spotted in 5 5-fold dilutions onto YPD, SD-ura, S-ura, 2% galactose, 1% raffinose, S-ura, 2% galactose, 0.1% raffinose, and S-ura, 2% galactose. A WT yeast strain harboring p413-Gal1-FLAG-103Q-GFP and pRS316-Egd2 or pRS316-Egd1 were grown overnight in SD-ura-his. Cultures were normalized to 0.1 OD600 and spotted in 5 5fold dilutions onto YPD, SD-ura-his, S-ura-his, 2% galactose, 1% raffinose, S-ura-his, 2% galactose, 0.1% raffinose, and S-ura-his, 2% galactose. Induction plates were grown for 5 days at 30°C and plates containing glucose were grown for 3 days at 30°C. Experiments were repeated at least 3 times.

2.5.6 Protein analysis

Cells harboring p416Gal1-FLAG-htt25QΔPro-CFP, p416Gal1-FLAG-htt103QΔPro-CFP, or p416Gal1-EV were grown overnight in SD-ura, washed 2x with S-ura, and induced for 6 or 20 hours in S-ura, 2% galactose. Cell lysates were prepared as previously described. Total protein concentrations were determined by Bradford assays, normalized to ensure equal loading, and mixed with SDS-PAGE sample buffer. Samples were boiled for 10 minutes at 100°C before loading onto 10% polyacrylamide gel and run at constant current of 100V. Blots were transferred overnight, incubated with primary and secondary antibodies, and visualized with enhanced chemiluminescence and film (GeneMate). Bands were analyzed and quantified with ImageJ and normalized to PGK1. Experiments were repeated at least 3 times.

2.5.7 Filter trap assay

Followed modified protocol from Sin et al., 2018. Cells harboring p416Gal1-FLAGhtt25Q Δ Pro-CFP, p416Gal1-FLAG-htt103Q Δ Pro-CFP, or p414Gal1-EV were grown overnight in SD-ura, washed 2x with S-ura, and induced for 6 hours in S-ura, 2% galactose. Cell lysates were prepared as previously described. Lysates were normalized to 500ug total protein in Filter Trap Assay Buffer and serially diluted three times at 1:2 dilutions. Resulting 2µ filter was incubated with primary and secondary antibodies, and visualized with enhanced chemiluminescence and film (GeneMate). Bands were analyzed and quantified with ImageJ. Ponceau staining was used as a loading control. Experiments were repeated at least 3 times.

2.6 Acknowledgements

We thank Drs. M. Jackrel and S. Lindquist for our reagents. We thank Rachel Bouttenout for assistance with the transposon screen and strain creation. We are appreciative of Dr. C. Weihl, A. Bhadra and M. Pullen for their helpful discussions and comments on this work.

2.7 Figures



Figure 2.1 NAC modulation effects on amyloid-induced cytotoxicity (A) Yeast 74-D694 WT and nac deletion strains expressing Gal1-inducible EV or A30P, WT, or A53T α -synuclein constructs were serially diluted 5-fold and spotted onto ¹/₄ YPD (not shown), SD-ura, and S-ura, 2% galactose (first 3 spots shown) to monitor α -synuclein toxicity and the ability of nac deletion to rescue α -synuclein cytotoxicity (n=3). (B) Yeast 74-D694 WT and nac deletion strains expressing Gal1-inducible EV, htt25Q, or htt103Q constructs were serially diluted 5-fold and spotted onto ¹/₄ YPD (not shown), SD-ura, and S-ura, 2% galactose (first 3 spots shown) to monitor expanded polyglutamine toxicity and the ability of nac deletion to rescue expanded polyglutamine cytotoxicity (n=3). (C) A yeast 74-D694 WT strain expressing EV, EGD2, or EGD1 constructs in combination with Gal-inducible EV or htt103Q constructs were serially diluted 5-fold on ¹/₄ YPD (not shown), SD-ura-his, and S-ura-2% galactose, 0.1% raffinose

A 6 hours 20 hours в **6 Hours Induction** Percent cells with aggregate: 100 WT 103Q 103Q 25Q 25Q e1Ae2A 80 e1Ab1A 60 40-WT 20-0 250 1030 PolyQ Length C egd1∆ 20 Hours Induction with aggregates egd2∆ 100 WT. e1_1e2_1 80 e1_ab1_1 60 Percent cells 40 egd1∆ 20 btt1∆ 0 250 1030 PolyQ Length D Е egd1/Jegd2/J x103Q egd1_btt1_1x103Q WTx103Q Hours Induction 1 1 1 2 2 2 ø WTx103Q egd12egd22 x103Q egd12btt12 x103Q Hours Induction 1 1 1 2 20

(first three spots shown) to evaluate expanded polyglutamine toxicity and the ability of EGD1 and EGD2 overexpression to rescue expanded polyglutamine cytotoxicity (n=3).

Figure 2.2 NAC deletion effects on polyQ aggregation and aggregate distribution. (A) WT and NAC deletion strains expressing Gal1-htt25Q-CFP or Gal1-htt103Q-CFP constructs were grown in selective media in the presence of 2% galactose for 6 and 20 hours. Two-dimensional z-stack images were taken with a Zeiss LSM 880 Airyscan Two-Photon Confocal Microscope with a 63x oil immersion objective. The $egd1\Delta btt1\Delta$ strain showed a smaller population of cells with aggregates than the WT or $egd1\Delta egd2\Delta$ strains at both time points. (B) Quantification of percent cells expressing Gal1-htt25Q-CFP or Gal1-htt103Q-CFP constructs containing aggregates after 6

hours induction by 2% galactose in selective media. Significance was determined by Fisher's exact test (****=<0.0001). (C) Quantification of percent cells expressing Gal1-htt25Q-CFP or Gal1-htt103Q-CFP constructs containing aggregates after 20 hours induction by 2% galactose in selective media. Significance was determined by Fisher's exact test (****=p value<0.0001). (D) Representative images of cells with 0, 1, 2, or 3 aggregates. Microscopy of WT and NAC deletion strains expressing Gal1-htt25Q-CFP or Gal1-htt103Q-CFP constructs for 6 and 20 hours were evaluated based on this scale. (E) WT and NAC deletion strain cells expressing Gal1-htt103Q-CFP constructs for 6 or 20 hours and containing aggregates were evaluated as having 1, 2, or 3 or more aggregates. The resulting population distributions are represented as percentages in pie graphs.



Figure 2.3 WT and NAC deletion strains express similar levels of polyQ protein and polyQ aggregation is reduced in $egd1\Delta btt1\Delta$ (A) WT and NAC deletion strains expressing Gal1-FLAG-htt25Q-CFP or Gal1-FLAG-htt103Q-CFP constructs were grown in selective media in the presence of 2% galactose for 6 hours prior to SDS-PAGE and Western blotting for FLAG and PGK1. Western blots are representative images of three independent experiments. (B) WT and

NAC deletion strains expressing Gal1-FLAG-htt25Q-CFP (not shown) or Gal1-FLAG-htt103Q-CFP constructs were grown in selective media in the presence of 2% galactose for 6 hours prior to Filter Trap Assay and Western blotting for FLAG. All strains in figure are expressing Gal1-FLAG-htt103Q-CFP. Western blot is a representative image of three independent experiments. (C) Quantification and normalization to WT of 3 independent Filter Trap Assay Western blots represented in 3(B), data are represented as mean \pm SEM, significance was determined by paired t-test, *=p value<0.05, and ns=p value>0.05.

[PSI ⁺] strain	Wild Type	nac∆	egd1∆egd2∆	egd1∆btt1∆
Very Weak	8.0±5.0%	10.7±4.3%	19.1±6.1%	17.1±3.8%
Weak	26.9±6.2%	28.8±5.2%	38.0±3.9%	35.3±3.0%
Medium	54.1±8.4%	52.6±7.9%	40.7±3.2%	41.6±3.7%
Strong	11.0±2.6%	8.0±1.1%	2.3±2.3%	6.1±2.4%

Table 2.1 [*PSI*⁺] **distribution is altered in NAC deletion strains.** WT and NAC deletion strains expressing a pEMBL-SUP35 construct were grown overnight in selective media containing 1M KCl, plated, and evaluated for [PSI+] prion strength by a previously described colorimetric assay. Over 100 colonies were evaluated from three independent experiments and ±values=SEM.

Log #	Plasmid	Auxotrophic Marker	Control
SL7711	p416-Gal1-FLAG-25Q-CFP	URA3	Х
SL7712	p416-Gal1-FLAG-103Q-CFP	URA3	
SL7874	p413-Gal1-FLAG-103Q-GFP	HIS3	
SL9250	P413-Gal1	HIS3	Х
SL9256	p416-Gal1	URA3	Х
5320	pRS316-Egd2	URA3	
5328	pRS316-Egd1	URA3	
6244	p426-Sup35	URA3	
6890	pRS426-Gal1-SNCA ^{WT} -GFP	URA3	
6891	pRS426-Gal1-SNCA ^{A30P} -GFP	URA3	
6892	pRS426-Gal1-SNCA ^{A53T} -GFP	URA3	

Table 2.2 Plasmids used in this study. The left-most column indicates the True Lab log number of each plasmid, the second from the left column contains the plasmid names, the third from the left column indicates the auxotrophic marker of each plasmid, and the right most column identifies the control plasmids.

Log #	Strain Information
3233	74D-694, [<i>RNQ</i> ⁺], [<i>psi</i> ⁻], Mat A
3234	74D-694, [<i>RNQ</i> ⁺], [<i>psi</i> ⁻], <i>egd1∆</i> , Mat A
3235	74D-694, $[RNQ^+]$, $[psi^-]$, $egd2\Delta btt1\Delta$, Mat A
3236	74D-694, [<i>RNQ</i> ⁺], [<i>psi</i> ⁻], <i>nac∆</i> , Mat A
3237	74D-694, [<i>RNQ</i> ⁺], [<i>psi</i> ⁻], <i>egd2∆</i> , Mat A
3238	74D-694, [RNQ^+], [psi^-], $egd1 \Delta egd2 \Delta$, Mat A
3239	74D-694, [<i>RNQ</i> ⁺], [<i>psi</i> ⁻], <i>btt1</i> Δ, Mat A, HIS+
3240	74D-694, $[RNQ^+]$, $[psi^-]$, $egdl \Delta btt l \Delta$, Mat A HIS+

Table 2.3 Strains used in this study. The left most column indicates the True Lab log number of each strain and the right column contains relevant strain information.



Supporting Figure S1: Ponceau staining shows similar protein concentrations loaded in

filter trap assay. WT and NAC deletion strains expressing Gal1-FLAG-htt25Q-CFP (not shown) or Gal1-FLAG-htt103Q-CFP constructs were grown in selective media in the presence of 2% galactose for 6 hours prior to Filter Trap Assay and Western blotting for FLAG. After developing 2μ filter was soaked in Ponceau staining to show total protein load. All strains are expressing Gal1-FLAG-htt103Q-CFP.

<u>Chapter 3: Evaluating Second-Site</u> <u>Suppressors of LGMDD1 Mutations</u>

This work is based on a second-site suppressor screen described in section 3.3.1. All experiments in subsequent sections are original to this work and were solely conducted by Leeran Blythe Dublin-Ryan.
3.1 Abstract

Chaperonopathies are conditions caused by mutations in molecular chaperones. Limb-Girdle Muscular Dystrophy Type 1D (LGMDD1) is a chaperonopathy associated with many mutations in the Hsp40 DNAJB6, spanning the J and G/F domains of the protein. Functional studies of DNAJB6 in multicellular organisms are challenging, as a known substrate of DNAJB6 has not yet been discovered. Sis1 is a yeast homolog of DNAJB6 with known client substrates. The existence of a homolog in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* provides a compelling system for studying the effects of LGMDD1-associated mutations. Previous work has shown that mutations in the G/F-domain of DNAJB6 cause disruption of chaperone activity and client processing in Sis1 and a DNAJB6/Sis1 chimeric protein, SDSS. We show here that multiple second-site suppressors in the J-domain of Sis1 are capable of rescuing the activity defects caused by two different G/F-domain mutations. This work shows the viability of second-site suppressors in rescuing Hsp40 activity and shows great potential as a therapeutic strategy in the treatment of LGMDD1.

3.2 Introduction

Because chaperones are vitally important for innumerous protein folding events, mutations in chaperones can lead to modulation of activity and disease. Diseases induced by chaperone mutations are known as chaperonopathies (Macario and Conway de Macario, 2007). For example, LGMDD1 is associated with a myriad of mutations in the G/F and J domains of DNAJB6 (Harms et al., 2012; Sarparanta et al., 2012; Sato et al., 2013; Couthouis et al., 2014; Suarez-Cedeno et al., 2014; Yabe et al., 2014; Nam et al., 2015; Palmio et al., 2015; Ruggieri et al., 2015; Bohlega et al., 2018; Kim et al., 2018; Zima et al., 2019; Palmio et al., 2020). DNAJB6

is an Hsp40 that participates with Hsp70s to induce proper protein folding (Cyr et al., 1992; Freeman et al., 1995).

While it is known that many mutations in DNAJB6 are causative of LGMDD1, little is known about the cellular mechanism by which mutations in the protein induce disease phenotypes. Likewise, a known substrate of DNAJB6 remains elusive, making studying the mechanisms of the protein more difficult. Luckily, there is a yeast homolog of DNAJB6, the essential Hsp40 Sis1, with multiple known substrates, including Rnq1 and Sup35, which form the prions [RNQ^+] and [PSI^+], respectively. The introduction of LGMDD1-associated mutations in a Sis1 and DNAJB6 chimeric protein, SDSS, resulted in a reduced ability to propagate [RNQ^+] and [PSI^+] prions (Stein, et al., 2014). While DNAJB6 could not be used in these experiments because it cannot compensate for other Sis1 activities involved in cellular viability, the presence of another human J-protein, DNAJB1, is able to confer viability in *sis1* Δ cells and was used for further experimentation (Stein et al., 2014). One experiment revealed that DNAJB1-F90I (homologous to the LGMDD1-associated mutation DNAJB6-F89I) showed robust loss of viability (Stein et al., 2014). This result was of particular interest because it is useful for a second-site suppressor screen.

Suppression genetics has been used as a tool for understanding interactions between different proteins and different domains of the same proteins for decades (Hodgkin, 2005). A second-site suppressor is a secondary mutation that reverts a phenotype caused by a primary mutation back to the WT phenotype. There are two types of second-site suppressor mechanisms of action. Second-site suppressors can act in an intragenic manner, meaning the second-site suppressor is located in the same gene as the primary mutation, or in an intergenic manner, meaning the second-site suppressor is located in a different gene than the primary mutation. Most Type I and Type II Hsp40s form functional homodimers, including Sis1, DNAJB1, and DNAJB6, so an intragenic second-site suppressor could act within one Hsp40 molecule or cause reversion to the WT phenotype through extra-molecular interactions between two Hsp40 molecules (Kampinga and Craig, 2010; Sha et al., 2000; Hu et al., 2008; Söderberg et al., 2018).

A requirement for second-site suppressor screening is a fairly robust primary phenotype, which we found in the stark DNAJB1-F90I-induced loss of viability. The yeast model organism in which this phenotype was found provided a tractable genetic system for a second-site suppressor screen. Moreover, the previous work that established clear $[RNQ^+]$ and $[PSI^+]$ propagation defects resulting from LGMDD1 mutations provided an experimental scaffolding to evaluate the effects of resulting second-site suppressors. Here we report the discovery of multiple second-site suppressors are particularly effective in rescuing activity defects caused by two LGMDD1-associated mutants. This work shows the potential of second-site suppressors as viable therapies and sets the stage for further studies to understand the mechanism by which these second-site suppressors act.

3.3 Results

3.3.1 Identification of second-site suppressors of DNAJB1-F90I

As previously described in Chapter 1, there are many mutations in J and G/F domains of DNAJB6 that are associated with LGMDD1 (Harms et al., 2012; Sarparanta et al., 2012; Sato et al., 2013; Couthouis et al., 2014; Suarez-Cedeno et al., 2014; Yabe et al., 2014; Nam et al., 2015; Palmio et al., 2015; Ruggieri et al., 2015; Bohlega et al, 2018; Kim et al., 2018; Zima et al., 2019; Palmio et al., 2020). These LGMDD1-associated mutations in the DNAJB6 J and G/F

domains have been extensively studied in yeast and multicellular organisms, however our understanding of their effect at the cellular level in the context of disease is limited. Kevin Stein (a former graduate student in the True lab) found that some G/F domain mutants caused disruption in propagation of particular [RNQ^+] and [PSI^+] variants (Stein et al., 2014). He also found that introducing an F90I mutation in DNAJB1 (homologous to DNAJB6-F89I) caused a viability defect in *sis1* Δ cells (Figure 3.1A). This strong phenotype was well-suited for a second-site suppressor screen, which is beneficial for uncovering new insights into protein domain interactions and effects of primary mutations.

Sis1 is required for viability and DNAJB1 can compensate for Sis1 loss. Therefore, Kevin performed error-prone PCR on a DNAJB1-F90I construct, creating a library of DNAJB1-F90I constructs that had additional mutations introduced. He grew a 74-D694 [RNQ^+], [psi^-], $sis1\Delta$ strain that was transformed with a URA3-marked, WT *SIS1* plasmid (pRS316-SIS1), transformed the strain with the library of potential DNAJB1-F90I mutants, and selected for loss of the WT *SIS1* plasmid by growing the transformants on 5-fluoroorotic acid (5-FOA). The viable colonies resulting from this process should only contain the DNAJB1-F90I library constructs. Resulting colonies were then tested to determine if their viability was due to rescue by a second-site suppressor. From this screen Kevin identified six second-site suppressors (Figure 3.1A), two of which (DNAJB1-R22W and R26G) were used in the subsequent experiments described herein.

3.3.2 Two second-site suppressors are located near a conserved Hsp40 motif

The DNAJB1-R22W and DNAJB1-R26G (homologous to DNAJB6-K21W and DNAJB6-K25G and Sis1-K24W and Sis1-K28G, Figure 3.1B) second-site suppressors are of particular interest because they are located near the HPD motif, which is a conserved motif

important for J-protein interaction with HSP70s (Tsai and Douglas, 1996), and multiple potential (unconfirmed) LGMDD1-associated mutations. We set out to evaluate the ability of these second-site suppressors to rescue chaperone activity by assessing the prion propagation defects caused by LGMDD1-associated mutations in the DNAJB6 G/F domain. Thus, we decided to use the SDSS chimeric protein that compensates for *sis1* loss and harbors the DNAJB6 G/F domain. This protein is constructed of the Sis1 J-domain, the DNAJB6 G/F domain, the Sis1 G/M domain, and the Sis1 CTD (Figure 3.1B) and has been successfully used to study DNAJB6 G/F domain mutations in the past (Stein et al, 2014). The second-site suppressors were introduced in SDSS-F89I, which is homologous to DNAJB1-F90I (Figure 3.1B), and in SDSS-WT. This resulted in four plasmid constructs, each expressing one of the following proteins: SDSS-K24W, SDSS-K28G, SDSS-K24W-F89I, and SDSS-K28G-F89I.

3.3.3 Second-site mutations K24W and K28G have varied effects on [*PSI*⁺] propagation defect resulting from F89I mutation

As described in Chapters one and two, yeast prions are non-cytotoxic and many are clients of Sis1. Specifically, $[RNQ^+]$ and $[PSI^+]$ require Sis1 for propagation (Sondheimer et al., 2001; Higurashi et al., 2008). SDSS-WT is able to compensate for *sis1* loss and SDSS-F89I was previously shown to disrupt weak $[PSI^+]$ and Sc37 propagation (Figure 1.4D) (Stein et al., 2014). Therefore, we transformed weak $[PSI^+]$ and Sc37 *sis1* strains harboring pRS316-*SIS1* with plasmid constructs expressing SDSS-WT, SDSS-F89I, SDSS-K24W, SDSS-K28W, SDSS-K24W-F89I, and SDSS-K28W-F89I, grew the resulting transformants on 5-FOA to select for the loss of pRS316-*SIS1*, and performed a viability assay with the resulting colonies (Figure 3.2). After growth on 5-FOA these colonies only express the *SDSS* constructs, which are on TRP1-marked plasmids. [*PSI*⁺] propagation was disrupted as a result of SDSS-F89I expression (Figure 3.2), consistent with previous results (Stein et al., 2014). Interestingly, we saw that Sc37

propagation was partially maintained in colonies containing SDSS-K24W-F89I (Figure 3.2). Furthermore, we observed uniform maintenance of [*PSI*⁺] propagation in colonies containing SDSS-K28G-F89I (Figure 3.2).

Intrigued by the heterogeneity of results in the SDSS-K24W-F89I Sc37 colonies, we decided to take a closer look at [PSI⁺] propagation in these strains. To do this we grew the Sc37 strain containing TRP1-marked plasmids expressing SDSS-WT, SDSS-F89I, SDSS-K24W, SDSS-K28W, SDSS-K24W-F89I, and SDSS-K28W-F89I and the weak [PSI⁺] strain containing TRP1-marked plasmids expressing SDSS-WT, SDSS-F89I, SDSS-K28W, and SDSS-K28W-F89I in SD-trp media overnight and plated them at concentrations that would result in 200-500 colonies per plate. We then evaluated the resulting colonies by color, recording the number of $[PSI^+]$ and $[psi^-]$ colonies. As expected, the SDSS-WT containing colonies maintained $[PSI^+]$ at nearly 100% in both the Sc37 and weak [PSI⁺] strains (Figure 3.3). Expression of SDSS-F89I led to almost total loss of [PSI⁺] propagation in the Sc37 strain (Figure 3.3A) and loss of weak [PSI⁺] propagation in approximately 75% of colonies (Figure 3.3B). The introduction of K28G in combination with F89I led to robust rescue of the SDSS-F89I [PSI⁺] propagation defect in both the weak [*PSI*⁺] and Sc37 strains (Figure 3.3). While the addition of K24W to SDSS-F89I led to a modest increase in weak $[PSI^+]$ propagation, this change was not significant when compared to the strain expressing SDSS-F89I alone (Figure 3.3A).

3.3.4 K24W and K28G rescue [*PSI*⁺] propagation defect caused by another LGMDD1-associated mutation

Encouraged by these results, we wanted to investigate whether the K24W and K28G second-site suppressors were effective in combination with other LGMDD1 mutations. Because these second-site suppressors are not currently predicted to interact with the G/F domain and are

within close proximity to the HPD-motif, we hypothesize they may alter aspects of J-protein interaction with Hsp70s. Because of this we expected that they may be effective in rescuing defects resulting from other LGMDD1-associated mutations. Thus, we introduced the second-site suppressors in Sis1 in combination with F106L and F115I, which are homologous to LGMDD1-associated mutations DNAJB6-F93L and DNAJB6-F100I (Figure 3.1B).

We transformed the Sc37 and Weak [PSI⁺] sis1 Δ strains expressing Sis1-WT on a URA3-marked plasmid with TRP1-marked plasmids expressing Sis1-WT, Sis1-F106L, Sis1-F115I, Sis1-K24W, Sis1-K28G, Sis1-K24W-F106L, Sis1-K24W-F115I, Sis1-K28G-F106L, and Sis1-K28G-F115I. We then grew these transformants on 5-FOA to select for loss of the URA3marked SIS1-WT plasmid. Cells that grew on 5-FOA containing medium were grown in SD-trp liquid medium overnight, diluted to an OD of 0.1, serially diluted 5-fold, and spotted on SD-trp, 1/4 YPD and SD-ura (to confirm loss of the URA3-marked SIS1 plasmid). Expression of the Sis1-F106L mutation did not cause loss of the $[PSI^+]$ prion (data not shown). This result meant we could not evaluate the addition of the second site suppressors, as there was no apparent phenotypic difference between Sis1-WT and Sis1-F106L expressing colonies. However, expression of Sis1-F115I resulted in partial loss of $[PSI^+]$ propagation in both the Sc37 and weak [PSI⁺] strains. In addition, the introduction of K28G in Sis1-F115I led to rescue of the partial $[PSI^+]$ propagation defect in both the Sc37 and weak $[PSI^+]$ strains (Figure 3.4). Introduction of K24W in Sis1-F115I resulted in a mixed population of red and pink colonies in both the Sc37 and [*PSI*⁺] strains, indicating some [*PSI*⁺] propagation loss (Figure 3.4).

Once again, we wanted to further evaluate $[PSI^+]$ propagation in these cells, so we grew Sc37 and Weak $[PSI^+]$ sis1 Δ strains transformed with TRP1-marked plasmids expressing Sis1-

WT, Sis1-F115I, Sis1-K24W, Sis1-K28G, Sis1-K24W-F115I, and Sis1-K28G-F115I in SD-trp medium overnight. We plated the cultures on ¹/₄ YPD 150mm plates at concentrations that would render 200-500 colonies per plate, and evaluated the resulting colonies by color. We photographed representative plates to show the resulting phenotypes (Figure 3.5A), and recorded the number of $[PSI^+]$ and $[psi^-]$ colonies in the weak $[PSI^+]$ strains transformed with TRP1marked plasmids expressing Sis1-WT, Sis1-F115I, Sis1-K24W, Sis1-K28G, Sis1-K24W-F115I, and Sis1-K28G-F115I (Figure 3.5B). In both the Sc37 and weak [PSI⁺] strains we noted the marked increase of red ([psi⁻]) colonies upon the introduction of the Sis1-F115I mutation, which was reduced when introduced in combination with K28G (Figure 3.5A). Furthermore, while the expression of Sis1-F115I led to a 20% reduction in colonies propagating $[PSI^+]$ as compared to Sis1-WT colonies, introduction of either K24W or K28G in combination with F115I led to the rescue of this mutation-induced $[PSI^+]$ propagation defect (Figure 3.5B). These results revealed that the two second-site suppressors are effective in rescuing defects induced by multiple LGMDD1-associated mutations and warrant further investigation into the mechanism of action of this rescuing effect.

3.4 Discussion

While these data are encouraging, much work is left to be done to understand the effects of these second-site suppressors on LGMDD1-associated mutations. Through these experiments we have learned that the K28G second-site suppressor may be more effective in rescuing defects caused by LGMDD1-associated mutations. We have also seen that these second-site suppressors may be capable of rescuing defects resulting from a wide range of LGMDD1-associated mutations. This could be because these second-site suppressors affect the tertiary or quaternary structures of the SDSS or Sis1 mutants and, possibly, DNAJB6 mutants. Conversely, the second-

site suppressors could modulate interactions with Hsp70, perhaps creating conditions that are favorable for some recovery of chaperone activity by the protein.

The next steps of this project are to use an arsenal of in vitro assays to evaluate the second-site suppressors effect on various aspects of the Hsp40/70 cycle, including ATPase activity, substrate-binding activity, HSP40/70 binding, and Hsp40 dimerization. We will also examine the ability of the second-site suppressors to influence [RNQ^+] prion propagation in order to determine if the results we have seen are substrate specific. We hypothesize that the addition of second-site suppressors will result in key differences in at least one stage of the HSp40/70 cycle.

3.5 Materials and methods

3.5.1 Yeast cultures, transformations, and plasmid shuffling

Spottings and [*PSI*⁺] induction assays were performing using derivatives of 74-D694 (ade1-14 his3- Δ 200 leu2-3,112 trp1-289 ura3-52), are [*psi*⁻], [*PSI*⁺], [*rnq*⁻], or [*RNQ*⁺], and were kindly gifted by Sue Liebman and Jonathan Weissman. Yeast strains were cultured using standard techniques. YPD (1% yeast extract, 2% peptone, 2% dextrose) or synthetic defined (SD) media (0.67% yeast nitrogen base without amino acids, 2% dextrose) lacking specific amino acids. In order to study the function of second-site suppressors in SDSS and Sis1 we used *sis1* Δ cells that were previously transformed with a pRS316-*SIS1* plasmid. We then transformed these cells with a pRS314 plasmid carrying *sdss* or *sis1* mutants as described in the results section. We plated these transformants first on SD-trp media to select for the mutant plasmids, then grew the colonies on plates containing 5-fluoroorotic acid (5-FOA) to select for colonies that had lost the pRS316-*SIS1* plasmid. All plasmid transformations were performed using the standard PEG/LiOAc method. The SDSS chimera plasmid was made and used in the True lab by

Kevin Stein (Stein et al., 2014). The pRS316-*SIS1* plasmid was kindly gifted by E. Craig. Any other plasmids used are described in the results section and were constructed using standard molecular techniques.

3.5.2 Plasmid construction

SDSS mutants were created using site directed mutagenesis as described previously (Stein et al., 2014; Pullen, 2020). Using pRS314-*SIS1*, F106L and F115I mutants were generated using the Quick Change Mutagenesis Kit (Agilent Technologies #200517). Second-site suppressors were created using the Takara in-fusion cloning site-directed mutagenesis system. Mutagenesis was confirmed by sequencing the entire coding region of Sis1.

3.5.3 Yeast spotting assay

Cultures were grown overnight in selective media. OD600 of each culture was determined. Each culture was normalized to an optical density of 0.1 and spotted in 5 5-fold serial dilutions on ¹/₄ YPD, SD-ura, 5-FOA, and SD-trp using an ethanol-sterilized 48-pin replicator. Spottings were grown at 30°C for 5 days, incubated overnight at 4°C for further color development before being photographed. Each experiment was repeated 3 times.

3.5.4 [*PSI*⁺] propagation frequency

74-D694 yeast containing the indicated strains of [*PSI*⁺] and expressing the indicated *sis1* or *sdss* mutants were grown at 30°C for 16hrs with rotation. OD600 of each culture was determined and they were then plated on 150mm ¹/₄ YPD solid media plates at dilutions that would render 200-500 colonies. These plates were then incubated at 30°C for 6 days and subsequently incubated at 4°C overnight for further color development. Each colony was evaluated for color and scored [*psi*⁻] if red and [*PSI*⁺] if pink, white, or sectored. Each experiment

was repeated at least 3 times. Resulting data were analyzed and graphed using GraphPad Prism version 8.1.1 for Windows, GraphPad Software, La Jolla, California, USA.

3.6 Acknowledgements

We thank S. Liebman and J. Weissman for our reagents. We also thank K. Stein for performing the second-site suppressor screen and J. Daw for assistance with plasmid construction. We are appreciative of A. Bhadra and M. Pullen for their helpful discussions and comments on this work. 3.7 Figures

Α



В

	_					-B				
DNAJB1		J		G/F		CTDI		CTDII		
Sis1		J		G/F	G/M CT		C			
DNA.	JB6b	J		G/F		CTD				
SD	ss	J		G/F	G/M		CTI)		
Second-Site Suppressors			LGM		utation	s in Homo	logous I	rotein	s	
DNAJB1	R22W	/ R26G		DNA	JB1	F901	F94L	P98R		
Sis1	K24W	/ K28G		Sis1			F106L		F115	1
DNAJB6b	K21W	/ K25G		DNA.	JB6b	F89I	F93L	P96R	F100	N
SDSS	K24W	/ K28G		SDSS	S	F89I				
Legend										
Used in second-site suppressor screen										
Found in second-site suppressor screen										
Mutations found in LGMDD1										
Mutations used to evaluate effects of second-site suppressors										
Evaluated for effects on LGMDD1 mutations										
			_							





Figure 3.2 Second-site suppressors K24W and K28G do not affect viability and rescue prion propagation disrupted by F89I mutation. Yeast $sis1\Delta$ cells harboring the indicated SDSS expressing constructs in Sc37 and weak [*PSI*⁺] were serially diluted 5-fold and spotted on media selecting for the constructs (n=3).



Figure 3.3 Second-site suppressor mutation K28G rescues [*PSI*⁺] propagation defect resulting from F89I mutation. Yeast *sis1* Δ cells harboring the indicated SDSS expressing constructs in (A) Sc37 and (B) weak [*PSI*⁺] were grown overnight in selective media and plated at concentrations to render 200-500 colonies per plate. Plates were incubated and subsequent colonies were evaluated by color to determine if they were [*PSI*⁺] or [*psi*⁻] (n=3). * indicates p value < 0.05, ** indicates p value < 0.01.



Figure 3.4 Sis1-F115I does not affect viability and induces prion loss, which second-site suppressors K24W and K28G partially rescue. Yeast $sis1\Delta$ cells harboring the indicated Sis1 expressing constructs in Sc37 and weak [*PSI*⁺] were serially diluted 5-fold and spotted on media selecting for the constructs (n=3).



В

Weak [*PSI*⁺]



Figure 3.5 Sis1-F115I induces prion loss, which is significantly rescued by introduction of second-site suppressors K24W and K28G. Yeast $sis1\Delta$ cells harboring the indicated Sis1 expressing constructs in Sc37 and weak [*PSI*⁺] were grown overnight in selective media and plated at concentrations to render 200-500 colonies per plate. Plates were incubated and subsequent colonies were evaluated by color to determine if they were [*PSI*⁺] or [*psi*⁻] (n=3). Phenotypes can be seen in (A) and the resulting percent [*PSI*⁺] in the weak [*PSI*⁺] transformants can be seen in (B). (n=3), ** indicates p value < 0.01.

Log #	Plasmid	Auxotrophic Marker	Control
5691	pRS316-SIS1	URA3	
6404	pRS314- <i>SIS1</i>	TRP1	Х
6405	pRS314-sis1-F106L	TRP1	Х
6552	pRS314-sis1-F1151	TRP1	Х
6581	pRS314-SDSS	TRP1	Х
6600	pRS314-sdss-F89I	TRP1	Х
6863	pRS314-sdss-K24W	TRP1	Х
6864	pRS314-sdss-K28G	TRP1	Х
6865	pRS314-sdss-G68E	TRP1	Х
6868	pRS314-sdss-K24W-F89I	TRP1	
6869	pRS314-sdss-K28G-F89I	TRP1	
6870	pRS314-sdss-G68E-F89I	TRP1	
6893	pRS314- <i>sis1-K24W</i>	TRP1	Х
6894	pRS314- <i>sis1-K28G</i>	TRP1	Х
6895	pRS314-sis1-K24W-F106L	TRP1	
6896	pRS314-sis1-K28G-F106L	TRP1	
6897	pRS314-sis1-K24W-F115I	TRP1	
6898	pRS314-sis1-K28G-F115I	TRP1	

Table 3.1 Plasmids used in this study. The left-most column indicates the True Lab log number of each plasmid, the second from the left column contains the plasmid names, the third from the left column indicates the auxotrophic marker of each plasmid, and the right most column identifies the control plasmids.

Log #	Strain Information	Plasmid
2384	74D-694, Weak [<i>PSI</i> ⁺], <i>sis1</i> Δ , Mat alpha, ADE+, URA+	5691
2470	74D-694, Sc37 [<i>PSI</i> ⁺], <i>sis1</i> /, Mat A, ADE+, URA+	5691
2879	74D-694, [<i>rnq</i> ⁻], [<i>psi</i> ⁻], <i>sis1</i> /, Mat alpha, URA+	5691
3562	74D-694, Weak [<i>PSI</i> ⁺], <i>sis1</i> Δ , Mat alpha, ADE+, URA+	6581
3563	74D-694, Weak [<i>PSI</i> ⁺], <i>sis1</i> Δ , Mat alpha, ADE+, URA+	6600
3564	74D-694, Weak [<i>PSI</i> ⁺], <i>sis1</i> Δ , Mat alpha, ADE+, URA+	6869
3565	74D-694, Weak [<i>PSI</i> ⁺], <i>sis1</i> Δ , Mat alpha, ADE+, URA+	6864
3566	74D-694, Sc37 [<i>PSI</i> ⁺], <i>sis1</i> /, Mat A, ADE+, URA+	6581
3567	74D-694, Sc37 [<i>PSI</i> ⁺], <i>sis1</i> /, Mat A, ADE+, URA+	6600
3568	74D-694, Sc37 [<i>PSI</i> ⁺], <i>sis1</i> /, Mat A, ADE+, URA+	6863
3569	74D-694, Sc37 [<i>PSI</i> ⁺], <i>sis1</i> /, Mat A, ADE+, URA+	6864
3570	74D-694, Sc37 [<i>PSI</i> ⁺], <i>sis1</i> /, Mat A, ADE+, URA+	6868
3572	74D-694, Sc37 [<i>PSI</i> ⁺], <i>sis1</i> /, Mat A, ADE+, URA+	6869
3573	74D-694, [<i>rnq</i> ⁻], [<i>psi</i> ⁻], <i>sis1</i> /, Mat alpha, URA+	6581

Table 3.2 Strains used in this study. The left most column indicates the True Lab log number of each strain, the middle column contains relevant strain information, and the right most column identifies the plasmid harbored in each strain.

Chapter 4: Conclusions and Future Directions

4.1 Summary

Chapter 1 outlines the current understanding of molecular chaperones and their roles in protein folding and misfolding, chaperonopathies, and maintaining cellular homeostasis. Furthermore, the chapter reviews prion proteins, prions in yeast, human aggregate-prone proteins, and using yeast as a model system for investigating protein misfolding and aggregation. Chapter 2 presents data suggesting that disruption of a particular molecular chaperone complex, the NAC, is a possible therapeutic target for polyglutamine misfolding. This work shows that deletion of two NAC components, Egd1 and Btt1, leads to delayed and reduced polyglutamine aggregation and improved viability in the face of aggregation-induced cytotoxicity. Moreover, this combinatorial deletion changes the distribution of polyglutamine aggregates within the cell. Lastly, this chapter shows that NAC disruption changes the distribution of $[PSI^+]$ strains as well. This work builds on a growing project showing chaperone disruption can be effective in combating toxic aggregation. Chapter 3 uses an innovative genetic system to investigate possible mechanisms for rescuing LGMDD1-associated mutation effects. This chapter shows that two second-site suppressors near the conserved HPD-motif are able to rescue [PSI⁺] propagation defects caused by multiple LGMDD1-associated mutations. This work shows great promise for both in vitro studies to better understand the mechanism by which they rescue and translation into more complex disease models, such as tissue culture or animal models.

While the goals and findings of these chapters are different and seemingly disconnected, they both identify potential therapeutic avenues for treating protein misfolding diseases. We hope that future work will identify the mechanisms by which these genetic modulations affect protein aggregation and chaperone activity and that they will lead to novel and effective therapeutic strategies.

4.2 Future Directions

Studying human diseases at the organism or tissue level can be extremely challenging; yeast present a system in which genetic manipulation is more accessible and mechanistic studies are less complex and laborious to implement. Thus, it is not surprising that many mechanistic insights have been made using yeast models. The work described in chapters 2 and 3 sets the stage for examining the mechanisms of action that lead to reduced polyglutamine aggregation and cytotoxicity and rescue of defects resulting from LGMDD1-associated mutation.

4.2.1 Elucidating the mechanism by which NAC disruption affects polyglutamine aggregation and toxicity

Determine the importance of EGD2 expression in the $egd1\Delta btt1\Delta$ strain effects on polyglutamine aggregation and toxicity

Chapter 2 highlights the novel discovery that NAC disruption affects polyglutamine aggregation and toxicity, however the mechanism by which this occurs remains unknown. In yeast there are three NAC subunits, Egd1, Egd2, and Btt1. Egd1 and Btt1 are known as the β and β ' subunits and are responsible for reversibly binding the complex to the ribosome (Reimann et al., 1999). Because the *egd1 \Delt1 \Delt1* strain lacks these subunits we have hypothesized that Egd2 is not interacting with nascent polypeptides at the ribosome, but this has not been confirmed. Furthermore, even if our hypothesis is correct and Egd2 is not localizing to the ribosome and interacting with nascent polypeptides, Egd2 has other roles in the cell (Shi et al., 1995; Franke et al., 2001; Meury et al., 2010) and it is important to understand if these roles are affecting polyglutamine aggregation and toxicity. It is known that Egd2 has a UBA domain, which stabilizes the protein (Panasenko et al., 2006). Deletion of the Egd2 UBA domain has been

shown to alter Egd2 chaperone activity and stability (Panasenko et al., 2006; Panasenko et al., 2009; Ott et al., 2015). In order to assess whether Egd2 activity and stability are required for the effects of the $egd1\Delta btt1\Delta$ strain on polyglutamine aggregation, an $egd2-UBA\Delta$ construct would be expressed in the $nac\Delta$ strain, along with expanded-polyQ. If expression of this construct in the $nac\Delta$ strain resulted in recapitulation of the $egd1\Delta btt1\Delta$ phenotypes then it would be determined that the presence of Egd2, but not its chaperone activity or stability, is required for the phenotypes observed in the $egd1\Delta btt1\Delta$ strain expressing expanded polyglutamine. Conversely, if the $nac\Delta$ strain expressing the $egd2-UBA\Delta$ and expanded polyglutamine constructs does not phenocopy the $egd1\Delta btt1\Delta$ strain it would be determined that stable Egd2 is required for the phenotypes we have observed in the $egd1\Delta btt1\Delta$ strain expressing expanded polyglutamine. Because the reduction in expanded polyglutamine-induced cytotoxicity seen in the $egd1\Delta btt1\Delta$ strain was not observed in the $egd1\Delta btt1\Delta$ phenotypes.

Investigate $egd1\Delta btt1\Delta$ effects on protein misfolding responses

It is known that modulation of molecular chaperones can change the effectiveness (Chernoff et al., 1999) and cellular distribution of other molecular chaperones (Keefer and True, 2016). While previous work has shown that NAC deletion does not globally change the expression levels of many other molecular chaperones (Ssb, Ssa, Sis1, Hsp104) (Keefer and True, 2016), it remains unknown if disruption of the NAC leads to modulation of other components of the molecular chaperone and protein folding network. It is known that heat stress in HeLa cells leads to downregulation of Egd2 and that depletion of Egd2 in HeLa cells activates multiple ER stress proteins, including BiP, CHOP, and phosphorylated PERK (Hotokezaka et al.,

2009). Because expanded polyglutamine has been shown to activate the Unfolded Protein Response pathway (Duennwald et al., 2006) we hypothesize that the mechanism by which $egdl\Delta bttl\Delta$ reduces expanded polyglutamine cytotoxicity and aggregation could involve alterations to the activation of the UPR. To test this hypothesis, western blots of the WT and nac deletion strains before expression of expanded polyglutamine, 6 hours after induction, and 20 hours after induction would be performed and the resulting membranes would be probed for Kar2 (yeast homolog of Bip) and Ire1. There are many possible outcomes from this experiment. The deletion of egdl and bttl could create a cellular environment where Egd2 is no longer localized to ribosomes and instead participates in suppressing the UPR. This would lead to low signal of Kar2 and Ire1 at every time point. The deletion of egd1 and btt1 could destabilize Egd2, leading to induction of the UPR, which would result in increased Kar2 and Ire1 at every time point. There are also possibilities of one of the above scenarios occurring, but the expression of expanded polyglutamine modulates Egd2 stability in a way that leads to downstream changes in UPR activation. In any case these experiments would likely provide new insights into NAC disruption's effect on the cellular response to expanded polyglutamine expression.

Determine ability of Egd1 and Btt1 expression to rescue expanded polyglutamine aggregation and toxicity

It has been determined that loss of *egd1* and *btt1* leads to delayed aggregation and reduced cytotoxicity of expanded polyglutamine, however it remains unknown if loss of certain cellular roles of these subunits could be sufficient for these phenotypes. This could be important, as total loss of the NAC is lethal in multicellular organisms (Deng and Behringer, 1995; Bloss et al., 2003) and interruption of certain cellular roles could allow for effective treatment of protein

misfolding diseases without harming the cell. Both Egd1 and Btt1 have ribosome binding domains that can be disrupted while maintaining the domains required for dimerization and interacting with nascent polypeptides (Ott et al., 2015). Constructs of either ribosome-binding impaired Egd1 or Btt1 could be introduced in the $egd1 \Delta btt1 \Delta$ strain, along with expression of expanded polyglutamine. The strains could then be examined via fluorescent microscopy, western blotting, and spotting assays to determine the ability of expanded polyglutamine to aggregate and cause toxicity. If the cells expressing expanded polyglutamine and the Egd1 or Btt1 mutants phenocopy wild type expressing expanded polyglutamine then it could be concluded that the presence of Egd1 or Btt1 in the cell is sufficient to rescue expanded polyglutamine aggregation and toxicity. If the cells expressing expanded polyglutamine and the Egd1 or Btt1 ribosome-binding impaired mutants continue to reduce cytotoxicity and expanded polyglutamine aggregation, then it can be determined that Egd1 or Btt1 ribosome binding is required for polyglutamine aggregation and cytoxicity. Either result would allow for better understanding the importance of ribosome binding in the activity of the NAC and the relevance of this activity in protein aggregation. It is possible that abolishing NAC association with the ribosome could allow localization of the complex to expanded polyglutamine, which could invoke stronger reduction of aggregation and toxicity reduction.

Elucidate Egd2 localization in egd1 Δ btt1 Δ cells expressing expanded polyglutamine

Finally, it is important to understand the localization of Egd2 in $egd1\Delta btt1\Delta$ cells expressing expanded polyglutamine. A fluorescent tag should be added to Egd2 and confocal microscopy should be performed on $egd1\Delta btt1\Delta$ cells expressing tagged Egd2 and expanded polyglutamine for 6 and 20 hours. Egd2 could be localized to polyglutamine aggregates, in which case Egd2 would appear in and overlapping with punctate structures. Egd2 could be localized to ribosomes, in which case expression would likely appear diffuse. Egd2 could be acting in its role as a transcription factor (Shi et al., 1995), in which case it would be localized to the nucleus. Any of these outcomes would present new insights into the mechanism by which the $egd1 \Delta btt1 \Delta$ strain reduces aggregation and cytotoxicity.

4.2.2 Determining the mechanism by which second-site suppressors K24W and K28G rescue prion propagation defect induced by LGMDD1-associated mutations

Evaluate the ability of Sis1-K24W-F115I and Sis1-K28G-F115I to stimulate Hsp70 ATPase activity

An important step in the Hsp40/70 cycle is the stimulation of Hsp70 ATPase activity by Hsp40 (Craig & Marszalek et al., 2014). Hsp40 stimulation of Hsp70 ATPase activity regulates Hsp70 binding to substrate. Furthermore, recent research has shown that inhibition of the HPDmotif, which is critical for ATPase stimulation by Hsp40, is beneficial in a LGMDD1 mouse disease model (Bengoechea et al., 2020). We would hypothesize that because the K24W and K28G mutations are located spatially proximal to the HPD-motif they will affect ATPase stimulation of Hsp70 by Sis1-K24W-F115I and Sis1-K28G-F115I. In order to assess ATP hydrolysis, Sis1-WT, Sis1-F115I, Sis1-K24W, Sis1-K28G, Sis1-K24W-F115I, and Sis1-K28G-F115I would be purified and the various Sis1 substrates would be used to perform ATPase assays with Ssa1 and [RNQ^+] prion seeds.

Determine the ability of Sis1-K24W-F115I and Sis1-K28G-F115I to dimerize

Sis1 has been reported to dimerize through a dimerization domain located on the C-terminus of the protein (Sha et al., 2000). Dimerization of the protein is vitally important for substrate

binding of Sis1, and thus, of the Hsp40/70 cycle. Furthermore, it is known that dimerization is reduced in many LGMDD1-associated mutants, including Sis1-F115I (Bhadra et al., in prep). We hypothesize that the addition of either second-site suppressor will modulate dimerization of Sis1. While the second-site suppressors are not located near the C-terminus they could still affect the structure and stability of the dimer through intragenic and extragenic interactions. To do this experiment Sis1-WT, Sis1-F115I, Sis1-K24W, Sis1-K28G, Sis1-K24W-F115I, and Sis1-K28G-F115I would be purified and the resulting proteins would be used to conduct binding assays. These binding assays would show dimerization efficiency of these proteins to make homodimers. Furthermore, we could test the ability of the second-site suppressors to dimerize with Sis1-WT, or in trans with the LGMDD1-associated mutation, such as testing the ability of Sis1-F115I to dimerize with Sis1-K28G.

Determine the ability of Sis1-K24W-F115I and Sis1-K28G-F115I to act on substrate

Because Rnq1 is a known client protein of Sis1, Sis1 efficiency can be determined by measuring the speed with which Rnq1 aggregates form in vitro. To do this the fluorescent emission of Thioflavin T, which associates with beta-sheet rich structures, is measured. As more $[RNQ^+]$ aggregates form the fluorescence emission of Thioflavin T increases. Binding of Sis1 to Rnq1 slows formation of $[RNQ^+]$ aggregates, therefore Sis1 activity and effectiveness can be determined based on the fluorescent emission of Thioflavin T. We would hypothesize that Sis1-K24W-F115I and Sis1-K28G-F115I would show delayed $[RNQ^+]$ aggregation compared to Sis1-F115I. This experiment would require isolation of Sis1-WT, Sis1-K24W, Sis1-K28G, Sis1-F115I, Sis1-K24W-F115I, Sis1-K28G-F115I and unseeded RNQ monomer.

4.3 Conclusion

The previously outlined experiments are a basis for uncovering the mechanisms by which NAC disruption and second-site suppressors improve the cellular protein folding environment in the face of cellular stress. These experiments should aid in the discovery of relevant information to further each of these projects and perhaps identify new therapeutic strategies for treating neurodegenerative disorders and chaperonopathies. These experiments are crucial for furthering our understanding of how NAC disruption and the second-site suppressors of LGMDD1-associated mutants affect protein homeostasis.

In summation, this body of work identifies novel effects of chaperone modulation on protein folding. NAC modulation is shown in this work to be a potential therapeutic strategy for reducing expanded polyglutamine aggregation and toxicity. Likewise, two second-site suppressors have been shown to rescue defects induced by LGMDD1 mutations and thus can be evaluated for their potential as therapeutics to treat LGMDD1.

References

- Anisimova, A. S., Alexandrov, A. I., Makarova, N. E., Gladyshev, V. N., & Dmitriev, S. E. (2018). Protein synthesis and quality control in aging. *Aging*, 10(12), 4269–4288. www.aging-us.com4269
- Arsenovic, P. T., Maldonado, A. T., Colleluori, V. D., & Bloss, T. A. (2012). Depletion of the C. elegans NAC Engages the Unfolded Protein Response, Resulting in Increased Chaperone Expression and Apoptosis. *PLoS ONE*, 7(9). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0044038
- Atkinson, C. J., Zhang, K., Munn, A. L., Wiegmans, A., & Wei, M. Q. (2016). Prion protein scrapie and the normal cellular prion protein. *Prion*, *10*(1), 63–82. https://doi.org/10.1080/19336896.2015.1110293
- Auluck, P. K., Chan, H. Y. E., Trojanowski, J. Q., Lee, V. M., & Bonini, N. M. (2002). Chaperone Suppression of alpha-Synuclein Toxicity in a Drosophila Model for Parkinson's Disease. *Science*, 295, 865–868.
- Balchin, D., Hayer-Hartl, M., & Hartl, F. U. (2016). In vivo aspects of protein folding and quality control. *Science*, *353*(6294). https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aac4354
- Bardill, J. P., Dulle, J. E., Fisher, J. R., & True, H. L. (2009). Requirements of Hsp104p activity and Sis1p binding for propagation of the [RNQ+] prion. *Prion*, *3*(3), 151–160. https://doi.org/10.4161/pri.3.3.9662
- Barrott, J. J., & Haystead, T. A. J. (2013). Hsp90, an unlikely ally in the war on cancer. *FEBS Journal*, 280(6), 1381–1396. https://doi.org/10.1111/febs.12147
- Beatrix, B., Sakai, H., & Wiedmann, M. (2000). The α and β subunit of the nascent polypeptideassociated complex have distinct functions. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 275(48), 37838–37845. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M006368200
- Becanović, K., Nørremølle, A., Neal, S. J., Kay, C., Collins, J. A., Arenillas, D., Lilja, T., Gaudenzi, G., Manoharan, S., Doty, C. N., Beck, J., Lahiri, N., Portales-Casamar, E., Warby, S. C., Connolly, C., De Souza, R. A. G., Network, R. I. of the E. H. D., Tabrizi, S. J., Hermanson, Leavitt, B. R. (2015). A SNP in the HTT promoter alters NF-kB binding and is a bidirectional genetic modifier of Huntington disease. *Nature Neuroscience*, *18*(6), 807–816. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.4014
- Behrends, C., Langer, C. A., Boteva, R., Böttcher, U. M., Stemp, M. J., Schaffar, G., Rao, B. V., Giese, A., Kretzschmar, H., Siegers, K., & Hartl, F. U. (2006). Chaperonin TRiC Promotes the Assembly of polyQ Expansion Proteins into Nontoxic Oligomers. *Molecular Cell*, 23(6), 887–897. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2006.08.017
- Bengoechea, R., Findlay, A. R., Bhadra, A. K., Shao, H., Stein, K. C., Pittman, S. K., Daw, J. A. W., Gestwicki, J. E., True, H. L., & Weihl, C. C. (2020). Inhibition of DNAJ-HSP70 interaction improves strength in muscular dystrophy. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 140(8), 4470–4485. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI136167
- Bengoechea, R., Pittman, S. K., Tuck, E. P., True, H. L., & Weihl, C. C. (2015). Myofibrillar disruption and RNA-binding protein aggregation in a mouse model of limb-girdle muscular dystrophy 1D. *Human Molecular Genetics*, 24(23), 6588–6602. https://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/ddv363
- Bohlega, S. A., Alfawaz, S., Abou-Al-Shaar, H., Al-Hindi, H. N., Murad, H. N., Bohlega, M. S., Meyer, B. F., & Monies, D. (2018). LGMD1D myopathy with cytoplasmic and nuclear inclusions in a Saudi family due to DNAJB6 mutation. *Acta Myologica*, 37(3), 221–226.

- Borges, J. C., Seraphim, T. V., Mokry, D. Z., Almeida, F. C. L., Cyr, D. M., & Ramos, C. H. I. (2012). Identification of Regions Involved in Substrate Binding and Dimer Stabilization within the Central Domains of Yeast Hsp40 Sis1. *PLoS ONE*, 7(12), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0050927
- Bradley, M. E., Edskes, H. K., Hong, J. Y., Wickner, R. B., & Liebman, S. W. (2002). Interactions among prions and prion "strains" in yeast. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 99(SUPPL. 4), 16392–16399. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.152330699
- Campbell, L. A., & Rosenfeld, M. (2015). Infection and Atherosclerosis Development. *Arch Med Res*, 46(5), 339–350. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.arcmed.2015.05.006.Infection

Chernoff, Y. O., Grizel, A. V., Rubel, A. A., Zelinsky, A. A., Chandramowlishwaran, P., & Chernova, T. A. (2020). Application of yeast to studying amyloid and prion diseases. *Advances in Genetics*, 105, 293–380. https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.adgen.2020.01.002.Application

- Chernoff, Y. O., & Kiktev, D. A. (2016). Dual role of ribosome-associated chaperones in prion formation and propagation. *Current Genetics*, 62(4), 677–685. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00294-016-0586-2
- Chernoff, Y. O., Newnam, G. P., Kumar, J., Allen, K., & Zink, A. D. (1999). Evidence for a Protein Mutator in Yeast: Role of the Hsp70-Related Chaperone Ssb in Formation, Stability, and Toxicity of the [PSI] Prion . *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 19(12), 8103–8112. https://doi.org/10.1128/mcb.19.12.8103
- Cho, H., Shim, W. J., Liu, Y., & Shan, S. O. (2021). J-domain proteins promote client relay from Hsp70 during tail-anchored membrane protein targeting. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 296(25), 100546. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbc.2021.100546
- Collinge, J. (2001). Prion Diseases of Humans and Animals: Their Causes and Molecular Basis. 24, 519–550.
- Couthouis, J., Raphael, A. R., Siskind, C., Findlay, A. R., Jason, D., Greenleaf, W. J., Vogel, H., Day, J. W., Flanigan, K. M., & Gitler, A. D. (2014). Exome Sequencing Identifies a DNAJB6 Mutation in a Family with Dominantly-Inherited Limb-Girdle Muscular Dystrophy. *Neuromuscular Disorders*, 24(5), 431–435. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nmd.2014.01.014.Exome
- Craig, E. A., & Marszalek, J. (2014). Yeast Hsp70 and J-protein Chaperones: Function and Interaction Network. In W. A. Houry (Ed.), *The Molecular Chaperones Interaction Networks in Protein Folding and Degradation* (pp. 53–82). Springer New York. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4939-1130-1_3
- Cushman-Nick, M., Bonini, N. M., & Shorter, J. (2013). Hsp104 Suppresses Polyglutamine-Induced Degeneration Post Onset in a Drosophila MJD/SCA3 Model. *PLoS Genetics*, 9(9). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgen.1003781
- Cyr, D. M., Lu, X., & Douglas, M. G. (1992). Regulation of Hsp70 function by a eukaryotic dnaJ homolog. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 267(29), 20927–20931. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0021-9258(19)36777-8
- Davignon, J., & Ganz, P. (2004). Role of endothelial dysfunction in atherosclerosis. *Circulation*, 109(23 SUPPL.). https://doi.org/10.1161/01.cir.0000131515.03336.f8
- del Alamo, M., Hogan, D. J., Pechmann, S., Albanese, V., Brown, P. O., & Frydman, J. (2011). Defining the specificity of cotranslationally acting chaperones by systematic analysis of

mRNAs associated with ribosome-nascent chain complexes. *PLoS Biology*, *9*(7). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.1001100

- Deng, J. M., & Behringer, R. R. (1995). An insertional mutation in the BTF3 transcription factor gene leads to an early postimplantation lethality in mice. *Transgenic Research*, 4(4), 264– 269. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01969120
- Dergalev, A. A., Alexandrov, A. I., Ivannikov, R. I., Ter-Avanesyan, M. D., & Kushnirov, V. V. (2019). Yeast sup35 Prion structure: Two types, four parts, many variants. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 20(11). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms20112633
- Derkatch, I. L., Bradley, M. E., Masse, S. V. L., Zadorsky, S. P., Polozkov, G. V., Inge-Vechtomov, S. G., & Liebman, S. W. (2000). Dependence and independence of [PSI+] and [PIN+]: A two-prion system in yeast? *EMBO Journal*, 19(9), 1942–1952. https://doi.org/10.1093/emboj/19.9.1942
- Derkatch, I. L., Chernoff, Y. O., Kushnirov, V. V., Inge-Vechtomov, S. G., & Liebman, S. W. (1996). Genesis and variability of [PSI] prion factors in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. *Genetics*, 144(4), 1375–1386. https://doi.org/10.1093/genetics/144.4.1375
- Derkatch, I. L., Uptain, S. M., Outeiro, T. F., Krishnan, R., Lindquist, S. L., & Liebman, S. W. (2004). Effects of Q/N-rich, polyQ, and non-polyQ amyloids on the de novo formation of the [PSI+] prion in yeast and aggregation of Sup35 in vitro. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 101(35), 12934–12939. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0404968101
- Desantis, M. E., Leung, E. H., Sweeny, E. A., Jackrel, M. E., Cushman-Nick, M., Neuhaus-Follini, A., Vashist, S., Sochor, M. A., Knight, M. N., & Shorter, J. (2012). Operational plasticity enables Hsp104 to disaggregate diverse amyloid and nonamyloid clients. *Cell*, 151(4), 778–793. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2012.09.038
- Di Gregorio, S. E., & Duennwald, M. L. (2018). Yeast as a model to study protein misfolding in aged cells. *FEMS Yeast Research*, *18*(6), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1093/femsyr/foy054
- Ding, Y., Long, P. A., Martijn Bos, J., Shih, Y. H., Ma, X., Sundsbak, R. S., Chen, J., Jiang, Y., Zhao, L., Hu, X., Wang, J., Shi, Y., Ackerman, M. J., Lin, X., Ekker, S. C., Redfield, M. M., Olson, T. M., & Xu, X. (2016). A modifier screen identifies DNAJB6 as a cardiomyopathy susceptibility gene. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 1(14), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1172/jci.insight.88797
- Dobson, C. M. (2017). The amyloid phenomenon and its links with human disease. *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology*, 9(6), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a023648
- Doonan, L. M., Guerriero, C. J., Preston, G. M., Buck, T. M., Khazanov, N., Fisher, E. A., Senderowitz, H., & Brodsky, J. L. (2019). Hsp104 facilitates the endoplasmic-reticulum– associated degradation of disease-associated and aggregation-prone substrates. *Protein Science*, 28(7), 1290–1306. https://doi.org/10.1002/pro.3636
- Duennwald, M. L. (2011). Polyglutamine misfolding in yeast: Toxic and protective aggregation. *Prion*, 5(4), 285–290. https://doi.org/10.4161/pri.5.4.18071
- Duennwald, M. L. (2015). Cellular stress responses in protein misfolding diseases. *Future Science OA*, *1*(2). https://doi.org/10.4155/fso.15.42
- Duennwald, M. L., Jagadish, S., Giorgini, F., Muchowski, P. J., & Lindquist, S. (2006). A network of protein interactions determines polyglutamine toxicity. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 103(29), 11051–11056. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0604548103

- Duennwald, M. L., Jagadish, S., Muchowski, P. J., & Lindquist, S. (2006). Flanking sequences profoundly after polyglutamine toxicity in yeast. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 103(29), 11045–11050. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0604547103
- Duennwald, M. L., & Lindquist, S. (2008). Impaired ERAD and ER stress are early and specific events in polyglutamine toxicity. *Genes and Development*, 22(23), 3308–3319. https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.1673408
- Dulle, J. E., Bouttenot, R. E., Underwood, L. A., & True, H. L. (2013). Soluble oligomers are sufficient for transmission of a yeast prion but do not confer phenotype. *Journal of Cell Biology*, 203(2), 197–204. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.201307040
- Durrenberger, P. F., Filiou, M. D., Moran, L. B., Michael, G. J., Novoselov, S., Cheetham, M. E., Clark, P., Pearce, R. K. B., & Graeber, M. B. (2009). DnaJB6 is present in the core of Lewy bodies and is highly up-regulated in Parkinsonian astrocytes. *Journal of Neuroscience Research*, 87(1), 238–245. https://doi.org/10.1002/jnr.21819
- Findlay, A. R., Bengoechea, R., Pittman, S. K., Chou, T. F., True, H. L., & Weihl, C. C. (2019). Lithium chloride corrects weakness and myopathology in a preclinical model of LGMD1D. *Neurology: Genetics*, 5(2). https://doi.org/10.1212/NXG.00000000000318
- Finsterer, J. (2018). Genotypic and phenotypic heterogeneity of LGMD1D due to DNAJB6 mutations. *Yonsei Medical Journal*, 59(8), 1008–1009. https://doi.org/10.3349/ymj.2018.59.8.1008
- Flower, T. R., Chesnokova, L. S., Froelich, C. A., Dixon, C., & Witt, S. N. (2005). Heat shock prevents alpha-synuclein-induced apoptosis in a yeast model of Parkinson's disease. *Journal of Molecular Biology*, 351(5), 1081–1100. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmb.2005.06.060
- Franke, J., Reimann, B., Hartmann, E., Köhler, M., & Wiedmann, B. (2001). Evidence for a nuclear passage of nascent polypeptide-associated complex subunits in yeast. *Journal of Cell Science*, 114(14), 2641–2648. https://doi.org/10.1242/jcs.114.14.2641
- Freeman, B. C., Myers, M. P., Schumacher, R., & Morimoto, R. I. (1995). Identification of a regulatory motif in Hsp70 that affects ATPase activity, substrate binding and interaction with HDJ-1. *EMBO Journal*, 14(10), 2281–2292. https://doi.org/10.1002/j.1460-2075.1995.tb07222.x
- Frydman, J. (2001). Folding of Newly Translated Proteins In Vivo: The Role of Molecular Chaperones. *Annual Review of Biochemistry*, 70, 603–647.
- Galkin, A. P. (2017). Prions and the concept of polyprionic inheritance. *Current Genetics*, 63(5), 799–802. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00294-017-0685-8
- Gamerdinger, M., Kobayashi, K., Wallisch, A., Kreft, S. G., Sailer, C., Schlömer, R., Sachs, N., Jomaa, A., Stengel, F., Ban, N., & Deuerling, E. (2019). Early Scanning of Nascent Polypeptides inside the Ribosomal Tunnel by NAC. *Molecular Cell*, 75(5), 996-1006.e8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2019.06.030
- Garrido, C., Brunet, M., Didelot, C., Zermati, Y., Schmitt, E., & Kroemer, G. (2006). Heat shock proteins 27 and 70: Anti-apoptotic proteins with tumorigenic properties. *Cell Cycle*, *5*(22), 2592–2601. https://doi.org/10.4161/cc.5.22.3448
- George, R., Beddoe, T., Landl, K., & Lithgow, T. (1998). The yeast nascent polypeptideassociated complex initiates protein targeting to mitochondria in vivo. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 95(5), 2296–2301. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.95.5.2296

- George, R., Walsh, P., Beddoe, T., & Lithgow, T. (2002). The nascent polypeptide-associated complex (NAC) promotes interaction of ribosomes with the mitochondrial surface in vivo. *FEBS Letters*, *516*(1–3), 213–216. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0014-5793(02)02528-0
- Gloge, F., Becker, A. H., Kramer, G., & Bukau, B. (2014). Co-translational mechanisms of protein maturation. *Current Opinion in Structural Biology*, 24(1), 24–33. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbi.2013.11.004
- Gokhale, K. C., Newnam, G. P., Sherman, M. Y., & Chernoff, Y. O. (2005). Modulation of prion-dependent polyglutamine aggregation and toxicity by chaperone proteins in the yeast model. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 280(24), 22809–22818. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M500390200
- Gong, H., Romanova, N. V., Allen, K. D., Chandramowlishwaran, P., Gokhale, K., Newnam, G. P., Mieczkowski, P., Sherman, M. Y., & Chernoff, Y. O. (2012). Polyglutamine toxicity is controlled by prion composition and gene dosage in yeast. *PLoS Genetics*, 8(4). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgen.1002634
- Greene, L. E., Saba, F., Silberman, R. E., & Zhao, X. (2020). Mechanisms for curing yeast prions. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 21(18), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms21186536
- Gruber, A., Hornburg, D., Antonin, M., Krahmer, N., Collado, J., Schaffer, M., Zubaite, G., Lüchtenborg, C., Sachsenheimer, T., Brügger, B., Mann, M., Baumeister, W., Hartl, F. U., Hipp, M. S., & Fernández-Busnadiego, R. (2018). Molecular and structural architecture of polyQ aggregates in yeast. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 115(15), E3446–E3453. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1717978115
- Gumiero, A., Conz, C., Gesé, G. V., Zhang, Y., Weyer, F. A., Lapouge, K., Kappes, J., Von Plehwe, U., Schermann, G., Fitzke, E., Wölfle, T., Fischer, T., Rospert, S., & Sinning, I. (2016). Interaction of the cotranslational Hsp70 Ssb with ribosomal proteins and rRNA depends on its lid domain. *Nature Communications*, 7. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms13563
- Guo, B., Huang, J., Wu, W., Feng, D., Wang, X., Chen, Y., & Zhang, H. (2014). The nascent polypeptide-associated complex is essential for autophagic flux. *Autophagy*, 10(10), 1738– 1748. https://doi.org/10.4161/auto.29638
- Hansen, W., Cowan, N., & Welch, W. (1999). Prefoldin-Nascent Chain Complexes in the Folding of Cytoskeletal Proteins. *The Journal of Cell Biology*, 145(2), 265–277. https://doi.org/10.1016/B0-12-370879-6/00108-3
- Harms, M. B., Sommerville, R. B., Allred, P., Bell, S., Ma, D., Cooper, P., Lopate, G., Pestronk, A., Weihl, C. C., & Baloh, R. H. (2012). Exome sequencing reveals DNAJB6 mutations in dominantly-inherited myopathy. *Annals of Neurology*, 71(3), 407–416. https://doi.org/10.1002/ana.22683
- Hartl, F. U., Bracher, A., & Hayer-Hartl, M. (2011). Molecular chaperones in protein folding and proteostasis. *Nature*, 475(7356), 324–332. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature10317
- Helary, L., Castille, J., Passet, B., Vaiman, A., Beauvallet, C., Jaffrezic, F., Charles, M., Tamzini, M., Baraige, F., Letheule, M., Laubier, J., Moazami-Goudarzi, K., Vilotte, J. L., Blanquet, V., & Duchesne, A. (2019). DNAJC2 is required for mouse early embryonic development. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 516(1), 258–263. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2019.06.009
- Higgins, R., Kabbaj, M. H., Hatcher, A., & Wang, Y. (2018). The absence of specific yeast heatshock proteins leads to abnormal aggregation and compromised autophagic clearance of

mutant Huntingtin proteins. *PLoS ONE*, *13*(1), 1–21.https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone. 0191490

- Higurashi, T., Sahi, C., & Craig, E. A. (2007). J-protein co-chaperone Sis1 required for generation of [RNQ+] seeds necessary for prion propagation. *EMBO Journal*, 26(16), 3794–3803. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.emboj.7601811
- Higurashi, T., Hines, J. K., Sahi, C., Aron, R., & Craig, E. A. (2008). Specificity of the J-protein Sis1 in the propagation of 3 yeast prions. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* of the United States of America, 105(43), 16596–16601. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0808934105
- Hines, J. K., Higurashi, T., Srinivasan, M., & Craig, E. A. (2011). Influence of prion variant and yeast strain variation on prion-molecular chaperone requirements. *Prion*, 5(4), 238–244. https://doi.org/10.4161/pri.5.4.17818
- Hiraishi, H., Shimada, T., Ohtsu, I., Sato, T. A., & Takagi, H. (2009). The yeast ubiquitin ligase Rsp5 downregulates the alpha subunit of nascent polypeptide-associated complex Egd2 under stress conditions. *FEBS Journal*, 276(18), 5287–5297. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1742-4658.2009.07226.x
- Hodgkin, J. (2005). Genetic suppression. *WormBook : The Online Review of C. Elegans Biology*, 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1895/wormbook.1.59.1
- Hofer, S., Kainz, K., Zimmermann, A., Bauer, M. A., Pendl, T., Poglitsch, M., Madeo, F., & Carmona-Gutierrez, D. (2018). Studying Huntington's Disease in Yeast: From Mechanisms to Pharmacological Approaches. *Frontiers in Molecular Neuroscience*, 11(September), 1– 20. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnmol.2018.00318
- Hotokezaka, Y., van Leyen, K., Lo, E. H., Beatrix, B., Katayama, I., Jin, G., & Nakamura, T. (2009). αNAC depletion as an initiator of ER stress-induced apoptosis in hypoxia. *Cell Death and Differentiation*, 16(11), 1505–1514. https://doi.org/10.1038/cdd.2009.90
- Hsieh, H. H., Lee, J. H., Chandrasekar, S., & Shan, S. ou. (2020). A ribosome-associated chaperone enables substrate triage in a cotranslational protein targeting complex. *Nature Communications*, *11*(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-020-19548-5
- Hu, G. zhen, & Ronne, H. (1994). Yeast BTF3 protein is encoded by duplicated genes and inhibits the expression of some genes in vivo. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 22(14), 2740–2743. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/22.14.2740
- Hu, J., Wu, Y., Li, J., Qian, X., Fu, Z., & Sha, B. (2008). The crystal structure of the putative peptide-binding fragment from the human Hsp40 protein Hdj1. *BMC Structural Biology*, 8, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1186/1472-6807-8-3
- Huang, V. J., Stein, K. C., & True, H. L. (2013). Spontaneous Variants of the [RNQ+] Prion in Yeast Demonstrate the Extensive Conformational Diversity Possible with Prion Proteins. *PLoS ONE*, 8(10), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0079582
- Huang, Y. W., & King, C. Y. (2020). A complete catalog of wild-type Sup35 prion variants and their protein-only propagation. *Current Genetics*, 66(1), 97–122. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00294-019-01003-8
- Hung, G. C., & Masison, D. C. (2006). N-terminal domain of yeast Hsp104 chaperone is dispensable for thermotolerance and prion propagation but necessary for curing prions by Hsp104 overexpression. *Genetics*, 173(2), 611–620. https://doi.org/10.1534/genetics.106.056820

- Hwang, J., & Qi, L. (2018). Quality Control in the Endoplasmic Reticulum: Crosstalk between ERAD and UPR pathways. *Trends in Biochemical Sciences*, *43*(8), 593–605. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tibs.2018.06.005
- Iwaya, J. (2002). Press forming technologies for high strength steel sheets used for automotive body parts. *R and D: Research and Development Kobe Steel Engineering Reports*, 52(3), 23–27.
- Jakic, B., Carlsson, M., Buszko, M., Cappellano, G., Ploner, C., Onestingel, E., Foti, M., Hackl, H., Demetz, E., Dietrich, H., Wick, C., & Wick, G. (2019). The Effects of Endurance Exercise and Diet on Atherosclerosis in Young and Aged ApoE -/- and Wild-Type Mice. *Gerontology*, 65(1), 45–56. https://doi.org/10.1159/000492571
- Jiang, Y. J., Che, M. X., Yuan, J. Q., Xie, Y. Y., Yan, X. Z., & Hu, H. Y. (2011). Interaction with polyglutamine-expanded huntingtin alters cellular distribution and RNA processing of huntingtin yeast two-hybrid protein A (HYPA). *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 286(28), 25236–25245. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M110.216333
- Jonson, P. H., Palmio, J., Johari, M., Penttilä, S., Evilä, A., Nelson, I., Bonne, G., Wiart, N., Meyer, V., Boland, A., Deleuze, J. F., Masson, C., Stojkovic, T., Chapon, F., Romero, N. B., Solé, G., Ferrer, X., Ferreiro, A., Hackman, P., ... Udd, B. (2018). Novel mutations in DNAJB6 cause LGMD1D and distal myopathy in French families. *European Journal of Neurology*, 25(5), 790–794. https://doi.org/10.1111/ene.13598
- Juenemann, K., Schipper-Krom, S., Wiemhoefer, A., Kloss, A., Sanz, A. S., & Reits, E. A. J. (2013). Expanded polyglutamine-containing N-terminal huntingtin fragments are entirely degraded by mammalian proteasomes. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 288(38), 27068– 27084. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M113.486076
- Kakkar, V., Prins, L. C. B., & Kampinga, H. H. (2013). DNAJ Proteins and Protein Aggregation Diseases. *Current Topics in Medicinal Chemistry*, 999(999), 29–35. https://doi.org/10.2174/15680266112129990070
- Kalastavadi, T., & True, H. L. (2010). Analysis of the [RNQ+] prion reveals stability of amyloid fibers as the key determinant of yeast prion variant propagation. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 285(27), 20748–20755. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M110.115303
- Kampinga, H. H., & Craig, E. A. (2010). The HSP70 chaperone machinery: J proteins as drivers of functional specificity. *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology*, 11(8), 579–592. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm2941
- Karamanos, T. K., Tugarinov, V., & Clore, G. M. (2019). Unraveling the structure and dynamics of the human DNAJB6b chaperone by NMR reveals insights into Hsp40-mediated proteostasis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 116(43), 21529–21538. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1914999116
- Keefer, K. M., & True, H. L. (2016). Prion-Associated Toxicity is Rescued by Elimination of Cotranslational Chaperones. *PLoS Genetics*, 12(11), 1–23. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgen.1006431
- Keefer, K. M. (2017). Factors that Contribute to de novo Protein Misfolding and Prion Formation in Saccharomyces cerevisiae.
- Khurana, V., & Lindquist, S. (2010). Modelling neurodegeneration in Saccharomyces cerevisiae: Why cook with baker's yeast? *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, *11*(6), 436–449. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn2809

- Kim, H.-Y. (2017). Statistical notes for clinical researchers: Chi-squared test and Fisher's exact test. *Restorative Dentistry & Endodontics*, 42(2), 152. https://doi.org/10.5395/rde.2017.42.2.152
- Kim, K., Park, H. J., Lee, J. H., Hong, J., Ahn, S. W., & Choi, Y. C. (2018). Two Korean families with limb-girdle muscular dystrophy type 1D associated with DNAJB6 mutations. *Yonsei Medical Journal*, 59(5), 698–701. https://doi.org/10.3349/ymj.2018.59.5.698
- Kim, Y. E., Hipp, M. S., Bracher, A., Hayer-Hartl, M., & Ulrich Hartl, F. (2013). Molecular chaperone functions in protein folding and proteostasis. In *Annual Review of Biochemistry* (Vol. 82). https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-biochem-060208-092442
- Kimura, Y., Koitabashi, S., Kakizuka, A., & Fujita, T. (2001). Initial process of polyglutamine aggregate formation in vivo. *Genes to Cells*, *6*(10), 887–897. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2443.2001.00472.x
- Kimura, Y., Koitabashi, S., kakizuka, A., & Fujita, T. (2004). The role of pre-existing aggregates in Hsp104-dependent polyglutamine aggregate formation and epigenetic change of yeast prions. *Genes to Cells*, *9*(8), 685–696. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1356-9597.2004.00759.x
- Kitamura, A., Kubota, H., Pack, C. G., Matsumoto, G., Hirayama, S., Takahashi, Y., Kimura, H., Kinjo, M., Morimoto, R. I., & Nagata, K. (2006). Cytosolic chaperonin prevents polyglutamine toxicity with altering the aggregation state. *Nature Cell Biology*, 8(10), 1163–1170. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb1478
- Klaips, C. L., Gropp, M. H. M., Hipp, M. S., & Hartl, F. U. (2020). Sis1 potentiates the stress response to protein aggregation and elevated temperature. *Nature Communications*, *11*(1), 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-020-20000-x
- Klucken, J., Shin, Y., Masliah, E., Hyman, B. T., & McLean, P. J. (2004). Hsp70 reduces αsynuclein aggregation and toxicity. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 279(24), 25497– 25502. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M400255200
- Kogan, G. L., & Gvozdev, V. A. (2014). Multifunctional nascent polypeptide-associated complex (NAC). *Molecular Biology*, 48(2), 189–196. https://doi.org/10.1134/S0026893314020095
- Koplin, A., Preissler, S., Llina, Y., Koch, M., Scior, A., Erhardt, M., & Deuerling, E. (2010). A dual function for chaperones SSB-RAC and the NAC nascent polypeptide-associated complex on ribosomes. *Journal of Cell Biology*, 189(1), 57–68. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.200910074
- Kosolapov, A., & Deutsch, C. (2009). Tertiary interactions within the ribosomal exit tunnel. *Nature Structural and Molecular Biology*, *16*(4), 405–411. https://doi.org/10.1038/nsmb.1571
- Kouřil, R., Nosek, L., Semchonok, D., Boekema, E. J., & Ilík, P. (2018). Organization of plant photosystem II and photosystem I supercomplexes. In *Subcellular Biochemistry* (Vol. 87). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-10-7757-9_9
- Kraus, A., Groveman, B. R., & Caughey, B. (2013). Prions and the Potential Transmissibility of Protein Misfolding Diseases. *Annual Review Microbiology*, 67, 543–564. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2017.03.040
- Krobitsch, S., & Lindquist, S. (2000). Aggregation of huntingtin in yeast varies with the length of the polyglutamine expansion and the expression of chaperone proteins. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 97(4), 1589–1594. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.97.4.1589

- Kumar, J., Kline, N. L., & Masison, D. C. (2018). Human DnaJB6 Antiamyloid Chaperone Protects Yeast from Polyglutamine Toxicity Separately from Spatial Segregation of Aggregates. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 38(23), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1128/mcb.00437-18
- Kumar, S., Stokes III, J., Singh, U., Gunn, K., Acharya, A., Manne, U., & Mishra, M. (2016). Targeting Hsp70: A possible therapy for cancer Sanjay. *Cancer Letters*, *374*(1), 156–166. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.canlet.2016.01.056.Targeting
- Kurtishi, A., Rosen, B., Patil, K. S., Alves, G. W., & Møller, S. G. (2019). Cellular Proteostasis in Neurodegeneration. *Molecular Neurobiology*, 56(5), 3676–3689. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12035-018-1334-z
- Kushnirov, V. V, Kryndushkin, D. S., Boguta, M., Smirnov, V. N., & Ter-Avanesyan, M. D. (2000). Chaperones that cure yeast artificial. *Current Biology*, *10*(22), 1443–1446.
- Lackie, R. E., Maciejewski, A., Ostapchenko, V. G., Marques-Lopes, J., Choy, W. Y., Duennwald, M. L., Prado, V. F., & Prado, M. A. M. (2017). The Hsp70/Hsp90 chaperone machinery in neurodegenerative diseases. *Frontiers in Neuroscience*, 11(MAY), 1–23. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2017.00254
- Laguesse, S., & Ron, D. (2020). Protein Translation and Psychiatric Disorders. *Neuroscientist*, 26(1), 21–42. https://doi.org/10.1177/1073858419853236.Protein
- Lajoie, P., & Snapp, E. L. (2012). Changes in BiP availability reveal hypersensitivity to acute endoplasmic reticulum stress in cells expressing mutant huntingtin. https://doi.org/10.1242/jcs.107870
- Lajoie, P., & Snapp, E. L. (2010). Formation and Toxicity of Soluble Polyglutamine Oligomers in Living Cells. *PLoS ONE*, *5*(12), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0015245
- Leitman, J., Hartl, F. U., & Lederkremer, G. Z. (2013). ARTICLE Soluble forms of polyQexpanded huntingtin rather than large aggregates cause endoplasmic reticulum stress. *Nature Communications*. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms3753
- Leverenz, J. B., Umar, I., Wang, Q., Montine, T. J., McMillan, P. J., Tsuang, D. W., Jin, J., Pan, C., Shin, J., Zhu, D., & Zhang, J. (2007). Proteomic identification of novel proteins in cortical Lewy bodies. *Brain Pathology*, 17(2), 139–145. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1750-3639.2007.00048.x
- Li Volti, G. (2013). The Chaperonopathies Diseases with Defective Molecular Chaperones. In European Journal of Histochemistry (Vol. 57, Issue 4). https://doi.org/10.4081/ejh.2013.br15
- Li, L. B., Xu, K., & Bonini, N. M. (2007). Suppression of polyglutamine toxicity by the yeast Sup35 prion domain in Drosophila. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 282(52), 37694– 37701. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M705211200
- Liebman, S. W., & Chernoff, Y. O. (2012). Prions in yeast. *Genetics*, 191(4), 1041–1072. https://doi.org/10.1534/genetics.111.137760
- Liewluck, T., & Milone, M. (2018). Untangling the complexity of limb-girdle muscular dystrophies. *Muscle and Nerve*, 58(2), 167–177. https://doi.org/10.1002/mus.26077
- Linxweiler, M., Schick, B., & Zimmermann, R. (2017). Let's talk about secs: Sec61, sec62 and sec63 in signal transduction, oncology and personalized medicine. *Signal Transduction and Targeted Therapy*, 2(January), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1038/sigtrans.2017.2
- Liu, Y., Hu, Y., Li, X., Niu, L., & Teng, M. (2010). The crystal structure of the human nascent polypeptide-associated complex domain reveals a nucleic acid-binding region on the NACA subunit. *Biochemistry*, 49(13), 2890–2896. https://doi.org/10.1021/bi902050p

- Liutkute, M., Samatova, E., & Rodnina, M. V. (2020). Cotranslational folding of proteins on the ribosome. *Biomolecules*, *10*(1). https://doi.org/10.3390/biom10010097
- Lotz, G. P., & Weiss, A. (2013). Immuno-based detection assays to quantify distinct mutant huntingtin conformations in biological samples. In *Methods in Molecular Biology* (Vol. 1017). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-62703-438-8_12
- Lu, J., & Deutsch, C. (2005). Folding zones inside the ribosomal exit tunnel. *Nature Structural and Molecular Biology*, *12*(12), 1123–1129. https://doi.org/10.1038/nsmb1021
- Luk, K. C., Mills, I. P., Trojanowski, J. Q., & Lee, V. M. Y. (2008). Interactions between Hsp70 and the hydrophobic core of α-synuclein inhibit fibril assembly. *Biochemistry*, 47(47), 12614–12625. https://doi.org/10.1021/bi801475r
- Lupo, V., Aguado, C., Knecht, E., & Espinós, C. (2016). Chaperonopathies: Spotlight on hereditary motor neuropathies. *Frontiers in Molecular Biosciences*, 3(DEC), 1–7. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmolb.2016.00081
- Macario, A. J. L., & Conway de Macario, E. (2007). Chaperonopathies and chaperonotherapy. *FEBS Letters*, *581*(19), 3681–3688. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.febslet.2007.04.030
- Macario, A. J. L., & De Macario, E. C. (2019). Chaperone proteins and chaperonopathies. *Stress: Physiology, Biochemistry, and Pathology Handbook of Stress Series, Volume 3*, 135–152. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-813146-6.00012-6
- Macario, A. J. L., & de Macario, E. C. (2020). Molecular mechanisms in chaperonopathies: clues to understanding the histopathological abnormalities and developing novel therapies. *Journal of Pathology*, 250(1), 9–18. https://doi.org/10.1002/path.5349
- Macario, A. J. L., & De Macario, E. C. (2007). Chaperonopathies by defect, excess, or mistake. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, *1113*, 178–191. https://doi.org/10.1196/annals.1391.009
- Marín-Moreno, A., Fernández-Borges, N., Espinosa, J. C., Andréoletti, O., & Torres, J. M. (2017). Transmission and Replication of Prions. *Progress in Molecular Biology and Translational Science*, *150*, 181–201. https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.pmbts.2017.06.014
- Marino Gammazza, A., Caruso Bavisotto, C., Barone, R., Conway de Macario, E., & J.L. Macario, A. (2016). Alzheimer's Disease and Molecular Chaperones: Current Knowledge and the Future of Chaperonotherapy. *Current Pharmaceutical Design*, 22(26), 4040–4049. https://doi.org/10.2174/1381612822666160518141437
- Mason, R. P., & Giorgini, F. (2011). Modeling huntington disease in yeast: Perspectives and future directions. *Prion*, 5(4), 269–276. https://doi.org/10.4161/pri.5.4.18005
- McColgan, P., & Tabrizi, S. J. (2018). Huntington's disease: a clinical review. *European Journal* of Neurology, 25(1), 24–34. https://doi.org/10.1111/ene.13413
- McLean, P. J., Kawamata, H., Shariff, S., Hewett, J., Sharma, N., Ueda, K., Breakefield, X. O., & Hyman, B. T. (2002). TorsinA and heat shock proteins act as molecular chaperones: Suppression of α-synuclein aggregation. *Journal of Neurochemistry*, 83(4), 846–854. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1471-4159.2002.01190.x
- McLean, P. J., Klucken, J., Shin, Y., & Hyman, B. T. (2004). Geldanamycin induces Hsp70 and prevents α-synuclein aggregation and toxicity in vitro. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, *321*(3), 665–669. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2004.07.021
- Meriin, A. B., Zhang, X., He, X., Newnam, G. P., Chernoff, Y. O., & Sherman, M. Y. (2002). Huntingtin toxicity in yeast model depends on polyglutamine aggregation mediated by a prion-like protein Rnq1. *Journal of Cell Biology*, 157(6), 997–1004. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.200112104
Meriin, A. B., Zhang, X., Miliaras, N. B., Kazantsev, A., Chernoff, Y. O., McCaffery, J. M., Wendland, B., & Sherman, M. Y. (2003). Aggregation of Expanded Polyglutamine Domain in Yeast Leads to Defects in Endocytosis. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 23(21), 7554– 7565. https://doi.org/10.1128/mcb.23.21.7554-7565.2003

Merrick, W. C., & Pavitt, G. D. (2018). Protein synthesis initiation in eukaryotic cells. Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology, 10(12), 1–22. https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a033092

Meury, T., Akhouayri, O., Jafarov, T., Mandic, V., & St-Arnaud, R. (2010). Nuclear αNAC Influences Bone Matrix Mineralization and Osteoblast Maturation In Vivo . *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, *30*(1), 43–53. https://doi.org/10.1128/mcb.00378-09

Microbiol, M. (2016). *Requirements for Chaperone Activity*. 93(6), 1156–1171. https://doi.org/10.1111/mmi.12725.Structural

Millán-Zambrano, G., & Chávez, S. (2014). Nuclear functions of prefoldin. *Open Biology*, 4(JULY). https://doi.org/10.1098/rsob.140085

Moseng, M. A., Nix, J. C., & Page, R. C. (2019). Biophysical Consequences of EVEN-PLUS Syndrome Mutations for the Function of Mortalin. *Journal of Physical Chemistry B*, *123*(16), 3383–3396. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jpcb.9b00071

Muchowski, P. J., Schaffar, G., Sittler, A., Wanker, E. E., Hayer-Hartl, M. K., & Hartl, F. U. (2000). Hsp70 and Hsp40 chaperones can inhibit self-assembly of polyglutamine proteins into amyloid-like fibrils. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 97(14), 7841–7846. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.140202897

- Nam, T. S., Li, W., Heo, S. H., Lee, K. H., Cho, A., Shin, J. H., Kim, Y. O., Chae, J. H., Kim, D. S., Kim, M. K., & Choi, S. Y. (2015). A novel mutation in DNAJB6, p.(Phe91Leu), in childhood-onset LGMD1D with a severe phenotype. *Neuromuscular Disorders*, 25(11), 843–851. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nmd.2015.08.002
- Namy, O., Galopier, A., Martini, C., Matsufuji, S., Fabret, C., & Rousset, J. P. (2008). Epigenetic control of polyamines by the prion [PSI+]. *Nature Cell Biology*, 10(9), 1069– 1075. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb1766
- Natan, E., Wells, J. N., Teichmann, S. A., & Marsh, J. A. (2017). Regulation, evolution and consequences of cotranslational protein complex assembly. *Current Opinion in Structural Biology*, 42, 90–97. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbi.2016.11.023

Nitika, Porter, C. M., Truman, A. W., & Truttmann, M. C. (2020). Post-translational modifications of Hsp70 family proteins: Expanding the chaperone code. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 295(31), 10689–10708. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.REV120.011666

- Nyathi, Y., & Pool, M. R. (2015). Analysis of the interplay of protein biogenesis factors at the ribosome exit site reveals new role for NAC. *Journal of Cell Biology*, *210*(2), 287–301. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.201410086
- Ortega, Z., & Lucas, J. J. (2014). Ubiquitin-proteasome system involvement in huntington's disease. *Frontiers in Molecular Neuroscience*, 7(SEP), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnmol.2014.00077
- Ott, A. K., Locher, L., Koch, M., & Deuerling, E. (2015). Functional dissection of the nascent polypeptide-associated complex in saccharomyces cerevisiae. *PLoS ONE*, *10*(11), 1–19. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0143457
- Otzen, D., & Riek, R. (2019). Functional amyloids. *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology*, *11*(12). https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a033860

- Outeiro, T. F., & Giorgini, F. (2006). Yeast as a drug discovery platform in Huntington's and Parkinson's diseases. *Biotechnology Journal*, 1(3), 258–269. https://doi.org/10.1002/biot.200500043
- Outeiro, T. F., Putcha, P., Tetzlaff, J. E., Spoelgen, R., Koker, M., Carvalho, F., Hyman, B. T., & McLean, P. J. (2008). Formation of toxic oligomeric α-synuclein species in living cells. *PLoS ONE*, 3(4), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0001867
- Palmio, J., Jonson, P. H., Evilä, A., Auranen, M., Straub, V., Bushby, K., Sarkozy, A., Kiuru-Enari, S., Sandell, S., Pihko, H., Hackman, P., & Udd, B. (2015). Novel mutations in DNAJB6 gene cause a very severe early-onset limb-girdle muscular dystrophy 1D disease. *Neuromuscular Disorders*, 25(11), 835–842. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nmd.2015.07.014
- Palmio, J., Jonson, P. H., Inoue, M., Sarparanta, J., Bengoechea, R., Savarese, M., Vihola, A., Jokela, M., Nakagawa, M., Noguchi, S., Olivé, M., Masingue, M., Kerty, E., Hackman, P., Weihl, C. C., Nishino, I., & Udd, B. (2020). Mutations in the J domain of DNAJB6 cause dominant distal myopathy. *Neuromuscular Disorders*, 30(1), 38–46. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nmd.2019.11.005
- Panasenko, O. O., David, F. P. A., & Collart, M. A. (2009). Ribosome association and stability of the nascent polypeptide-associated complex is dependent upon its own ubiquitination. *Genetics*, 181(2), 447–460. https://doi.org/10.1534/genetics.108.095422
- Papsdorf, K., Kaiser, C. J. O., Drazic, A., Grötzinger, S. W., Haeßner, C., Eisenreich, W., & Richter, K. (2015). Polyglutamine toxicity in yeast induces metabolic alterations and mitochondrial defects. *BMC Genomics*, 16(1), 1–18. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12864-015-1831-7
- Parma, B., Ramesh, V., Gollavilli, P. N., Siddiqui, A., Pinna, L., Schwab, A., Marschall, S., Zhang, S., Pilarsky, C., Napoli, F., Volante, M., Urbanczyk, S., Mielenz, D., Schrøder, H. D., Stemmler, M., Wurdak, H., & Ceppi, P. (2021). Metabolic impairment of non-small cell lung cancers by mitochondrial HSPD1 targeting. *Journal of Experimental and Clinical Cancer Research*, 40(1), 1–20. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13046-021-02049-8
- Parsell, D. A., Kowal, A. S., & Lindquist, S. (1994). Saccharomyces cerevisiae Hsp104 protein. Purification and characterization of ATP-induced structural changes. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 269(6), 4480–4487. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0021-9258(17)41804-7
- Parsell, D. A., Kowal, A. S., Singer, M. A., & Lindquist, S. (1994). Protein disaggregation. *Nature*, *372*, 475–478.
- Parthun, M. R., Mangus, D. A., & Jaehning, J. A. (1992). The EGD1 product, a yeast homolog of human BTF3, may be involved in GAL4 DNA binding. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 12(12), 5683–5689. https://doi.org/10.1128/mcb.12.12.5683-5689.1992
- Patel, K. A., Chaudhary, R. K., & Roy, I. (2018). RNA Aptamers Rescue Mitochondrial Dysfunction in a Yeast Model of Huntington's Disease. *Molecular Therapy - Nucleic Acids*, 12(September), 45–56. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.omtn.2018.04.010
- Peters, T. W., Nelson, C. S., Gerencser, A. A., Dumas, K. J., Tavshanjian, B., Chang, K. C., Lithgow, G. J., & Hughes, R. E. (2018). Natural genetic variation in yeast reveals that NEDD4 is a conserved modifier of mutant polyglutamine aggregation. *G3: Genes, Genomes, Genetics*, 8(11), 3421–3431. https://doi.org/10.1534/g3.118.200289
- Ponce-Rojas, J. C., Avendaño-Monsalve, M. C., Yañez-Falcón, A. R., Jaimes-Miranda, F., Garay, E., Torres-Quiroz, F., DeLuna, A., & Funes, S. (2017). αβ'-NAC cooperates with Sam37 to mediate early stages of mitochondrial protein import. *FEBS Journal*, 284(5), 814– 830. https://doi.org/10.1111/febs.14024

- Preissler, S., & Deuerling, E. (2012). Ribosome-associated chaperones as key players in proteostasis. *Trends in Biochemical Sciences*, *37*(7), 274–283. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tibs.2012.03.002
- Preston, G. M., Guerriero, C. J., Metzger, M. B., Michaelis, S., & Brodsky, J. L. (2018). Substrate Insolubility Dictates Hsp104-Dependent Endoplasmic-Reticulum-Associated Degradation. *Molecular Cell*, 70(2), 242-253.e6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2018.03.016
- Prodromou, C., Siligardi, G., O'Brien, R., Woolfson, D. N., Regan, L., Panaretou, B., Ladbury, J. E., Piper, P. W., & Pearl, L. H. (1999). Regulation of Hsp90 ATPase activity by tetratricopeptide repeat (TPR)-domain co-chaperones. *EMBO Journal*, 18(3), 754–762. https://doi.org/10.1093/emboj/18.3.754
- Prusiner, S. B. (1998). Prions. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 95(23), 13363–13383. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.95.23.13363
- Pullen, M. Y., Weihl, C. C., & True, H. L. (2020). Client processing is altered by novel myopathy-causing mutations in the HSP40 J domain. *PLoS ONE*, 15(6), 1–19. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0234207
- Reidy, M., Sharma, R., Roberts, B. L., & Masison, D. C. (2016). Human J-protein DnaJB6b cures a subset of saccharomyces cerevisiae prions and selectively blocks assembly of structurally related amyloids. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 291(8), 4035–4047. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M115.700393
- Reimann, B., Bradsher, J., Franke, J., Hartmann, E., Wiedmann, M., Prehn, S., & Wiedmann, B. (1999). Initial characterization of the nascent polypeptide-associated complex in yeast. *Yeast*, 15(5), 397–407. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1097-0061(19990330)15:5<397::AID-YEA384>3.0.CO;2-U
- Rencus-Lazar, S., DeRowe, Y., Adsi, H., Gazit, E., & Laor, D. (2019). Yeast models for the study of amyloid-associated disorders and development of future therapy. *Frontiers in Molecular Biosciences*, 6(MAR), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmolb.2019.00015
- Retzlaff, M., Hagn, F., Mitschke, L., Hessling, M., Gugel, F., Kessler, H., Richter, K., & Buchner, J. (2010). Asymmetric Activation of the Hsp90 Dimer by Its Cochaperone Aha1. *Molecular Cell*, 37, 344–354. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-018-0462-y.Cotranslational
- Retzlaff, M., Hagn, F., Mitschke, L., Hessling, M., Gugel, F., Kessler, H., Richter, K., & Buchner, J. (2010). Asymmetric Activation of the Hsp90 Dimer by Its Cochaperone Aha1. *Molecular Cell*, 37(3), 344–354. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2010.01.006
- Roe, S. M., Ali, M. M. U., Meyer, P., Vaughan, C. K., Panaretou, B., Piper, P. W., Prodromou, C., & Pearl, L. H. (2004). The Mechanism of Hsp90 Regulation by the Protein Kinase-Specific Cochaperone p50cdc37. *Cell*, 116(1), 87–98. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0092-8674(03)01027-4
- Römisch, K. (2017). A Case for Sec61 Channel Involvement in ERAD. *Trends in Biochemical Sciences*, 42(3), 171–179. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tibs.2016.10.005
- Rosenzweig, R., Nillegoda, N. B., Mayer, M. P., & Bukau, B. (2019). The Hsp70 chaperone network. *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology*, 20(11), 665–680. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41580-019-0133-3
- Royer-Bertrand, B., Castillo-Taucher, S., Moreno-Salinas, R., Cho, T. J., Chae, J. H., Choi, M., Kim, O. H., Dikoglu, E., Campos-Xavier, B., Girardi, E., Superti-Furga, G., Bonafe, L., Rivolta, C., Unger, S., & Superti-Furga, A. (2015). Mutations in the heat-shock protein A9

(HSPA9) gene cause the EVEN-PLUS syndrome of congenital malformations and skeletal dysplasia. *Scientific Reports*, 5(September), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep17154

- Ruetenik, A. L., Ocampo, A., Ruan, K., Zhu, Y., Li, C., Grace Zhai, R., & Barrientos, A. (2016). Attenuation of polyglutamine-induced toxicity by enhancement of mitochondrial OXPHOS in yeast and fly models of aging. *Microbial Cell*, 3(8), 338–351. https://doi.org/10.15698/mic2016.08.518
- Ruetenik, A., & Barrientos, A. (2018). Exploiting post-mitotic yeast cultures to model neurodegeneration. *Frontiers in Molecular Neuroscience*, 11(November). https://doi.org/10.3389/fnmol.2018.00400
- Ruggieri, A., Brancati, F., Zanotti, S., Maggi, L., Pasanisi, M. B., Saredi, S., Terracciano, C., Antozzi, C., D Apice, M. R., Sangiuolo, F., Novelli, G., Marshall, C. R., Scherer, S. W., Morandi, L., Federici, L., Massa, R., Mora, M., & Minassian, B. A. (2015). Complete loss of the DNAJB6 G/F domain and novel missense mutations cause distal-onset DNAJB6 myopathy. *Acta Neuropathologica Communications*, *3*, 44. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40478-015-0224-0
- Ruggieri, A., Saredi, S., Zanotti, S., Pasanisi, M. B., Maggi, L., & Mora, M. (2016). DNAJB6 myopathies: Focused review on an emerging and expanding group of myopathies. *Frontiers in Molecular Biosciences*, 3(SEP). https://doi.org/10.3389/fmolb.2016.00063
- Sanchez-Campillo, M., Bini, L., Comanducci, M., Raggiaschi, R., Marzocchi, B., Pallini, V., & Ratti, G. (1999). Identification of immunoreactive proteins of Chlamydia trachomatis by Western blot analysis of a two-dimensional electrophoresis map with patient sera. *Electrophoresis*, 20(11), 2269–2279. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1522-2683(19990801)20:11<2269::AID-ELPS2269>3.0.CO;2-D
- Sandell, S., Huovinen, S., Palmio, J., Raheem, O., Lindfors, M., Zhao, F., Haapasalo, H., & Udd, B. (2016). Diagnostically important muscle pathology in DNAJB6 mutated LGMD1D. Acta Neuropathologica Communications, 4, 9. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40478-016-0276-9
- Saraogi, I., & Shan, S. ou. (2011). Molecular Mechanism of Co-translational Protein Targeting by the Signal Recognition Particle. *Traffic*, *12*(5), 535–542. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0854.2011.01171.x.Molecular
- Sarnataro, D., Pepe, A., & Zurzolo, C. (2017). Cell Biology of Prion Protein. In Progress in Molecular Biology and Translational Science (1st ed., Vol. 150). Elsevier Inc. https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.pmbts.2017.06.018
- Sarparanta, J., Jonson, P. H., Golzio, C., Sandell, S., Raheem, O., Penttilä, S., Lehtinen, S., & Huovinen, S. (2012). Mutations affecting the cytoplasmic functions of the co- chaperone DNAJB6 cause limb-girdle muscular dystrophy. *Nature Genetics*, 44(4), 1–19. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng.1103.Mutations
- Sarparanta, J., Jonson, P. H., Kawan, S., & Udd, B. (2020). Neuromuscular diseases due to chaperone mutations: A review and some new results. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 21(4). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms21041409
- Sato, T., Hayashi, Y. K., Oya, Y., Kondo, T., Sugie, K., Kaneda, D., Houzen, H., Yabe, I., Sasaki, H., Noguchi, S., Nonaka, I., Osawa, M., & Nishino, I. (2013). DNAJB6 myopathy in an Asian cohort and cytoplasmic/nuclear inclusions. *Neuromuscular Disorders*, 23(3), 269–276. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nmd.2012.12.010
- Saupe, S. J., Jarosz, D. F., & True, H. L. (2017). Amyloid prions in fungi. *The Fungal Kingdom*, 673–685. https://doi.org/10.1128/9781555819583.ch32

- Scherl, A., Coute, Y., De, C., Calle, A., Sanchez, J., Greco, A., Hochstrasser, D., Diaz, J., & Laennec, R. T. H. (2002). Functional Proteomic Analysis of Human Nucleolus □. *Molecular Biology of the Cell*, 13(November), 4100–4109. https://doi.org/10.1091/mbc.E02
- Schirmer, E. C., Glover, J. R., Singer, M. A., & Lindquist, S. (1996). HSP100/Clp proteins: A common mechanism explains diverse functions. *Trends in Biochemical Sciences*, 21(8), 289–296. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0968-0004(96)10038-4
- Schmitt, E., Maingret, L., Puig, P. E., Rerole, A. L., Ghiringhelli, F., Hammann, A., Solary, E., Kroemer, G., & Garrido, C. (2006). Heat shock protein 70 neutralization exerts potent antitumor effects in animal models of colon cancer and melanoma. *Cancer Research*, 66(8), 4191–4197. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-05-3778
- Schneider, K. L., Nyström, T., & Widlund, P. O. (2018). Studying Spatial Protein Quality Control, Proteopathies, and Aging Using Different Model Misfolding Proteins in S. Cerevisiae. *Frontiers in Molecular Neuroscience*, 11(July), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnmol.2018.00249
- Schopf, F. H., Biebl, M. M., & Buchner, J. (2017). The HSP90 chaperone machinery. *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology*, *18*(6), 345–360. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm.2017.20
- Serpionov, G. V., Alexandrov, A. I., & Ter-Avanesyan, M. D. (2017). Distinct mechanisms of mutant huntingtin toxicity in different yeast strains. *FEMS Yeast Research*, 17(1), 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1093/femsyr/fow102
- Seynnaeve, D., Del Vecchio, M., Fruhmann, G., Verelst, J., Cools, M., Beckers, J., Mulvihill, D. P., Winderickx, J., & Franssens, V. (2018). Recent insights on Alzheimer's disease originating from yeast models. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 19(7). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms19071947
- Sha, B., Lee, S., & Cyr, D. M. (2000). The crystal structure of the peptide-binding fragment from the yeast Hsp40 protein Sis1. *Structure*, 8(8), 799–807. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0969-2126(00)00170-2
- Sharma, J., & Liebman, S. W. (2013). Exploring the basis of [PIN+] variant differences in [PSI+] induction. *Journal of Molecular Biology*, 425(17), 3046–3059. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmb.2013.06.006.Exploring
- Shen, K., Gamerdinger, M., Chan, R., Gense, K., Martin, E. M., Sachs, N., Knight, P. D., Schlömer, R., Calabrese, A. N., Stewart, K. L., Leiendecker, L., Baghel, A., Radford, S. E., Frydman, J., & Deuerling, E. (2019). Dual Role of Ribosome-Binding Domain of NAC as a Potent Suppressor of Protein Aggregation and Aging-Related Proteinopathies. *Molecular Cell*, 74(4), 729-741.e7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2019.03.012
- Shi, X., Parthun, M. R., & Jaehning, J. A. (1995). The yeast EGD2 gene encodes a homologue of the αNAC subunit of the human nascent-polypeptide-associated complex. *Gene*, 165(2), 199–202. https://doi.org/10.1016/0378-1119(95)00577-S
- Shiber, A., Döring, K., Friedrich, U., Klann, K., Merker, D., Zedan, M., Tippmann, F., Kramer, G., & Bukau, B. (2018). Cotranslational assembly of protein complexes in eukaryotes revealed by ribosome profiling performed the experiments Europe PMC Funders Group. *Nature*, 561(7722), 268–272. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-018-0462-y.Cotranslational
- Shieh, S. Y., & Bonini, N. M. (2011). Genes and pathways affected by CAG-repeat RNA-based toxicity in Drosophila. *Human Molecular Genetics*, 20(24), 4810–4821. https://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/ddr420

- Shorter, J., & Houry, W. A. (2018). Editorial: The role of AAA+ proteins in protein repair and degradation. *Frontiers in Molecular Biosciences*, 5(NOV), 1–5. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmolb.2018.00085
- Shorter, J., & Lindquist, S. (2006). Destruction or potentiation of different prions catalyzed by similar Hsp104 remodeling activities. *Molecular Cell*, 23(3), 425–438. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3624763/pdf/nihms412728.pdf
- Shorter, J., & Lindquist, S. (2005). Prions as adaptive conduits of memory and inheritance. *Nature Reviews Genetics*, 6(6), 435–450. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrg1616
- Shorter, J., & Lindquist, S. (2004). Hsp104 Catalyzes Formation and Elimination of Self-Replicating Sup35 Prion Conformers Author (s): James Shorter and Susan Lindquist Published by : American Association for the Advancement of Science Stable URL : http://www.jstor.org/stable/3837255. Science, 304(5678), 1793–1797.
- Shorter, J., & Southworth, D. R. (2019). Spiraling in control: Structures and mechanisms of the Hsp104 disaggregase. *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology*, 11(8), 1–18. https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a034033
- Siligardi, G., Panaretou, B., Meyerc, P., Singh, S., Woolfson, D. N., Piper, P. W., Pearl, L. H., & Prodromou, C. (2002). Regulation of Hsp90 ATPase activity by the Co-chaperone Cdc37p/p50 cdc37. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 277(23), 20151–20159. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M201287200
- Slaninová, I., Šesták, S., Svoboda, A., & Farkaš, V. (2000). Cell wall and cytoskeleton reorganization as the response to hyperosmotic shock in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. *Archives of Microbiology*, 173(4), 245–252. https://doi.org/10.1007/s002030000136
- Söderberg, C. A. G., Månsson, C., Bernfur, K., Rutsdottir, G., Härmark, J., Rajan, S., Al-Karadaghi, S., Rasmussen, M., Höjrup, P., Hebert, H., & Emanuelsson, C. (2018). Structural modelling of the DNAJB6 oligomeric chaperone shows a peptide-binding cleft lined with conserved S/T-residues at the dimer interface. *Scientific Reports*, 8(1), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-23035-9
- Sokolov, S., Pozniakovsky, A., Bocharova, N., Knorre, D., & Severin, F. (2006). Expression of an expanded polyglutamine domain in yeast causes death with apoptotic markers. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta - Bioenergetics*, 1757(5–6), 660–666. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbabio.2006.05.004
- Solans, A., Zambrano, A., Rodríguez, M., & Barrientos, A. (2006). Cytotoxicity of a mutant huntingtin fragment in yeast involves early alterations in mitochondrial OXPHOS complexes II and III. *Human Molecular Genetics*, 15(20), 3063–3081. https://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/ddl248
- Sondheimer, N., Lopez, N., Craig, E. A., & Lindquist, S. (2001). The role of Sis1 in the maintenance of the [RNQ+] prion. *EMBO Journal*, 20(10), 2435–2442. https://doi.org/10.1093/emboj/20.10.2435
- Sporn, Z. A., & Hines, J. K. (2015). Hsp40 function in yeast prion propagation: Amyloid diversity necessitates chaperone functional complexity. *Prion*, 9(2), 80–89. https://doi.org/10.1080/19336896.2015.1020268
- Stein, K. C., Bengoechea, R., Harms, M. B., Weihl, C. C., & True, H. L. (2014). Myopathycausing mutations in an HSP40 chaperone disrupt processing of specific client conformers. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 289(30), 21120–21130. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M114.572461

- Stein, K. C., & True, H. L. (2014). Extensive Diversity of Prion Strains Is Defined by Differential Chaperone Interactions and Distinct Amyloidogenic Regions. *PLoS Genetics*, 10(5). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgen.1004337
- Stein, K. C., & True, H. L. (2011). The [RNQ+] prion: A model of both functional and pathological amyloid. *Prion*, 5(4), 291–298. https://doi.org/10.4161/pri.5.4.18213
- Straub, V., Murphy, A., & Udd, B. (2018). 229th ENMC international workshop: Limb girdle muscular dystrophies – Nomenclature and reformed classification Naarden, the Netherlands, 17–19 March 2017. *Neuromuscular Disorders*, 28(8), 702–710. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nmd.2018.05.007
- Suarez-Cedeno, G., Winder, T., & Milone, M. (2014). DNAJB6 myopathy: A vacuolar myopathy with childhood onset. *Muscle and Nerve*, 49(4), 607–610. https://doi.org/10.1002/mus.24106
- Summers, D. W., Douglas, P. M., & Cyr, D. M. (2009). Prion propagation by Hsp40 molecular chaperones. *Prion*, *3*(2), 59–64. https://doi.org/10.4161/pri.3.2.9062
- Sweeny, E. A., & Shorter, J. (2016). Mechanistic and Structural Insights into the Prion-Disaggregase Activity of Hsp104. *Journal of Molecular Biology*, 428(9), 1870–1885. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmb.2015.11.016
- Takahashi, T., Hirose, K. I., Mizutani, E., & Naganuma, A. (2009). Dysfunctional nascent polypeptide-associated complex (NAC) activity in ribosomes enhances adriamycin toxicity in budding yeast. *Journal of Toxicological Sciences*, 34(6), 703–708. https://doi.org/10.2131/jts.34.703
- Tam, S., Geller, R., Spiess, C., & Frydman, J. (2006). The chaperonin TRiC controls polyglutamine aggregation and toxicity through subunit-specific interactions. *Nature Cell Biology*, 8(10), 1155–1162. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb1477
- Tam, S., Spiess, C., Auyeung, W., Joachimiak, L., Chen, B., Poirier, M. A., & Frydman, J. (2009). The chaperonin TRiC blocks a huntingtin sequence element that promotes the conformational switch to aggregation. *Nature Structural and Molecular Biology*, 16(12), 1279–1285. https://doi.org/10.1038/nsmb.1700
- Tanaka, H., Murata, K., Hashimoto, W., & Kawai, S. (2020). Hsp104-dependent ability to assimilate mannitol and sorbitol conferred by a truncated Cyc8 with a C-terminal polyglutamine in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. *PLoS ONE*, 15(11 November). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0242054
- Tarutani, A., & Hasegawa, M. (2019). Prion-like propagation of α-synuclein in neurodegenerative diseases. In *Progress in Molecular Biology and Translational Science* (1st ed., Vol. 168). Elsevier Inc. https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.pmbts.2019.07.005
- Tenreiro, S., & Outeiro, T. F. (2010). Simple is good: Yeast models of neurodegeneration. *FEMS Yeast Research*, *10*(8), 970–979. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1567-1364.2010.00649.x
- Thomas, M., Yu, Z., Dadgar, N., Varambally, S., Yu, J., Chinnaiyan, A. M., & Lieberman, A. P. (2005). The unfolded protein response modulates toxicity of the expanded glutamine androgen receptor. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 280(22), 21264–21271. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M500144200
- Tilly, K., Murialdo, H., & Georgopoulos, C. (1981). Identification of a second Escherichia coli groE gene whose product is necessary for bacteriophage morphogenesis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 78(3 I), 1629–1633. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.78.3.1629

- Tipton, K. A., Verges, K. J., & Weissman, J. S. (2008). In vivo monitoring of the prion replication cycle reveals a critical role for Sis1 in delivering substrates to Hsp104. *Molecular Cell*, 32(4), 584–591. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2008.11.003.In
- Tittelmeier, J., Nachman, E., & Nussbaum-Krammer, C. (2020). Molecular Chaperones: A Double-Edged Sword in Neurodegenerative Diseases. *Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience*, 12(October), 1–21. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnagi.2020.581374
- True, H. L., Bedin, I., & Lindquist, S. L. (2004). Epigenetic regulation of translation reveals hidden genetic variation to produce complex traits. *Nature*, 431(7005), 184–187. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature02885
- Tsai, J., & Douglas, M. G. (1996). A conserved HPD sequence of the J-domain is necessary for YDJ1 stimulation of Hsp70 ATPase activity at a site distinct from substrate binding. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 271(16), 9347–9354. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.271.16.9347
- Tuite, M. F. (2019). Yeast models of neurodegenerative diseases. In *Progress in Molecular Biology and Translational Science* (1st ed., Vol. 168). Elsevier Inc. https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.pmbts.2019.07.001
- Tyedmers, J., Madariaga, M. L., & Lindquist, S. (2008). Prion switching in response to environmental stress. *PLoS Biology*, 6(11), 2605–2613. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.0060294
- Uptain, S. M., Sawicki, G. J., Caughey, B., & Lindquist, S. (2001). Strains of [PSI+] are distinguished by their efficiencies of prion-mediated conformational conversion. *EMBO Journal*, 20(22), 6236–6245. https://doi.org/10.1093/emboj/20.22.6236
- Uryu, K., Richter-Landsberg, C., Welch, W., Sun, E., Goldbaum, O., Norris, E. H., Pham, C. T., Yazawa, I., Hilburger, K., Micsenyi, M., Giasson, B. I., Bonini, N. M., Lee, V. M. Y., & Trojanowski, J. Q. (2006). Convergence of heat shock protein 90 with ubiquitin in filamentous α-synuclein inclusions of α-synucleinopathies. *American Journal of Pathology*, *168*(3), 947–961. https://doi.org/10.2353/ajpath.2006.050770
- van Zeebroeck, G., Kimpe, M., Vandormael, P., & Thevelein, J. M. (2011). A split-ubiquitin two-hybrid screen for proteins physically interacting with the yeast amino acid transceptor Gap1 and ammonium transceptor Mep2. *PLoS ONE*, *6*(9). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0024275
- Vargas-Roig, L. M., Gago, F. E., Tello, O., Aznar, J. C., & Ciocca, D. R. (1998). Heat shock protein expression and drug resistance in breast cancer patients treated with induction chemotherapy. *International Journal of Cancer*, 79(5), 468–475. https://doi.org/10.1002/(sici)1097-0215(19981023)79:5<468::aid-ijc4>3.3.co;2-4
- Venneti, S. (2010). Prion diseases. *Clinics in Laboratory Medicine*, 30(1), 293–309. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cll.2009.11.002
- Walker, J. M. (2009). p53 protocols IN M OLECULAR B IOLOGY TM Series Editor. In *Life Sciences* (Vol. 531, Issue 1). http://books.google.com/books?id=Ku2wPAAACAAJ
- Walsh, P., Bursać, D., Law, Y. C., Cyr, D., & Lithgow, T. (2004). The J-protein family: Modulating protein assembly, disassembly and translocation. *EMBO Reports*, 5(6), 567– 571. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.embor.7400172
- Walter, G. M., Raveh, A., Mok, S., Mcquade, T. J., Carl, J., Schultz, P. J., Smith, M. C., Asare, S., Patricia, G., Wisen, S., Matainaho, T., Sherman, D. H., & Jason, E. (2014). High-Throughput Screen of Natural Product Extracts in A Yeast Model of Polyglutamine

Proteotoxicity. *Chem Biol Drug Des*, 83(4), 440–449. https://doi.org/10.1111/cbdd.12259.High-Throughput

- Wang, L., Zhang, W., Wang, L., Zhang, X. C., Li, X., & Rao, Z. (2010). Crystal structures of NAC domains of human nascent polypeptide-associated complex (NAC) and its αNAC subunit. *Protein and Cell*, 1(4), 406–416. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13238-010-0049-3
- Wang, P.-H., Wu, P.-C., Huang, R., & Chung, K.-R. (2020). The Role of a Nascent Polypeptide-Associated Complex Subunit Alpha in Siderophore Biosynthesis, Oxidative Stress Response, and Virulence in Alternaria alternata . *Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions*®, 33(4), 668–679. https://doi.org/10.1094/mpmi-11-19-0315-r
- Warrick, J. M., Chan, H. Y. E., Gray-Board, G. L., Chai, Y., Paulson, H. L., & Bonini, N. M. (1999). Suppression of polyglutamine-mediated neurodegeneration in Drosophila by the molecular chaperone HSP70. *Nature Genetics*, 23(4), 425–428. https://doi.org/10.1038/70532
- Wegrzyn, R. D., Bapat, K., Newnam, G. P., Zink, A. D., & Chernoff, Y. O. (2001). Mechanism of Prion Loss after Hsp104 Inactivation in Yeast. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 21(14), 4656–4669. https://doi.org/10.1128/mcb.21.14.4656-4669.2001
- Westergard, L., & True, H. L. (2014). Extracellular environment modulates the formation and propagation of particular amyloid structures. *Molecular Microbiology*, 92(4), 698–715. https://doi.org/10.1111/mmi.12579
- Wick, G., Jakic, B., Buszko, M., Wick, M. C., & Grundtman, C. (2014). The role of heat shock proteins in atherosclerosis. *Nature Reviews Cardiology*, 11(9), 516–529. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrcardio.2014.91
- Wickner, R. B. (2016). Yeast and fungal prions. *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology*, 8(9), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a023531
- Wickner, R. B., Edskes, H. K., Son, M., Wu, S., & Niznikiewicz, M. (2020). How do yeast cells contend with prions? *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 21(13), 1–17. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms21134742
- Wiedmann, B., & Prehn, S. (1999). The nascent polypeptide-associated complex (NAC) of yeast functions in the targeting process of ribosomes to the ER membrane. *FEBS Letters*, 458(1), 51–54. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0014-5793(99)01118-7
- Willmund, F., del Alamo, M., Pechmann, S., Chen, T., Albanese, V., Dammer, E., Peng, J., & Frydman, J. (2013). The cotranslational function of ribosome-associated Hsp70 in eukaryotic protein homeostasis. *Cell*, 152(1–2), 196–209. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2012.12.001.The
- Winderickx, J., Delay, C., De Vos, A., Klinger, H., Pellens, K., Vanhelmont, T., Van Leuven, F., & Zabrocki, P. (2008). Protein folding diseases and neurodegeneration: Lessons learned from yeast. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta - Molecular Cell Research*, 1783(7), 1381–1395. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbamcr.2008.01.020
- Woolhead, C. A., McCormick, P. J., & Johnson, A. E. (2004). Nascent membrane and secretory proteins differ in FRET-detected folding far inside the ribosome and in their exposure to ribosomal proteins. *Cell*, 116(5), 725–736. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0092-8674(04)00169-2
- Wruck, F., Tian, P., Kudva, R., Best, R. B., von Heijne, G., Tans, S. J., & Katranidis, A. (2021). The ribosome modulates folding inside the ribosomal exit tunnel. *Communications Biology*, 4(1), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1038/s42003-021-02055-8

- Xi, W., Wang, X., Laue, T. M., & Denis, C. L. (2016). Multiple discrete soluble aggregates influence polyglutamine toxicity in a Huntington's disease model system. *Scientific Reports*, 6(May), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep34916
- Yabe, I., Tanino, M., Yaguchi, H., Takiyama, A., Cai, H., Kanno, H., Takahashi, I., Hayashi, Y. K., Watanabe, M., Takahashi, H., Hatakeyama, S., Tanaka, S., & Sasaki, H. (2014).
 Pathology of frontotemporal dementia with limb girdle muscular dystrophy caused by a DNAJB6 mutation. *Clinical Neurology and Neurosurgery*, *127*, 10–12. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clineuro.2014.09.013
- Yamamoto, A., Lucas, J. J., & Hen, R. (2000). Reversal of Neuropathology and Motor Dysfunction in a Conditional Model of Huntington's Disease. *Cell*, 101, 57–66.
- Yang, J., Hao, X., Cao, X., Liu, B., & Nyström, T. (2016). Spatial sequestration and detoxification of huntingtin by the ribosome quality control complex. *ELife*, 5(APRIL2016), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.11792
- Yotov, W. V., & St-Arnaud, R. (1996). Differential splicing-in of a proline-rich exon converts αNAC into a muscle-specific transcription factor. *Genes and Development*, *10*(14), 1763–1772. https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.10.14.1763
- Young, J. C. (2010). Mechanisms of the Hsp70 chaperone system. *Biochemistry and Cell Biology*, 88(2), 291–300. https://doi.org/10.1139/O09-175
- Younger, G., Vetrini, F., Weaver, D. D., Lynnes, T. C., Treat, K., Pratt, V. M., & Torres-Martinez, W. (2020). EVEN-PLUS syndrome: A case report with novel variants in HSPA9 and evidence of HSPA9 gene dysfunction. *American Journal of Medical Genetics, Part A*, 182(11), 2501–2507. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajmg.a.61808
- Yu, H. Y., Ziegelhoffer, T., Osipiuk, J., Ciesielski, S. J., Baranowski, M., Zhou, M., Joachimiak, A., & Craig, E. A. (2015). Roles of Intramolecular and Intermolecular Interactions in Functional Regulation of the Hsp70 J-protein Co-chaperone Sis1. *Journal of Experimental* and Clinical Cancer Research, 427(7), 1632–1643. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmb.2015.02.007.Roles
- Zhang, Y., Berndt, U., Gölz, H., Tais, A., Oellerer, S., Wölfle, T., Fitzke, E., & Rospert, S. (2012). NAC functions as a modulator of SRP during the early steps of protein targeting to the endoplasmic reticulum. *Molecular Biology of the Cell*, 23(16), 3027–3040. https://doi.org/10.1091/mbc.E12-02-0112
- Zhou, P., Derkatch, I. L., & Liebman, S. W. (2001). The relationship between visible intracellular aggregates that appear after overexpression of Sup35 and the yeast prion-like elements [PSI+] and [PIN+]. *Molecular Microbiology*, 39(1), 37–46. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2958.2001.02224.x
- Zhou, P., Derkatch, I. L., Uptain, S. M., Patino, M. M., Lindquist, S., & Liebman, S. W. (1999). The yeast non-Mendelian factor [ETA+] is a variant of [PSI+], a prion-like form of release factor eRF3. *EMBO Journal*, *18*(5), 1182–1191. https://doi.org/10.1093/emboj/18.5.1182
- Zima, J., Eaton, A., Pál, E., Till, Á., Ito, Y. A., Warman-Chardon, J., Hartley, T., Cagnone, G., Melegh, B. I., Boycott, K. M., Melegh, B., & Hadzsiev, K. (2020). Intrafamilial variability of limb-girdle muscular dystrophy, LGMD1D type. *European Journal of Medical Genetics*, 63(2), 103655. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejmg.2019.04.012